Estimation of climate change impacts on hydrology and floods in Finland

Noora Veijalainen





DOCTORAL DISSERTATIONS

Estimation of climate change impacts on hydrology and floods in Finland

Noora Veijalainen

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Science in Technology to be presented with due permission of the School of Engineering for public examination and debate in Auditorium R1 at the Aalto University School of Engineering (Espoo, Finland) on the 1st of June 2012 at noon (at 12 o'clock).

Aalto University School of Engineering Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering Supervisor Prof. Harri Koivusalo

Instructors Dr. Docent Bertel Vehviläinen Dr. Tuomo Karvonen

Preliminary examiners

Dr. Hege Hisdal, Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate, Norway Dr. Christel Prudhomme, Centre for Ecology and Hydrology, UK

Opponent

Dr. Reader Jonas Olsson, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Sweden

Aalto University publication series **DOCTORAL DISSERTATIONS** 55/2012

© Noora Veijalainen

ISBN 978-952-60-4613-6 (printed) ISBN 978-952-60-4614-3 (pdf) ISSN-L 1799-4934 ISSN 1799-4934 (printed) ISSN 1799-4942 (pdf)

Unigrafia Oy Helsinki 2012

Finland





441 697 Printed matter



Author			
Noora Veijalainen			
Name of the doctoral dissertation			
stimation of climate change impacts on hydrology and floods in Finland			
Publisher School of Engineering			
Unit Department of Civil and Environmental E	ngineering		
Series Aalto University publication series DOCTORAL DISSERTATIONS 55/2012			
Field of research Water Resources Engineeri	ng		
Manuscript submitted 14 October 2011	Manuscript revised 23 January 2012		
Date of the defence 1 June 2012	Language English		
☐ Monograph	ation (summary + original articles)		

Abstract

Climate scenarios project increases in air temperature and precipitation in Finland during the 21st century and these will results in changes in hydrology. In this thesis climate change impacts on hydrology and floods in Finland were estimated with hydrological modelling and several climate scenarios. One of the goals was to understand the influence of different processes and catchment characteristics on the hydrological response to climate change in boreal conditions.

The tool of the climate change impact assessment was the conceptual hydrological model WSFS (Watershed Simulation and Forecasting System). The studies employed and compared two methods of transferring the climate change signal from climate models to the WSFS hydrological model (delta change approach and direct bias corrected Regional Climate Model (RCM) data). Direct RCM data was used to simulate transient hydrological scenarios for 1951-2100 and the simulation results were analysed to detect changes in water balance components and trends in discharge series.

The results revealed that seasonal changes in discharges in Finland were the clearest impacts of climate change. Air temperature increase will affect snow accumulation and melt, increase winter discharge and decrease spring snowmelt discharge. The impacts of climate change on floods in Finland by 2070-2099 varied considerably depending on the location, catchment characteristics, timing of the floods and climate scenario. Floods caused by spring snowmelt decreased or remained unchanged, whereas autumn and winter floods caused by precipitation increased especially in large lakes and their outflow rivers. Since estimation of climate change impacts includes uncertainties in every step of the long modelling process, the accumulated uncertainties by the end of the process become large. The large differences between results from different climate scenarios highlight the need to use several climate scenarios in climate change impact studies.

Possibilities to adapt to climate change impacts through changes in lake regulation were also estimated. Changing the management and permits of many of the regulated lakes in Finland will become necessary during the 21st century in response to climate change induced shifts in hydrological regime.

Keywords Hydrological modelling, climate change, water resources, floods, impact assessment, climate scenarios, adaptation

ISBN (printed) 978-952-60	-4613-6 ISBN (pdf)	978-952-60-4614-3
ISSN-L 1799-4934	ISSN (printed) 1799-4934	ISSN (pdf) 1799-4942
Location of publisher Espe	DO Location of printing	ng Helsinki Year 2012
Pages 211	The dissertation can I	be read at http://lib.tkk.fi/Diss/



Tekijä

Noora Veijalainen

Väitöskirjan nimi

Ilmastonmuutoksen vaikutukset hydrologiaan ja tulviin Suomessa

Julkaisija Insinööritieteiden korkeakoulu

Yksikkö Yhdyskunta- ja ympäristötekniikan laitos

Sarja Aalto University publication series DOCTORAL DISSERTATIONS 55/2012

Tutkimusala Tekninen vesitalous

Käsikirjoituksen pvm 14.	D.2011Korjatun käsikirjoituksen pvm23.01.2012
Väitöspäivä 01.06.2012	Kieli Englanti
Monografia	🛛 Yhdistelmäväitöskirja (yhteenveto-osa + erillisartikkelit)

Tiivistelmä

Ilmastonmuutoksen myötä ilman lämpötilan ja sadannan ennakoidaan kasvavan Suomessa 2000-luvulla, millä tulee olemaan selviä vaikutuksia hydrologiaan. Tässä väitöskirjassa arvioidaan ilmastonmuutoksen vaikutuksia hydrologiaan ja tulviin Suomessa käyttäen hydrologista mallintamista ja useita ilmastoskenaarioita. Yhtenä tavoitteena on ymmärtää miten eri prosessit ja valuma-alueiden ominaisuudet vaikuttavat ilmastonmuutoksen aiheuttamiin hydrologisiin muutoksiin boreaalisissa olosuhteissa.

Ilmastonmuutoksen vaikutusten arviointiin käytettiin Vesistömallijärjestelmän (WSFS) konseptuaalista hydrologista mallia. Arviointia varten ilmastonmuutossignaali siirrettiin ilmastomallista hydrologiseen malliin käyttäen kahta menetelmää (delta change-menetelmä ja suorat korjatut alueellisen ilmastomallin tulokset) ja menetelmien tuloksia vertailtiin keskenään. Suoria alueellisten ilmastomallien tuloksia käytettiin simuloitaessa jatkuvia hydrologisia skenaarioita jaksolle 1951–2100 ja skenaarioista analysoitiin vesitaseen osatekijöiden muuttumista ja virtaama-aikasarjojen trendejä.

Tutkimusten tulokset osoittavat, että ilmastonmuutoksen selvimmät vaikutukset ovat muutokset eri vuodenaikojen virtaamissa. Ilmastonmuutoksen aiheuttama ilman lämpötilan nousu vaikuttaa lumen kertymiseen ja sulamiseen, mikä kasvattaa talviajan virtaamia sekä pienentää lumen kevätsulannan aiheuttamia virtaamia. Muutokset kerran 100 vuodessa toistuvissa tulvissa jaksolla 2070–2099 vaihtelivat huomattavasti riippuen valuma-alueen sijainnista ja ominaisuuksista sekä tulvien ajoituksesta ja käytetystä ilmastoskenaariosta. Kevään lumen sulamistulvat pienenivät tai pysyivät nykyisen suuruisina, kun taas syksyn ja talven vesisateesta aiheutuvat tulvat kasvoivat etenkin suurissa järvissä ja niiden laskujoissa. Pitkän mallinnusketjun jokaiseen vaiheeseen liittyy epävarmuuksia, joten mallinnusprosessin aikana kertyvät epävarmuudet kasvavat suuriksi. Suuret erot eri ilmastoskenaarioiden tulosten välillä korostavat tarvetta käyttää useita ilmastoskenaarioita arvioitaessa ilmastonmuutoksen vaikutuksia.

Tutkimuksessa arvioitiin myös mahdollisuuksia sopeutua ilmastonmuutoksen vaikutuksiin muuttamalla järvien säännöstelyä. Säännöstelyn uudelleenarviointi tulee tarpeelliseksi 2000luvun aikana useilla Suomen säännöstelyillä järvillä, kun ilmastonmuutos aiheuttaa muutoksia järvien tulovirtaamissa.

Avainsanat Hydrologinen mallintaminen, ilmastonmuutos, Suomen vesivarat, tulvat, vaikutusten arviointi, ilmastoskenaariot, sopeutuminen

ISBN (painettu) 978-952-	60-4613-6	ISBN (pdf) 978-9	952-60-4614-3
ISSN-L 1799-4934	ISSN (pain	ettu) 1799-4934	ISSN (pdf) 1799-4942
Julkaisupaikka Espoo	F	Painopaikka Helsinki	Vuosi 2012
Sivumäärä 211	Luetta	vissa verkossa osoitte	essa http://lib.tkk.fi/Diss/

LIST OF APPENDED PAPERS

This dissertation is based on the following papers:

- I. Veijalainen, N., Vehviläinen, B. 2008. The effect of climate change on design floods of high hazard dams in Finland, Hydrology Research 39(5–6), 465–477.
- II. Lotsari, E., Veijalainen, N., Alho, P., Käyhkö, J. 2010. Impact of climate change on future discharges and flow characteristics of the Tana River, Sub-Arctic northern Fennoscandia. Geografiska Annalier 92A(2), 263–284.
- III. Veijalainen, N., Dubrovin, T., Marttunen, M., Vehviläinen, B. 2010. Climate change impacts on water resources and lake regulation in the Vuoksi watershed in Finland. Water Resources Management 24(13), 3437–3459.
- IV. Veijalainen, N., Lotsari, E., Alho, P., Vehviläinen, B., Käyhkö, J. 2010. National scale assessment of climate change impacts on flooding in Finland. Journal of Hydrology 391, 333–350.
- V. Veijalainen, N., Korhonen, J., Vehviläinen, B., Koivusalo, H. 2012. Modelling and statistical analysis of catchment water balance and discharge in Finland 1951–2099 using transient climate scenarios. Journal of Water and Climate Change 3(1), 55–78.

Papers, I–V, reprinted with permission, are copyright as follows:

Paper I copyright © 2008 IWA Publishing; Paper II copyright © 2010 John Wiley and Sons; Paper III copyright © 2010 Springer; Paper IV copyright © 2010 Elsevier; Paper V copyright © 2012 IWA Publishing.

Contribution of the author to papers I to V:

I: Noora Veijalainen was responsible for the model application and mainly responsible for the interpretation of results and writing of the paper. Dr. Vehviläinen participated in the development of the methodology and interpretation of the results and provided comments during the writing of the paper.

II: Noora Veijalainen was responsible for the hydrological simulations in the paper and partly (30%) responsible for writing the paper. Lotsari was responsible for the hydraulic and sediment model applications and for the majority of the writing of the paper. Dr. Alho and Prof. Käyhkö participated in the writing of the paper.

III: Noora Veijalainen was responsible for the hydrological simulations in the paper. The impact assessment was performed by Dubrovin, Dr. Marttunen and Veijalainen. Veijalainen wrote the paper and Dubrovin, Dr. Vehviläinen and Dr. Marttunen provided comments on the manuscript.

IV: Noora Veijalainen was responsible for the hydrological modelling and frequency analysis of the paper and was mainly (60%) responsibly for writing the paper. Lotsari was responsible for the hydraulic modelling performed in four study catchments and wrote parts of the paper. Dr. Alho, Prof. Käyhkö and Dr. Vehviläinen provided comments during the writing of the paper.

V: Noora Veijalainen was responsible for the hydrological modelling in the paper and had the main responsibility for writing the paper. Korhonen performed the statistical analysis and participated in the writing of the portions related to the statistical analysis. Prof. Koivusalo and Dr. Vehviläinen provided comments during the analysis of the results and writing of the paper.

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis was completed while working at the Finnish Environment Institute (SYKE) and I am grateful for the possibility to carry out these studies. I thank my instructor Dr. Docent Bertel Vehviläinen for the opportunity to familiarize myself with this interesting topic and all his help and advice over the years. I also thank my former and current superiors Markku Puupponen and Timo Huttula for encouragement and comments.

The supervisors of this thesis at the Aalto University (previously Helsinki University of Technology) were Professors Harri Koivusalo and Tuomo Karvonen and I am thankful for their guidance and comments, which improved the content of this thesis considerably.

The studies were carried out as part of several projects in SYKE. These projects include "Future of Floods in Finland (TULeVAT)" financed by the Academy of Finland, "Finland's water resources and climate change- Effects and adaptation (WaterAdapt)" and "Dam Safety and climate change" both financed by the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry and "Climate and Energy (CE)" and "Climate and Energy Systems (CES)" financed by Nordic Energy Research. The finalizing of the thesis and writing and printing of this overview was made possible by the support of Maa- ja vesitekniikan tuki ry and Sven Hallinin tutkimussäätiö.

I would like to thank the following persons for their invaluable comments and cooperation: Professor Jukka Käyhkö, Eliisa Lotsari and Petteri Alho from the University of Turku, Hanne Laine-Kaulio from the Aalto University and Esko Kuusisto, Tanja Dubrovin, Mika Marttunen, Johanna Korhonen and Juho Jakkila from SYKE. I am also grateful to Kalle Sippel for his help with the maps and the Finnish Meteorological Institute and Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute for their cooperation, which enabled the use of the latest climate scenarios in these studies. The ENSEMBLES data used in this work was funded by the EU FP6 Integrated Project ENSEMBLES whose support is gratefully acknowledged. I thank my pre-examiners Dr. Hege Hisdal and Dr. Christel Prudhomme for their kind words and useful comments, which helped to improve this overview and Dr. Docent Jonas Olsson for accepting the invitation to act as my opponent in my doctoral defense. A big thank you goes to all of the current and former members of Vesistömalliryhmä for laughs and coffee room conversations over the years at SYKE.

Finally thank you to my family; my parents and sister and especially to Sammy, who never doubted that I would get this thesis finished.

In Helsinki April 9th, 2012

Noora Veijalainen

Table of contents

List of appended papersv
Aknowledgements
1 Introduction1
1.1 Background and motivation1
1.2 Climate change
1.2.1 Climate models
1.3 Hydrological modelling of climate change impacts
1.3.1 Historical perspective 10
1.3.2 Climate change impacts on hydrology13
1.3.3 Climate change impacts on floods15
1.4 Objectives
2 Materials and study catchments20
2.1 Climate and Hydrology in Finland20
2.2 Observations
2.3 Study catchments
2.3.1 High hazard dams (I)24
2.3.2 Flood study catchments (IV)24
2.3.3 Case study catchments (II, III, V)
2.4 Climate scenarios27
2.5 Design precipitation
2.5.1 Change in design precipitation due to climate change30
3 Methods
3.1 Hydrological model31
3.2 Modelling climate change impacts on hydrology33
3.2.1 Delta change approach34
3.2.2 Direct bias corrected RCM data36
3.3 Modelling extreme floods
3.4 Statistical and frequency analysis

4 Results and Discussion
4.1 Model validation (I–V)41
4.1.1 Comparison of present design floods (I)42
4.1.2 Bias corrected RCM data (V)43
4.2 Hydrology and climate change (III, IV, V)44
4.2.1 Comparison of transfer methods (IV, V)47
4.2.2 Water balance49
4.3 Floods and climate change (I, II, IV)51
4.3.1 Design floods for high hazard dams56
4.3.2 Comparison of flood results58
4.4 Discussion on transfer and bias correction methods (II-V)63
4.5 Lake regulation and climate change adaptation (III)66
4.6 Uncertainties in hydrological modelling of climate change impacts
(I–V)
5 Conclusions76
6 References

1 Introduction

1.1 Background and motivation

Climate change is one of the big challenges of the 21st century. The projected changes in climate will have direct and indirect impacts on natural environment as well as on human societies. Hydrology and water resources will be affected, since they are closely linked to climate. In Finland the current hydrological regime is characterised by temperature-sensitive snow-dominated seasonality. Even relatively modest increases in temperature can result in substantial changes in seasonal runoff patterns in snow-dominated areas (Arnell 1999; Lettenmaier et al. 1999; Payne et al. 2004; Barnett 2005). Therefore climate change may induce major changes in hydrological conditions in Finland. These changes can be studied with the use of climate scenarios and hydrological models.

Research on climate change impacts on nature and society on local and national scale provides the knowledge needed by planners, managers and policy makers to assess adaptation possibilities and to direct adaptation efforts to the most vulnerable geographic regions and societal sectors. Adaptation is important to reduce the negative impacts and to take advantage of possible opportunities of climate change (Marttila et al. 2005). An example of a topical application field for climate change information is the flood directive of the European Union (European commission 2007). It requires that member countries prepare flood risk assessments, and advises that the impacts of climate change on the occurrence of floods should be taken into account when preliminary flood risks are assessed. Lake and reservoir regulation permits and hydraulic structures such as dam spillways are planned to be in use for decades into the future; taking climate change into consideration when new permits or structures are constructed or existing ones are redesigned may save changes and modifications of hydraulic structures and other infrastructure later on.

Global or continental scale studies concerning changes in water resources and floods have been carried out using large scale (global and continental) hydrological models (e.g. Lehner et al. 2006; Nohara et al. 2006; Dankers and Feyen 2008; 2009), but the precision and reliability of these results in catchment-scale (i.e. the scale of most rivers and catchments, usually between 10 and 200 000 km²) have not been demonstrated. The location of Finland in the transitional zone between maritime and continental climate regions, with varying soil types and diverse hydrology characterised in many parts by large numbers of connected natural lakes results in exceptional climatic and hydrological conditions (Vakkilainen and Karvonen 1980). Climate change impacts can vary between catchments even within relatively small areas due to local climate and catchment characteristics (Arnell and Reynard 1996). Thus reliable estimates of climate change impacts on hydrology in Finland are difficult to infer from large scale results or by analogy from nearby locations. Modelling of climate change impacts on hydrology in local and national scale is therefore needed. Studies in local and national scale can make use of data available in national archives (e.g. the database of water level and discharge observations and locations and areas for the thousands of lakes) and knowledge of local conditions (such as knowledge of lake regulation practices).

1.2 Climate change

Anthropogenic climate change (hereafter "climate change") is with high confidence caused by intensification of the greenhouse effect due to increase of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere (IPCC 2007a). Greenhouse gas concentrations have increased since pre-industrial times because of fossil fuel use, land use change and agriculture (IPCC 2007a). Atmospheric concentrations of carbon dioxide (CO_2), which is the most important greenhouse gas, have increased from a pre-industrial value of approximately 280 ppm (parts per million, the ratio of the number of carbon dioxide molecules to the total number of molecules of dry air) in 1870 (Etheridge et al. 1996; IPCC 2007a) to 390 ppm in 2010 (NOAA 2011). Increases in greenhouse gas concentrations alter the energy balance of the climate system and drive warming influences on global climate (IPCC 2007a). The latest climate change research is brought together in the regular Assessment reports by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).

Warming of the climate is becoming evident from observations showing increase in global average temperature, melting of snow and ice and rising global average sea level (Holgate and Woodworth 2004; Brohan et al. 2006; IPCC 2007a). The increase in global average temperature from 1850–1899 to 2001–2005 was on average 0.76°C (IPCC 2007a). Most of the observed increase in global average temperature since the mid 20th century cannot be explained by natural forcing such as changes in solar radiation and volcanic activity, but is very likely due to the observed increase in anthropogenic

greenhouse gas concentrations (Tett et al. 2002; Stott et al. 2006; IPCC 2007a). The global average change in observed precipitation over land areas shows non-linear behaviour (IPCC 2007a). No significant global trends have hitherto been detected in most of the precipitation datasets, partly because changes in different directions in different regions partly cancel each other out (IPCC 2007a; Zhang et al. 2007). Within latitudinal bands anthropogenic forcing has had a detectable effect on the observed changes in average precipitation (Zhang et al. 2007). The spatial patterns of precipitation change are varied, with increasing trends in most parts of high latitudes including northern Europe and the strongest decreasing trends in western Africa and Sahel (IPCC 2007a).

In Finland the average temperature increased approximately 0.7 °C during the 20th century (Jylhä et al. 2004), with the largest increases taking place during the last decades (Fig. 1). The greatest warming occurred in spring months (March–May) (Tuomenvirta 2004). No significant nationwide trends were observed in precipitation in Finland, although notable interdecadal variability was observed during the 20th century (Tuomenvirta 2004).



Figure 1. Observed differences of average annual air temperature in 1847–2010 from the average temperature of 1971–2000 at four temperature observation stations in Finland (Helsinki, Kuopio, Oulu and Kajaani) (Finnish Meteorological Institute 2011a). The red bars show the anomaly above the average temperature and blue bars below it. The black line shows the value of the 10 year moving average.

Observed changes in runoff and flood magnitudes have been analysed in many studies throughout the world (e.g. Hodgkins et al. 2003; Pekárová et al. 2003; McCabe and Clark 2005; Huntington 2006; Hisdal et al. 2007; Wilson et al. 2010). In general, observational evidence indicates intensification of the water cycle, although regional variations and spatial and temporal limitation in data remain large (review by Huntington 2006). No conclusive evidence about the increase in frequency of flood occurrence was found (Kundzewicz and Schellnhuber 2004; Huntington 2006). In large western and central European rivers no significant trends in mean annual runoff were found, but cyclic occurrence of dry and wet periods was observed (Pekárová et al. 2003). Multi-decadal variability was also noted in undisturbed catchments in the UK (Hannaford and Marsh 2008). In North America, observations showed statistically significant increases in discharge of rivers in the Great Lakes Basin (McBean and Motiee 2008) and decreases in the magnitude of snowmelt-induced floods in Canada (Cunderlik and Ouarda 2009). Several studies report earlier occurrence of peak discharge caused by spring snowmelt and increase in winter discharge in North America and northern Eurasia (Hodgkins et al. 2003; McCabe and Clark 2005; Hisdal et al. 2007; Korhonen and Kuusisto 2010; Wilson et al. 2010). In the Nordic countries the majority of the long observation series did not show significant trends in annual discharge, but regionally positive trends existed in south-western Norway and northern Sweden (Lindström and Bergström 2004; Hisdal et al. 2007; Wilson et al. 2010). Positive trends were also observed in winter and spring discharge in the Nordic countries (Wilson et al. 2010). In Finland, no statistically significant changes in mean annual discharge or annual maximum discharge were found in general, but there were clear trends in seasonal discharge series with increases in winter and spring mean discharge and earlier timing of the spring peak in many of the observation stations (Korhonen and Kuusisto 2010).

Future global warming will depend on future emissions of greenhouse gases, which are described by different emission scenarios. The most recent set of emission scenarios is the group of SRES (Special Report on Emission Scenarios, IPCC 2000) emission scenarios (Fig. 2), which includes a total of 40 different scenarios from four scenario families based on alternative future pathways and different modelling approaches. Seven groups - the scenario families A2, B1, and B2 and the four groups within the A1 scenario family - and four cumulative emissions categories are recommended as the subset of SRES emission scenarios that captures the range of uncertainties associated with driving forces and emissions (IPCC 2000). The most commonly used SRES emission scenarios in climate models are currently the A2, B1 and A1B scenarios, of which A2 produces the highest CO₂ concentra-

tions by the end of the 21^{st} century, B1 the lowest and A1B intermediate CO_2 concentrations (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Emission scenarios of a) total anthropogenic CO₂ emissions and b) atmospheric CO₂ concentration (ppm, Bern-CC) until 2100. (IPCC 2000; IPCC 2001)

The current best estimate from the IPCC Fourth Assessment Report for the projected global average temperature change by the end of the 21st century is 1.8–4.0 °C from 1980-1999 with different emission scenarios (IPCC 2007a). The likely range with six emission scenarios and several climate models is 1.1–6.4 °C (IPCC 2007a). Projections of precipitation change during the 21st century indicate increases in the high latitudes, whereas decreases are likely in most sub-tropical land regions (IPCC 2007a).

According to different climate scenarios from several global climate models and SRES emission scenarios the average annual temperature in Finland is expected to increase by 2.0–6.5 °C by the 2080s and average precipitation by 7–26 % (Jylhä et al. 2009; Fig. 3). The largest projected increases in both temperature and precipitation are during winter: projected increases in winter temperatures are 3-9 °C and in precipitation 10-40%, while the corresponding figures for summer are 1-5 °C and 0-20%(Jylhä et al. 2009). This study is motivated by the need to estimate the consequences of these projected changes for the hydrological regime in Finland (papers I–V).



Figure 3. Projected average changes during the 21st century in a) annual mean temperature (°C) and b) annual precipitation sum (%) in Finland with three emission scenarios (Finnish Meteorological Institute 2011b).

1.2.1 Climate models

Effects of the increases in atmospheric greenhouse gas concentrations on climate are studied with climate model simulations. Climate models are a simplified representation of the climate system described through mathematical formulations of physical laws. Today the advanced climate models are coupled atmosphere-ocean general circulation models, which operate on global scale and couple three-dimensional atmospheric circulation models with ocean general circulation models, sea ice models and land-surface process models (Covey et al. 2003; IPCC 2007a). These models are usually referred to as General Circulation Models or Global Climate Models (GCMs) and they produce the best and most comprehensive available projections of climate change impacts on global scale (IPCC 2007a). Most major centres for atmospheric research in the largest countries have developed their own climate models, and the IPCC Fourth Assessment Report (AR4, IPCC 2007a) includes results from 23 GCMs, although not all of them are independent since some are different versions of the same GCM.

Greenhouse gas emission scenarios during the 20th century (IPCC 2000) are used as external forcing of the GCMs. Together the emission scenario and the climate model or combination of climate models form what is here referred to as a climate scenario.

The evolution of climate models has been rapid over the last 20 years. The GCMs in the IPCC First Assessment report (IPCC 1990) mostly included only an atmospheric model, had a grid size of 500 km (\sim 5 degrees) and simulated equilibrium climate resulting from doubling of CO₂ concentration (IPCC 2007a). By comparison the GCMs included in the AR4 (IPCC 2007a) were fully coupled complex atmosphere-ocean general circulation models, sometimes even including interactive chemical or biochemical

components, with 110–250 km (~1–2.5 degrees) grid resolution and timedependent scenarios. The latest set of GCMs includes new processes as well as improvements in resolution, computational methods and parameterisations compared to earlier versions (IPCC 2007a).

In addition to GCMs operating on global scales, Regional Climate Models (RCMs) are used in many parts of the world to dynamically downscale GCM results to smaller scale (~10-50 km) (Kotlarski et al. 2005; IPCC 2007a). RCMs are able to resolve important regional scale processes such as orographic lifting of air masses (Kotlarski et al. 2005). In Europe alone there are up to 15 RCMs, which have been compared in the ENSEMBLES project (Hewitt 2005; van der Linden and Mitchell 2009). Since the RCMs only cover part of the world, they use output from GCMs to provide initial conditions and time-dependent meteorological boundary conditions as well as greenhouse gas and aerosol forcing (Mearns et al. 2003). The results of the RCM therefore depend largely on the driving GCMs, whereas no feedback from the RCM to the driving GCM is used. The advantage of RCMs is their ability to reproduce the spatial patterns of climate in sub-regions of the globe better than the GCMs, and to reproduce precipitation extremes on a scale not simulated by the GCMs (Mearns et al. 2003; Frei et al. 2006; Boberg et al. 2010).

Even though climate models have become much more advanced, the range of model results has not diminished (Covey et al. 2003; IPCC 2007a). The main sources of uncertainties in climate prediction are the climate model uncertainties and errors originating from the fact that some of the physical processes modelled are either not completely understood or cannot yet be adequately represented due to limited computational power (Schnur 2002; Covey et al. 2003; IPCC 2007a). Notable uncertainties are associated in particular with representation of clouds and cloud feedbacks in climate models (Stephens 2005; IPCC 2007a). Many small-scale processes such as cloud formation have to be described in an approximate form to simulate their interaction with large-scale features (IPCC 2007a). A number of different algorithms and a number of parameterisation methods of the small-scale processes have been developed in different climate models, and this is the main reason for the wide range of results produced by the different GCMs (Covey et al. 2003; Prudhomme et al. 2003; IPCC 2007a).

The ability of the GCMs and RCMs to correctly simulate the current observed climatic conditions is a necessary, although not in itself sufficient, condition for a model to produce reliable climate change projections (Mitchell et al. 2011). Evaluations of GCM performance on global scale have demonstrated the ability of the GCMs to reproduce relatively well the general observed features of past and recent climate and changes in climate (e.g. Covey et al. 2003; Collins et al. 2006; IPCC 2007a). Many studies have also evaluated GCM and RCM performance on regional and national scales in Finland, Scandinavia and Europe (Jylhä et al. 2004; IPCC 2007a; Jacob et al. 2007; Lind and Kjellström 2009; Boberg et al. 2010). GCMs included in the AR4 simulated annual precipitation in Finland relatively well, but were often unable to produce the observed seasonal cycle (Jylhä et al. 2004; IPCC 2007a). These GCMs often produced too much precipitation in winter and too little in summer (IPCC 2007a). The annual cycle of air temperature in Finland was simulated qualitatively well by five GCMs studied by Jylhä et al. (2004), but some of the models had a cold bias and too continental climate for Finland.

The RCMs generally reproduce the circulation patterns of the driving GCM, but in many regions the RCM results also differ from GCMs (Mearns et al. 2003; Jacob et al. 2007) and the biases in the driving GCM can even be amplified by the RCM (Kjellström and Lind 2009). Some RCMs were found to have warm winter bias over Scandinavia (Jacob et al. 2007) and the Baltic Sea drainage basin (Lind and Kjellström 2009). A systematic wet bias was reported in several RCMs in Scandinavia or the Baltic Sea drainage basin (Graham et al. 2007b; Jacob et al. 2007; Kjellström and Ruosteenoja 2007; Lind and Kjellström 2009). Inter-annual precipitation variability and simulated precipitation probability density functions of RCMs were found to be in relatively good agreement with observations in the Nordic region (Jacob et al. 2007; Boberg et al. 2010). RCMs were reported to have too high evaporation rates in the Baltic Sea Drainage Basin (Graham et al. 2007b). The limitations of the climate models in simulating current climatic variables are important, especially if these daily values are used in further climate change impact assessments as input to other models, such as the hydrological model in paper (V).

1.3 Hydrological modelling of climate change impacts

Since climate models quantify water balance and simulate its components such as runoff, one may question why there is a need to use separate offline hydrological models. The use of off-line hydrological modelling as a tool for climate change impact studies originated from necessity in the 1980s, because the scale and quality of the GCMs at that time did not permit the use of their water balance components in a meaningful way (Blyth 2009). The priority in the land surface component of the GCMs was, and still is, to reproduce accurately the evaporation fluxes for the purposes of the atmospheric model, and therefore the emphasis given to accurate runoff simulation was much lower (Blyth 2009).

Both physical content and resolution of the GCMs have evolved rapidly in recent decades and nested RCMs able to dynamically downscale GCM results to a finer scale over selected areas have become more common (Mearns et al. 2003; Kotlarski et al. 2005; IPCC 2007; van der Linden and Mitchell 2009). However, even with the improved spatial resolution and more complex physics, the results of the runoff simulated by GCMs and RCMs are still unreliable and usually do not provide sufficient detail to satisfactorily simulate hydrology at scales necessary for catchment-scale impact assessments (Varis et al. 2004; Graham et al. 2007b). Even with the improved spatial scales, the grid size of the RCMs (~10-50 km) is still larger than in most off-line hydrological models and representation of surface heterogeneities still needs to be improved (Hagemann et al. 2009). For example the RCMs from the ENSEMBLES data archive have a grid size of 25km x 25km=625 km² (Hewitt 2005; van der Linden and Mitchell 2009), whereas many hydrological models have a resolution lower than 100 km² (Boé et al. 2007).

In addition to runoff (water flow per area in mm/d), which the climate models calculate for each grid cell, discharges (flow in river or stream in m^3/s) are also needed in impact assessments. To derive discharges, runoff needs to be temporally lagged and spatially integrated over a catchment with a river routing scheme (Milly et al. 2005; International Arctic Science Committee 2010). The land-surface components of the latest versions of GCMs usually include only simplified river routing schemes for the largest river catchments (Varis et al. 2004; International Arctic Science Committee 2010). Additional and more comprehensive river routing schemes, which include simulations of horizontal transport of runoff within the catchment, are thus needed (International Arctic Science Committee 2010).

Despite the advances, substantial uncertainties still exist in the GCM- and RCM-simulated land-surface processes including runoff simulation (Xu et al. 2005; Graham et al. 2007b). Comparison of different land surface schemes used in climate models and in weather prediction made in northern Scandinavia (Nijssen et al. 2003) and in France (Boone et al. 2004) showed large differences in snow accumulation and ablation as well as soil moisture, and as a result a wide range of monthly runoff and discharge estimates was produced by the different models. Problems in land surface models remain especially in the simulation of winter snow sublimation and detention of runoff in lakes, wetlands and peatland areas (Nijssen et al. 2003). Hitherto most assessments using GCM- or RCM-simulated runoff and discharge have been limited to very large rivers around the world

(Arora 2001; Milly et al. 2002; Milly et al. 2005) or other large areas such as the Baltic Sea drainage basin with its large number of sub-catchments (Graham et al. 2007b). An older version of Canadian GCM was unable to produce even the mean annual discharge within 20 % of observed estimates in approximately 70 % of the large rivers studied (Arora 2001). Graham et al. (2007b) compared the discharges based on runoff simulated by different RCMs and routed with two river routing schemes in the Baltic Sea drainage basin and found that these produced very different results on timing and magnitude of discharges on a monthly scale. Even when mean annual discharge is reproduced reasonably well, seasonal runoff and discharges based on GCM or RCM results often differ significantly from observations (Lind and Kjellström 2009; International Arctic Science Committee 2010).

The off-line hydrological models lack two-way interaction with the climate models (Xu et al. 2005) and only use part of the outputs of the climate models (Hurkmans et al. 2008). The physics of the hydrological models are usually less advanced than in the land surface models which solve the coupled water and energy balance (Hurkmans et al. 2008). Especially conceptual hydrological models are based on conceptualisations without a solid physical base. However, the advantage of hydrological models is their ability to simulate accurately the river discharges and especially peak discharges based on calibration against observed discharges (Blyth 2009). Offline hydrological models are also considerably faster to operate than the land surface models of GCMs and RCMs (Hurkmans et al. 2008). Therefore they can be used to simulate large numbers of climate scenarios, and to examine the influence of adaptation strategies and water resources management actions (e.g. lake and reservoir regulation, paper III) on river discharge. Continuing improvement in the resolution and physical content of the climate models may in the future lead to runoff from RCMs being sufficiently reliable to be used in catchment-scale impact assessments (Blyth 2009). Convergence of hydrological and land surface models into a new generation of land surface hydrology models combining the best of both model types is studied e.g. in the EU WATCH project (Blyth 2009). Until this becomes reality, the limitations of GCM- and RCM-simulated runoff mean that off-line hydrological modelling (papers I–V) still remains the main tool for hydrological climate change impact assessments.

1.3.1 Historical perspective

The first mathematical formulations relating rainfall to runoff were developed in the 19th century and these were empirical formulas such as the rational method for flood peak estimation (e.g. Beven 2001; Kokkonen 2003). More realistic process-based methods to predict flood peaks were developed in the 1930s with the unit hydrograph concept (Sherman 1932), which later became widely used (Ward 1978; Kokkonen 2003). In its current form, hydrological modelling began in the 1960s when emerging computers first enabled the use of simulation models for hydrological analyses (e.g. the Standford watershed model by Linsley and Crawford 1960). These first hydrological models were conceptual models, which developed into numerous variants during the following decades (Beven 2001). Despite the development of more detailed and physically based distributed models (Beven 2001), conceptual models are still commonly used both in studies of hydrological impacts (e.g. Andréasson et al. 2004; van Pelt et al. 2009) and in operational forecasting (e.g. in Sweden, Norway, Finland, Røhr and Husebye 2005; Vehviläinen et al. 2005; Arheimer et al. 2011). Today the number of different hydrological models is considerable and they range from simple lumped conceptual models to complex fully-distributed physically based models (Beven 2001).

Hydrological modelling in Finland began in earnest during the 1970s and 1980s (Kuusisto 1977; Virtanen 1977; Virta 1978; Vakkilainen and Karvonen 1980; Vehviläinen 1982; Karvonen 1988). Currently hydrological modelling is applied e.g. in flood forecasting (Vehviläinen et al. 2005), modelling of hydrological processes (e.g. Koivusalo 2002; Kokkonen 2003; Laine-Kaulio 2011), modelling of nutrient cycles (e.g. Huttunen et al. 2008; Rankinen et al. 2009; Ronkanen and Kløve 2009) and modelling of surface water hydrodynamics and water quality (e.g. Virtanen et al. 1998; Virtanen 2009; Lepistö et al. 2008; Huttula et al. 2010). The nationwide hydrological forecasting system Watershed Simulation and Forecasting System (WSFS, Vehviläinen 1982) is currently developed and operated at the Finnish Environment Institute (SYKE). In addition to forecasting and flood warnings the WSFS is also used for research purposes (Vehviläinen and Huttunen 1997; papers (I–V))

The WSFS hydrological model is of the HBV (Hydrologiska Byråns Vattenbalansavdelning) model type. The HBV model is a conceptual model first developed in Sweden in the 1970s (Bergström 1976). With its several versions it remains a popular model type used most commonly in the Nordic countries (Sweden, Norway, Denmark, Finland and Iceland) (Vehviläinen and Huttunen 1997; Andréasson et al. 2004; Beldring et al. 2008), but also in many other parts of the world (Booij 2005; Akhtar et al. 2008; Steele-Dunne et al. 2008; van Pelt et al. 2009). Its application field ranges from operational flood forecasting (Røhr and Husebye 2005; Vehviläinen et al. 2005; Arheimer et al. 2011) to research including hydrological climate change studies (Vehviläinen and Huttunen 1997; Andréasson et al. 2004; Booij 2005; Akhtar et al. 2008; Beldring et al. 2008; Steele-Dunne et al. 2008; van Pelt et al. 2009).

The benefit of conceptual hydrological models compared to the more physically based models is the need for relatively little input information and fast and easy operation (Uhlenbrook et al. 1999). This is beneficial especially in operational forecasting, where large areas are being simulated in near real time. However, the conceptual hydrological models are often overparameterized with a larger number of parameters than can be determined based on the available observations and with intercorrelation between parameters (Uhlenbrook et al. 1999). This leads to equifinality in the identification of the parameter values, i.e. many different sets of parameter values produce reasonable simulations (Beven 1996; Beven 2001). It has been argued that the physically based models have more physically based parameter values that can be more robustly estimated from catchment characteristics than the parameter values of conceptual models (Beven 1996). However, even the more physically based models are based on aggregation of small scale theories to catchment-scale and suffer from a lack of data in appropriate spatial and temporal scale, and thus have the same problems of having to rely on model calibration and equifinality of the parameters (Beven 1996; Beven 2001).

Studies of climate change impacts on hydrology with hydrological models began in earnest in the 1980s (Němec and Schaake 1982; Gleick 1986; Arnell and Reynard 1989; Kuchment et al. 1989), although assessments of climate-water relationships had been carried out much earlier (e.g. Langbein et al. 1949). From the start, hydrological modelling was the main tool in estimating climate change impacts on hydrology, although temporal and spatial analogies and regression relationships between climate and hydrology were also used in the 1980s (IPCC 1990). The first studies were limited by the lack of reliable climate scenarios on an appropriate scale (IPCC 1990) and used either hypothetical scenarios based on expert judgement, sensitivity analysis (Němec and Schaake 1982) or the few GCM scenarios for doubling carbon dioxide (CO_2) concentrations available from the 1980s onwards (IPCC 1990; Bultot et al. 1992; Varis et al. 2004).

During the 1990s the level of confidence in the climate change estimates improved with increasing scientific understanding about the drivers and feedbacks of climate change and better climate models (IPCC 2001; IPCC 2007a). As a consequence climate change impact studies in hydrology became increasingly common (e.g. Arnell and Reynard 1996; Wood et al. 1997; Vehviläinen and Huttunen 1997; Arnell 1999). With the increase in available climate scenarios for time periods in the future (e.g. for 2070– 2099), the use of several climate scenarios became the most common way of estimating climate change impacts on hydrology during the 1990s (Varis et al. 2004). During the past 20 years the number of studies has increased and the methods used in hydrological impact assessments have become more and more sophisticated (see next section 1.3.2).

In Finland the first studies modelling climate change impacts on hydrology were carried out in the 1980s and 1990s (Vehviläinen and Lohvansuu 1991; Huttula et al. 1992; Vehviläinen and Huttunen 1997; Sælthun et al. 1997). In the 21st century research on hydrological modelling of climate change impacts in Finland has expanded; several studies on climate change and water resources have been carried out (e.g. Beldring et al. 2006; Schneiderman et al. 2009; Perrels et al. 2010; papers (I–V)). The research contributions in Finland have focused mainly on practical applications, such as changes in hydropower production (Fenger 2007) and design values of dams (paper I).

1.3.2 Climate change impacts on hydrology

The most important climatic drivers of hydrology and water availability are temperature, precipitation and evaporation (IPCC 2007b). In the dry regions in mid latitudes where decreases in precipitation are projected, mean annual runoff is expected to decrease (Milly et al. 2005; IPCC 2007b). On the other hand, increases in mean annual runoff are estimated for the areas with increasing precipitation at the high latitudes and in some wet tropical areas (Milly et al. 2005; IPCC 2007b). Changes in air temperature may cause significant shifts in seasonality in areas with snow-dominated hydrology (e.g. Lettenmaier et al. 1999; Bates et al. 2008; Kundzewicz et al. 2008).

Climate change impacts on hydrology have been quantified in numerous studies using hydrological models (Arnell 1999, 2003; Lettenmaier et al. 1999; Prudhomme et al. 2003; Bates et al. 2008; Dankers and Feyen 2008; Wilby et al. 2008). The traditional approach to studying climate change impacts on hydrology is comparison of hydrological model results for future time periods against the results for a past control period (e.g. Arnell 1999; Prudhomme et al. 2003; Schneiderman et al. 2009). The most common method in climate change impact studies in the past has been the delta change approach (section 3.2.1), in which observed meteorological variables for the control period are perturbed according to the projected changes in these variables from climate scenarios, usually as monthly average changes (e.g. Arnell 1999; Hay et al. 2000; Prudhomme et al. 2003).

The spatial resolution of GCMs (currently 110–250 km) is considered to be too coarse for the direct outputs to be used in hydrological impact as-

sessments on catchment-scale (Hay et al. 2002; Diaz-Nieto and Wilby 2005; Fowler et al. 2007; Leander and Buishand 2007). Therefore different methods to downscale the results to appropriate scales have been developed. The methods can be classified into two groups: dynamical downscaling and statistical downscaling (Fowler et al. 2007). In dynamical downscaling, a Regional Climate Model (RCM) or Limited Area Model (LAM) of higher spatial resolution is set up for a region (Hay et al. 2002). RCMs use boundary conditions from the GCMs, but capture geographical details more precisely than GCMs (Hay et al. 2002). Methods of statistical downscaling establish relationships between large-scale climate variables and local surface climate variables and range from simple statistical methods to complex weather generators and weather typing schemes (review by Fowler et al. 2007).

Until a few years ago poor availability of dynamically downscaled climate scenarios and biases in these scenarios led to the delta change approach (section 3.2.1) being the preferred option in most impact studies (Mearns 2003; Fronzek and Carter 2008). In this approach future (e.g. 2070-2099) and control period time slices, which are both assumed to be stationary within the periods, are compared with each other. In recent years the availability of RCM results with different driving GCMs has improved. Consequently a number of studies have appeared describing methods to correct the RCM bias and to use RCM data directly as input to the hydrological model (Hay et al. 2002; Déqué 2007; Leander and Buishand 2007; Piani et al. 2010; Yang et al. 2010). In Europe the ENSEMBLES project (Hewitt 2005; van der Linden and Mitchell 2009) and its data archive is vital in making ensembles of transient RCM scenarios available to scientists. With the available RCM data, long transient hydrological simulations up to the end of the 21st century can now be carried out (e.g. Minville et al. 2010). Thus far only few studies (Minville et al. 2010; Kay and Jones 2012) have examined long continuous transient hydrological scenarios. In paper (V), RCM daily results of temperature and precipitation are bias corrected and used as input to the hydrological model in order to simulate and analyse transient hydrological scenarios for the first time in Finland.

The reasons behind the changes in runoff can be better understood by examining the changes in water balance components. Changes in precipitation, potential evapotranspiration, evapotranspiration, snow accumulation and melt as well as soil moisture all contribute to runoff changes. The importance of each process for the runoff formation and its the projected future changes can be studied with climate models and hydrological modelling (paper V). Kjellström and Lind (2009) reported that the hydrological cycle in the Swedish RCM RCAO was intensified and resulted in 15–20 % increases in precipitation, evaporation and runoff for the Baltic Sea drainage basin by the end of the century.

Besides the direct need for information about future changes in hydrology and floods, hydrological scenarios are needed in further analysis of possible impacts caused by climate change on flood inundation areas (paper IV; Lane et al. 2007); sediment transport (paper II; Lane et al. 2007), nutrient transport and water quality (Wilby et al. 2006; Tu 2009) and ecology (Murray-Hudson et al. 2006). The indirect impacts of climate change on water quality and subsequent impacts on ecology can be substantial (European Environment Agency 2007) and may be even greater and more important than changes in quantity.

Adaptation to climate change is another issue that has recently gained momentum, since it has become more evident that, despite attempts to mitigate the impacts through planned reductions of greenhouse gas emissions, some further warming will inevitably take place (European Environment Agency 2007). Lake and reservoir regulation is one field in which adaptation measures can be implemented. Hydrological climate change simulations and impact assessment in regulated lakes or reservoirs have been performed especially in heavily modified catchments, where either water supply or hydropower has a major role (Lettenmaier 1999; Christensen and Lettenmaier 2007; Hingray et al. 2007; Fowler et al. 2007; Minville et al. 2009; Pulido-Velazquez et al. 2011). Studies of natural lakes with hydrometeorological conditions relatively similar to those in Finland have been carried out in the large lakes of Sweden (Bergström et al. 2006) and in the Great Lakes in North America (Hartmann 1990; Lee et al. 1997). However, Finland's hydrological conditions with its large number of lakes, many of them connected through complex systems of waterways, and the lake regulation permits and rules in Finland produce a special situation which has not previously been adequately studied. Detailed studies on the impact of climate change on lake regulation are therefore very much needed in Finland (paper III).

1.3.3 Climate change impacts on floods

Floods cause large economical losses worldwide, and although Finland is among the least vulnerable areas for flooding in Europe (Schmidt-Thomé et al. 2006), the economical damages of extreme flooding in Finland can still be considerable (Ollila et al. 2000). The average flood damages in Finland are rather small, less than one million Euros per year, but in 2004 the damages from fluvial floods were eight million Euros and in 2005 five million Euros (Tulvariskityöryhmä 2009). It is estimated that an extreme flood with a return period of 250 years would cause damages of 662 million Euros (changed to 2011 value), although this flood would not occur throughout the country at the same time (Ollila et al. 2000). Timonen et al. (2003) listed 69 flood risk areas in Finland where considerable damages have occurred and 30 flood areas where frazil ice and ice dams frequently cause flood damages.

Climate change can potentially lead to either increase or decrease in floods in Finland. Floods can increase due to expected increases in both mean precipitation and its extreme intensities in northern Europe (Beniston et al. 2007; IPCC 2007a), whereas decreasing snow depths can lead to decreasing flood magnitudes in regions dominated by snowmelt floods (Booij 2005; Dankers et al. 2007). The catchment response to climate change can substantially vary depending on current climate and catchment physical characteristics (Arnell and Reynard 1996).

Climate change impacts on floods have been studied in many regions (Simonovic and Li 2004; Akhtar et al. 2008; Bates et al. 2008; Kiem et al. 2008), with the largest proportion of studies published in Europe and North America (Andréasson et el. 2004; Graham et al. 2007a; Lenderink et al. 2007; Minville et al. 2008; Kay et al. 2009). Most studies have focussed on individual case study catchments or a few catchments with sizes varying from small streams (~10 km² catchment area, e.g. Cameron et al. 2000) to regionally important catchment areas of major rivers such as the River Rhine (185 000 km², Lenderink et al. 2007) or the Colorado River (630 000 km², Christensen and Lettenmaier 2007). Studies carried out during the last decade have projected increases in flood frequency e.g. in the UK (Reynard et al. 2001; Prudhomme et al. 2003; Fowler and Kilsby 2007), in British Columbia in Canada (Loukas et al. 2002) and in Denmark (Thodsen 2007). However, studies in other regions such as Ireland (Steele-Dunne et al. 2008) and the rivers Rhine and Meuse (Menzel et al. 2006; Leander et al. 2008) reported varying results depending on climate scenario and catchment. Both increasing and decreasing floods during the next century have been projected in the Nordic countries (Andréasson et al. 2004; Graham et al. 2007a; Beldring et al. 2008).

Continental scale studies on climate change impacts on floods have been carried out to produce a general overview in Europe (Lehner et al. 2006; Dankers and Feyen 2008; 2009). Dankers and Feyen (2008, 2009) found mostly decreases in floods in Finland and surrounding areas by the end of the century, whereas Lehner et al. (2006) estimated an increase in flood risk in Scandinavia and Finland. The contradicting results for Finland show that large scale results are not necessarily reliable in smaller scale. Large scale modelling includes simplifications of processes and catchment properties and often has less data available than studies on smaller scale. The unreliability of large scale estimations and the differences between hydrological conditions in Finland compared to other regions provide a strong motivation to estimate climate change impacts on floods on national and local scale in Finland (papers I, II, IV). Thus far nationwide estimations have only been carried out in a few countries (e.g. in Norway by Lawrence and Hisdal 2011).

Special methods to model flood magnitudes and climate change induced changes in very extreme floods have been developed, since these extreme floods are important for the safety of dams and other infrastructure. The most common methods for flood estimation are statistical methods, especially flood frequency analysis (Ward 1978, Harlin 1992). Flood frequency analysis is simple to apply, but it includes large uncertainties in the choice of the frequency distribution especially when extrapolating to extreme floods (Harlin 1992). Furthermore it cannot produce the flood hydrographs necessary for dams with reservoirs, and it is dependent on the availability of good quality observations (Harlin 1992). Another method for estimation of extreme floods is continuous simulation (Cameron et al. 2000; Blazkova and Beven 2004), in which long sequences of precipitation and air temperature up to thousands of years are generated with a weather generator and the corresponding discharge sequence is simulated. A commonly used method is the deterministic approach, in which flood generating factors are maximized and a unit hydrograph or hydrological model is used to simulate the resulting flood (Harlin 1992). One of the most common methods is to estimate the Probable Maximum Precipitation (PMP) and convert PMP together with other critical catchment conditions such as snowmelt and saturated soils to a flood hydrograph, i.e. the Probable Maximum Flood (PMF) (Ward et al. 1978; Harlin 1992). A deterministic approach, somewhat similar to the PMF procedure and based on critical combination of design precipitation event and other flood generating factors, is also used in dam design in Sweden (Flödeskommittén 1990; Andréasson et al. 2007; Swedenergy et al. 2007). This methodology is also appropriate for Finnish conditions and therefore a similar methodology was used in Finland to estimate impacts of climate change on design floods of high hazard dams (paper I).

Estimation climate change induced changes in hydrology and especially in floods includes large uncertainties from several sources. These uncertainties and their relative magnitudes can be quantified by using probabilistic approaches (Minville et al. 2008; Kay et al. 2009; Prudhomme and Davies 2009), but in many studies these uncertainties are not quantified at all. At least some of the most important uncertainties should be considered in assessing the confidence attached to the hydrological projections and the possible variability in the climate change impacts (papers IV and V, section 4.6).

1.4 Objectives

In this thesis a hydrological model is used to estimate climate change impacts on hydrology and floods in Finland. The goal is to assess the processes, catchment characteristics and methods that impact the hydrological response to climate change, and to gain understanding and perspective on projected national and regional scale changes in Finland.

The specific objectives are:

- To quantify projected changes caused by climate change in hydrological processes and water balance in a boreal environment, including catchments with lake routes, and to understand the drivers and the importance of different processes (III, IV, V)
- 2) To estimate changes in floods of different return periods caused by climate change (I, II, IV) with different methods
- 3) To develop and compare methods used to transfer the climate signal from the climate model to the hydrological model (I, IV,V)
- 4) To evaluate the possibilities to adapt to climate change through changes in lake regulation (III)
- 5) To evaluate and partly quantify uncertainties involved in hydrological climate change impact studies (IV,V)

The thesis offers a national perspective on hydrological climate change impacts in Finland with the latest methods and climate scenarios. An offline conceptual hydrological model is used for these evaluations. Climatic and hydrological conditions in Finland are rather unique due to the location of Finland in the transitional zone between maritime and continental climate regions, varying soil types and thousands of connected natural lakes (Vakkilainen and Karvonen 1980). Thus the climate change impacts on hydrology and floods in Finland warrant specific studies that can be compared against earlier similar studies from other countries (e.g. Andréasson et el. 2004; Beldring et al. 2008; Minville et al. 2009).

The thesis and the papers (I–V) include several subjects which have not previously been studied in Finland, such as estimation of climate change induced changes in flood magnitudes (papers I, II and IV) and the use and analysis of transient hydrological scenarios produced from direct bias corrected RCM data (paper V). To date transient climate scenarios and the bias correction necessary to reproduce the observed hydrology in the control period have not been widely studied in boreal conditions. National scale evaluation of climate change impacts on extreme floods used as dam design floods (paper I) is also a subject about which only limited studies have been published thus far.

The results increase our knowledge of regional issues concerning boreal and sub-arctic conditions such as catchment response to climate change with regard to catchment characteristics and flood producing mechanisms. The comparison of the results of changes in floods (paper IV) during the next century with continental scale estimates for changes in floods (Lehner et al. 2006; Dankers and Feyen 2008; 2009) can be used to provide insight into the reliability of large scale estimates on smaller scale. Different methods of taking climate change into account are used and compared and their advantages and limitations are discussed.

Only fluvial floods caused by snowmelt, rainfall or their combination are studied in this thesis. Impacts of climate change on floods caused by sea level rise, urban floods in small scale and ice jam and frazil ice floods are beyond the scope of this thesis, even though the changes in these floods due to climate change may be important. Although the thesis includes some estimation of uncertainties especially from climate models, the systematic quantification of the major uncertainties involved in hydrological climate change impact assessment that would require entire studies with e.g. resampling and Monte-Carlo analysis (Minville et al. 2008; Steele-Dunne et al. 2008; Prudhomme and Davies 2009), is outside the scope of this thesis.

2 Materials and study catchments

2.1 Climate and Hydrology in Finland

The Köppen-Geiger climate classification places Finland in the class of cold climate with no dry season (Df) and most of the country to the sub-class with cold summers (Dfc), whereas the coastal area in southern Finland falls within the warm summers (Dfb) sub-class (e.g. Peel et al. 2007). In 1971–2000 the average annual air temperature varied from 5 °C in the southwestern coast and Åland to -2 °C in northern Lapland (Drebs et al. 2002; Fig. 4a). The temperature gradient from northern to southern Finland, or from 70 to 60 degrees latitude, can be strong especially in winter. The thermal winter lasts on average for 100 days in south-western Finland, while in northern Finland it lasts for 200 days (Vehviläinen and Huttunen 1997; Drebs et al. 2002).

The observed (uncorrected) average annual precipitation sum in 1971– 2000 varied from 350 mm in northern Lapland to around 700 mm in southern and central Finland (Fig. 4b, Drebs et al. 2002). Average annual maximum snow water equivalent ranges from less than 100 mm in the southern coast to more than 220 mm in southern Lapland (Fig. 5a). Evaporation is larger in southern Finland due to the longer growing season (Fig. 5b), and thus average runoff (Fig. 5c) varies less than average precipitation, from 200 to 450 mm per year (Mustonen 1986; Korhonen and Kuusisto 2010). The latitudinal gradient, the maritime climate from the Atlantic Ocean and the continental climate from Eurasia, the Scandinavian mountain range and the Baltic Sea all impact the climate in Finland (Atlas of Finland 1987; Käyhkö 2004).

The main land use types in Finland are forest (68 %), lakes (10 %), open areas such as peatland (10 %), agricultural land (8 %) and constructed land and roads (4 %) (Tilastokeskus 2002). Finland has plentiful water resources with the fifth largest amount of water available per capita in Europe, approximately 19 000 m³/capita/year in 2001 (European Environment Agency 2005). Finland can be divided into three hydrological regions: catchments in the lake area in central Finland, small and medium size coastal rivers and large and medium size rivers of northern Finland (Fig. 6a) (Mustonen 1986; Korhonen and Kuusisto 2010). The same division is broadly followed by topography, soil types and land use, with forested, hilly till-covered areas in the north, flat clay areas with a high proportion of agricultural land near the coast and forested till areas with lakes in central Finland. The catchments in the lake area are characterized by numerous lakes. Finland has 187 888 lakes with an area of at least 0.05 ha and 2606 lakes with an area over 1.0 km².



copyright: Finnish Meteorological Institute

Figure 4. a) Average annual air temperature (°C) and b) average annual uncorrected precipitation sum (mm) in 1971–2000. (Finnish Meteorological Institute 2011c)



Figure 5. a) Average annual maximum snow water equivalent, b) average annual evaporation sum and c) average annual runoff sum in Finland (Mustonen 1986).

The seasonal cycle in hydrology in Finland is generally strong (Fig. 6b–d); snow accumulates during winter and melts in spring, causing an increase in runoff. Autumn rains cause another increase in runoff, which is usually substantially lower than the spring peak. This seasonal cycle is especially strong in northern Finland (Fig. 6b), but also in the small upstream lakes and rivers in the northern lake area and in the northernmost coastal rivers. In these areas most, if not all, of the annual maximum floods are caused by spring snowmelt. Further south in the coastal rivers major floods can be caused by either snowmelt or heavy rain events (Fig. 6d). In southern and south-western Finland air temperature in winter is guite frequently above o °C and thus snowmelt and flooding during winter are not uncommon (Fig. 6d). Since the catchments in the coastal area are small with low lake percentage, the discharge variations are large and rapid, and both droughts and floods are common (Fig. 6d, Korhonen and Kuusisto 2010). In the lake area, the large storage capacity of the numerous lakes smoothes the seasonal discharge variations (Fig. 6c). In the large central lakes and their outflow rivers floods are long-lasting high flows caused by either prolonged heavy rain or melting of deep snowpack, or both (Mustonen 1986). Due to the large storage capacities these floods are generated slowly by large amounts of excess water in contrast to short-term flood peaks in areas with minor surface water storage volume (Mustonen 1986).



Figure 6. a) Hydrological regions and major catchments in Finland and b–d) example hydrographs from the hydrological regions at Juutuanjoki (b, norhern rivers), Nilakka (c, lake area) and Hypöistenkoski (d, coastal rivers). Graphs show the average (solid line) and maximum (dashed line) observed daily discharge during 1971–2000.
2.2 Observations

The air temperature and precipitation observations from the Finnish Meteorological Institute were used as input to the hydrological model WSFS (section 3.1). This included in 2010 approximately 190 stations with daily temperature observations at 2 m height and 250 stations with precipitation observations. Additional observations from 11 temperature and 16 precipitation observation stations in Norway, Sweden and Russia were provided by the Norwegian Meteorological Institute, the Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute and the Hydrometeorological Centre of Russia and were used as model input in the cross-boundary catchments. Daily air temperature and precipitation observations were used as input of the simulations for 1961–2000 or 1971–2000 (papers I–IV) and in the calibration of the model for 1986–2009 or 1981–2008.

Other data used in this study were the discharge and water level observations, observations of snow water equivalent from snow courses, Class A pan evaporation measurements, and satellite data about the extent of the snow covered area. These data were used in the calibration of the hydrological model WSFS. In 2010 there were 295 discharge observation stations and 410 water level observation stations in Finland with continuous data on a daily scale. The number of snow courses, where snow depth and snow water equivalent were measured, was 150 and the number of Class A pan measurement sites was 10.

The measurement networks are denser in southern and central Finland than in the north. Precipitation gauging errors, which are especially large for solid precipitation (e.g. Førland et al. 1996), were taken into account by separate correction factors for solid and liquid precipitation in the hydrological model WSFS (Vehviläinen et al. 2005). Sources of uncertainty in the observations include e.g. the gauging error of precipitation, modifications to the observation network and change of the precipitation gauge type over the years (Mustonen 1986), the shortcomings of the spatial coverage of the precipitation observation network, the extrapolation of rating curves to high water levels and discharges, possible increases in water levels due to ice dams and the impact of ice on winter water levels, which are adjusted with an ice reduction (Korhonen 2007).

2.3 Study catchments

The hydrological modelling was carried out at catchment-scale with the majority of the study catchments having areas between 80 and 25 000 km².

The smallest catchment area was 0.7 km² in paper (I), whereas the second smallest catchment area was 66 km² and the largest 61 000 km². Discharge was simulated at rivers or lake outlets altogether for 98 different catchments, although the discharge series were not all independent because some catchments are located within the drainage areas of others.

Two approaches were used: case studies using one to four study catchments (papers II, III and V) and modelling large numbers of study catchments for producing an overview over the whole of Finland (papers I and IV).

2.3.1 High hazard dams (I)

High hazard dams (called category 1-dams, previously P-dams) are dams that cause risk to human life or health or considerable and obvious risk to property and environment in the case of dam failure (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 1997; Maijala 2010). Climate change impacts on design floods of high hazard dams were studied in paper (I), which included 34 high hazard dams located in different parts of Finland (Fig. 7a). This includes all those high hazard dams in Finland in 2006 for which design flood is a relevant design criterion for the safety of the dam. Waste dams, where rivers do not interact with the reservoirs, were excluded. The largest catchment area of a high hazard dam is 61 071 km2 at Imatrankoski dam. Imatrankoski is located in the river Vuoksi and the catchment area is the Vuoksi watershed, the largest catchment in Finland (Fig. 7a). The smallest catchment is around a small water supply reservoir with a catchment area of 0.74 km². Most of the dams (22 out of 34) are in connection with a reservoir or lake that can be regulated by the dam, but 35 % of the dams (12 out of 34) are run-off-river type dams with negligible storage capacities. Lake percentage of the catchment areas varies from 0 % to 52 %. The 52 % lake percentage is for the smallest catchment, whereas the second largest lake percentage is 22%.

2.3.2 Flood study catchments (IV)

In 67 catchments in Finland, changes in 100-year floods due to climate change were estimated in order to produce a general overview for the country (paper IV) (Fig. 7b). The catchments were chosen to cover many types and sizes of catchments with relatively long and good-quality discharge observations. The catchments had an average of 67 years of daily discharge observations with a minimum of 29 years. The catchment areas vary from 86 km^2 to 61 000 km² and the lake percentage from zero to 22 %. Some

smaller catchments are located nested within the larger catchments, and therefore the discharge series are not totally independent of each other.

Unregulated catchments were preferred in the selection. However, in order to include all types of catchments and to represent the whole of Finland and all the important flood risk areas, 15 catchments affected by regulation were included. In nine of the 15 catchments the impact of regulation is negligible, but at six locations (Kallavesi, Vuoksi, Kymijoki, Peltokoski, Harjavalta and Isohaara, marked with squares in Fig. 7b) the effect of regulation on daily discharge is notable (the daily discharges differ on average by more than 5 % from the natural situation).

Five of the flood study catchments are also locations for high hazard dams (Isohaara in the river Kemijoki, Raasakka in the river Iijoki, Harjavalta in the river Kokemäenjoki, Imatrankoski in the river Vuoksi, Kaltimo in the river Pielisjoki in the Vuoksi watershed, marked with crosses in Fig. 7b) and were therefore included in both papers (I) and (IV). These are all dams in large rivers with large catchment areas.



Figure 7. Study catchments. a) Locations of high hazard dams (dots) studied in paper (I) and the names of the major catchments in which they are located. b) Locations of the discharge observation stations of the cathcments studied in paper (IV).

2.3.3 Case study catchments (II, III, V)

Tana River catchment (Finnish Tenojoki, Fig. 8a) was the case study site for estimation of changes in floods, which was extended to a further analysis of climate change impacts on sediment transport (paper II). The Tana River catchment is located in the border area between Finland and Norway in sub-arctic northern Fennoscandia (Fig. 8a). The catchment area is 16 000 km² with two thirds on the Norwegian side of the border (Mansikkaniemi 1970).

The impact of climate change on lake regulation (paper III) was studied in the Vuoksi watershed in eastern Finland. With a catchment area of 61 000 km² at Imatrankoski, including 9 100 km² in Russia, it is the largest catchment in Finland (Fig. 8b). The catchment is within the lake area of Finland and has a lake percentage of 20 % with most of the largest lakes being regulated for benefits in hydropower, flood protection and recreational use. Three lakes, Lakes Saimaa, Pielinen and Syväri (Fig. 8b), were examined in this study. Lake Saimaa is the largest lake in Finland with a lake area of 4 380 km² and catchment area of 61 000 km². Lake Pielinen has a lake area of 890 km² and catchment area of 20 820 km² and Lake Syväri a lake area of 81 km² and catchment area of 2 430 km². These lakes represent different types of lakes in the Vuoksi watershed: a medium sized upstream regulated lake (Lake Syväri) and large and important central lakes (Lakes Saimaa and Pielinen).

Lake Syväri has been regulated since 1959 and the current regulation permits granted in 1988 define upper and lower limits for water levels. In Lakes Pielinen and Saimaa the outflow mostly follows the natural rating curve, where the outflow at a certain water level is always the same. Thus the outflow from the lake is usually the same as the natural, unregulated outflow. However, a dam exists in the outlets of both lakes, providing the technical possibility to change the outflow, and this option is used during both flood and drought conditions (Höytämö and Leiviskä 2009).

Discharge and water balance components of 1951–2100 were simulated in four catchments (Fig. 8a) in different hydrological regions (Fig. 6a) of Finland using transient climate scenarios (paper V). From north to south these catchments are Juutuanjoki (in the hydrological region northern rivers, Fig. 6a), Nilakka and Kitusjärvi (lake area), and Hypöistenkoski (coastal rivers) (Fig. 8a). The catchment areas of Juutuanjoki, Nilakka, Kitusjärvi and Hypöistenkoski are 5 160 km², 2 160 km², 550 km² and 350 km², respectively, and the lake percentages are 5%, 18%, 10% and 0%, respectively. These catchments were selected to represent different types of catchments in different hydrological regions in Finland. The other demands for the catchments were that they are unregulated and have long discharge observations from at least 1951 onwards. All the catchments were included in a study by Korhonen and Kuusisto (2010) and in paper (IV) to enable comparisons against their results.



Figure 8. Case study areas a) in Finland in papers (II) and (V) and b) in the Vuoksi watershed in paper (III).

2.4 Climate scenarios

In each paper a slightly different set of climate scenarios (Table 1) was used, in part due to the continuous development of the climate scenarios with new and improved versions of climate models becoming available. Partly the different goals and methods of the studies stipulated different scenario needs. Three sets of scenarios can be identified (Table 1);

- the earliest scenarios from the model versions prior to 2006 from the Finnish Meteorological Institute (FMI) (Ruosteenoja et al. 2000) and Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute (SMHI) (Fenger 2007) used in paper (I) (Table 1, scenarios number 23-27)
- the scenarios from GCMs in IPCC AR4 (1–15 in Table 1; IPCC 2007a) provided by FMI (Ruosteenoja et al. 2007; Jylhä et al. 2009) in 2007 and used in papers (II–IV) and
- the RCM scenarios (16–22 in Table 1) from the ENSEMBLESproject (van der Linden and Mitchell 2009) data archive available in 2009–2010 and used in papers (II–V)

The scenarios for each study were chosen based on the following criteria: availability, model performance in northern Europe (based on e.g. IPCC 2007a and Boberg et al. 2010), past experiences of the models, and their use in other studies in the northern hemisphere. Gridded data with 2.5 degree grid (~250 km) for GCMs (Table 1, 1–15) and 0.25 degree (~25 km)

(Table 1, 16–21) or 0.5 degree (~50 km) (Table 1, 22–26) grid for RCMs was used, except for scenario 27, which was used as an average value for the whole of Finland. From the gridded data, the values (in paper V) or changes (in papers I–IV) of the meteorological variables for each sub-catchment of the WSFS hydrological model were calculated based on four closest grid points and the distance of the center point of the sub-catchment from them.

			Emission		Used in
No.	GCM	RCM	scenario	Abbreviation	paper
1	19 GCM mean	-	A2	Mean-A2	III, IV
2	19 GCM mean	-	A1B	Mean-A1B	III, IV
3	19 GCM mean	-	B1	Mean-B1	III, IV
4	ECHAM5/MPI-OM	-	A2	Echam5-A2	II, III, IV
5	ECHAM5/MPI-OM	-	A1B	Echam5-A1B	II, III, IV
6	ECHAM5/MPI-OM	-	B1	Echam5-B1	II, III, IV
7	UKMO-HadCM3-Q0 ^a	-	A2	HadCM3-A2	II, III, IV
8	UKMO-HadCM3-Qo ^a	-	A1B	HadCM3-A1B	II, III, IV
9	UKMO-HadCM3-Qo ^a	-	B1	HadCM3-B1	II, III, IV
10	CCSM3	-	A2	CCSM3-A2	III, IV
11	CCSM3	-	A1B	CCSM3-A1B	III, IV
12	CCSM3	-	B1	CCSM3-B1	III, IV
13	CNMR-CM3	-	A2	CNMR-A2	IV
14	CNMR-CM3	-	A1B	CNMR-A1B	IV
15	CNMR-CM3	-	B1	CNMR-B1	IV
16	ECHAM5/MPI-OM	RCA3	A1B	RCA3-E-A1B	IV
17	ECHAM5/MPI-OM	REMO	A1B	REMO-E-A1B	IV, V
18	UKMO-HadCM3-Q3 ^b	RCA3	A1B	RCA3-H-A1B	IV, V
19	UKMO-HadCM3-Qo ^a	HadRM	A1B	HadRM-H-A1B	IV, V
20	ARPEGE/CNMR-CM3	HIRHAM	A1B	HIRH-A-A1B	IV, V
21	UKMO-HadCM3-Q16°	RCA3 (C4Id)	A1B	C4I Had a1b	II, III
22	ECHAM5/MPI-OM	RCA3 (50km)	A1B	SMHI Ec5 a1b	II, III
23	HadAM3H	RCAO	A2	RH A2	Ι
24	HadAM3H	RCAO	B2	RH B2	Ι
25	ECHAM4/OPYC3	RCAO	A2	RE A2	Ι
26	ECHAM4/OPYC3	RCAO	B2	RE B2	Ι
27	HadCM2	-	IS92a	HadCM2	Ι

Table 1. Climate scenarios used in papers (I–V)

^a mean sensitivity version (Collins et al. 2005)

^b low sensitivity version (Collins et al. 2005)

^c high sensitivity version (Collins et al. 2005)

^d different version of the RCA3 model run by Community Climate Change Consortium for Ireland (C4I)

The climate scenarios listed in Table 1 are from different versions of four GCMs and use three SRES (IPCC 2000) emission scenarios (A2, B1 and A1B) and one IS92a emission scenario from a previous set of climate scenarios published in 1992 (IPCC 1992). In addition five RCMs (some with

several versions) were used. The RCM scenarios used different versions of three GCMs as boundary conditions. In addition a mean scenario, which was calculated by FMI as the mean of 19 GCMs from IPCC AR4 (IPCC 2007a; Jylhä et al. 2009) for three emission scenarios, was used in papers (III and IV). Altogether, 27 climate scenarios were used and the number of scenarios in individual studies varied from four (paper V) to twenty (paper IV).

The time periods in the studies were 2010–2039 (papers III, IV), 2040– 2069 (paper III) and 2070–2099 (papers I–IV), whereas transient simulations of 1951–2099 were carried out in paper (V). The control period was 1971–2000, except in paper (V) 1961–2000. The climate model results used were the daily average air temperature at 2 m height and the daily average areal precipitation of each grid cell. The increase in annual temperature from the control period to 2070–2099 projected by the 27 climate scenarios in Finland varied from 1.8 to 5.4 °C, and the increase in annual precipitation was between 8 and 34 %.

By using both GCM and RCM results in hydrological modelling in papers (I, II, III and IV) the advantages of both model types can be combined (Fronzek and Carter 2007). The advantage for GCMs is the existence of several models with different emission scenarios, while the RCMs include a more accurate representation of spatial variation especially in precipitation in scales smaller than the GCM grid size (110–250 km) (Wood et al. 2004; Christensen and Christensen 2007).

2.5 Design precipitation

The design precipitation is a precipitation of certain intensity, duration and frequency (e.g. mm per hour, day, week or month with a certain return period) used for the design of a structure (Durrans and Kirby 2004). The design precipitation in paper (I) was a two week precipitation sequence similar to that used in the Swedish guidelines for design flood evaluation (Flödeskommittén 1990; Harlin 1992) and with values defined in mm/d for each day of the 14-day period. The design precipitation was used in paper (I) to create a design flood of required return period, in this case 5 000 to 10 000 years, which is the design criteria for high hazard dams in Finland (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 1997). The design precipitations for Finland were estimated based on precipitation observations from 1959–1998 and results of frequency analysis in a report by FMI (Solantie and Uusitalo 2000). The design precipitation used should have a return period of approximately 1 000 years. The magnitude and the distribution of the 14

day design precipitation (example in Fig. 9) for each one of the 34 dams was estimated as an areal value for the entire upstream catchment area based on Solantie and Uusitalo (2000). Solantie and Uusitalo (2000) presented maps and tables for the estimation of the design precipitation depending on the time of year, the size of the area in question and the location in Finland.



Figure 9. Example of design precipitation in March–April and July–August at Pahkakoski dam in the river Iijoki catchment (paper I, based on Solantie and Uusitalo 2000)

2.5.1 Change in design precipitation due to climate change

Since extreme precipitation is usually estimated to change differently than the average precipitation (Palmer and Räisänen 2002; Beniston et al. 2007), the change in the design precipitation due to climate change was evaluated separately. Tuomenvirta et al. (2000) estimated the changes in design precipitation by 2070–2099 with the results from HadCM2 global climate model and emission scenario IS92a. The estimation of changes in design floods by 2070–2099 (paper I) was carried out using two different scenarios for the design precipitation change based on Tuomenvirta et al. (2000) in order to produce a range of possible results. In the smaller case the change in design precipitation was from 12 to 40 % depending on the month in question and in the larger case from 35 to 60 % in large catchment areas and from 35 to 85 % in small catchment areas (paper I, Fig. 5, Tuomenvirta et al. 2000).

3 Methods

3.1 Hydrological model

The hydrological model used in this thesis and papers (I–V) was the Watershed Simulation and Forecasting System (WSFS), which was developed in the National Board of Waters (Vehviläinen 1982) and later at SYKE (Vehviläinen et al. 2005). WSFS is operated at SYKE and is used as the national hydrological forecasting and flood warning system (Finnish Environment Institute 2011). WSFS is also used for regulation planning and research purposes e.g. in climate change and nutrient transport studies (Vehviläinen and Huttunen 1997; Huttunen et al. 2008). The main part of WSFS is a conceptual rainfall-runoff model based on the HBV model developed at SMHI (Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute) (Bergström 1976). The basic structure of WSFS is HBV model structure, but since the models have been developed separately since the 1980s there are many differences, e.g. in the river routing, catchment description and in some process models such as the snow model (Vehviläinen 1992; Vehviläinen et al. 2005).

The WSFS hydrological model consists of small lumped sub-catchments, with an average size of 60 km² (20–500 km²) and numbering over 6 000 in Finland (Vehviläinen et al. 2005). Water balance simulations are conducted for each sub-catchment, and sub-catchments are connected to produce the water balance and simulate water storage in the river and lake network within the entire catchment. The sub-models in WSFS include a precipitation model calculating areal value and form for precipitation, a snow model based on the temperature-index (degree-day) approach, a rainfall-runoff model with three storages, and models for lake and river routing (Fig. 10). WSFS includes approximately 2 600 lakes, which means that all lakes in Finland with an area over 1 km² are included. The data of the lakes is obtained from the national data base compiled by SYKE.

The input data to the hydrological model in all papers was daily precipitation and air temperature, either observed and in climate change simulations perturbed (papers I–IV), or simulated by RCM (paper V). Potential evapotranspiration (PET) was calculated in WSFS with an empirical equation that uses air temperature, precipitation and time of year (an index for available net radiation) (Vehviläinen and Huttunen 1997). This PET routine has been calibrated and verified against observations of Class A pan evaporation values (Vehviläinen and Huttunen 1997). The actual evapotranspiration was calculated as a function of PET and soil moisture deficit produced by the rainfall-runoff routine.



Figure 10. The basic structure of the WSFS model (Vehviläinen et al. 2005).

WSFS was calibrated against observations of snow water equivalent, extent of snow covered area, lake water level and discharge. The data used in calibration were from the national archive operated by SYKE. Since the studies (papers I–V) included in this thesis were completed over a period of seven years, different papers use slightly different versions of the WSFS, which have different parameter sets from different calibrations. The model was also constantly developed during the time period from 2004 to 2010.

The most recent set of parameters used in paper (V) was calibrated against the data from the period 1986–2009. The calibration was performed by optimization of the sum of the square of the difference between the observed and simulated water equivalent of snow, discharge, water level and the difference between simulated extent of snow-covered area and observed snow cover from satellite pictures. The weights for calibration variables were selected based on estimated relative reliabilities of the observed values and on experience of model performance with different weights. A modification of the direct search Hooke-Jeeves optimization algorithm (Hooke and Jeeves 1961) was used in the automatic calibration (Vehviläinen et al. 2005). Parameters were calibrated for the sub-models of areal air temperature and precipitation, snow accumulation and melt, evapotranspiration, runoff generation, storages and river and lake routing. Each study used only one optimal parameter set, although these were different in different studies due to new calibrations. Validation of the hydrological model results is presented in the results in section 4.1.

Since many of Finland's numerous lakes are regulated, regulation must be included in the models for most of the large catchments. Lake regulation, which was relevant in catchments studied in papers (I, III, IV), was described with model operating rules, where a certain water level for each day corresponds to a certain outflow.

In paper (I) the operating rule was tailored for each design flood event based on dam outflow capacity, regulation permits and observed outflows. In papers (III, IV) the same operating rule was used for the entire 30 year simulation period. In the latter case the results in the control period corresponded on average to the actual regulation, but the regulation was not necessarily optimal in all individual years. Modifications were made to the operation rules in papers (III, IV) in simulation of future time periods in order to improve the functioning of the operating rules in the changing climate with different timing and magnitude of spring floods. In paper (III) an operating rule suggested by Verta et al. (2007) was used as the modified regulation for Lake Pielinen (paper III, Fig. 2).

3.2 Modelling climate change impacts on hydrology

When using a hydrological model to evaluate climate change impacts, the way in which the climate change signal is transferred from the climate model to the hydrological model is one of the key issues. When using GCM results the downscaling to appropriate scale for the hydrological model is important and this is usually conducted with one of the two main methodologies, statistical and dynamical downscaling (Fowler et al. 2007).

Two methods were used in this study for the transfer of the climate signal to the hydrological model; the delta change approach (II–IV) (Fig. 11a) and the direct RCM data, where the daily bias corrected results from RCM are used as input to the hydrological model (V) (Fig. 11b). The delta change approach can be classified as the simplest method of statistical downscaling

(Fowler et al. 2007), whereas the direct RCM data relies on data dynamically downscaled by the RCM with an additional bias correction step. Changes in design floods of high hazard dams (paper I) were estimated with a separate method described in section 3.3.



Figure 11. The study methodologies used in papers (II–V). a) The delta change approach used in papers (II–IV) and b) the direct RCM data approach used in paper (V). T is air temperature and P is precipitation.

3.2.1 Delta change approach

Probably the most common method used thus far in impact studies to transfer the climate change signal from the climate model to the hydrological model is the delta change approach (also called the perturbation or change factor approach) (Arnell 1999; Hay et al. 2000; Minville et al. 2008). In this approach the observed meteorological data from a past control period is used as the reference for past climate, and projected changes of the meteorological variables due to climate change from climate scenarios are added to the observed values (Fig. 11a). The hydrological model is then run with the perturbed variables as inputs and the simulated hydrology is compared to corresponding values simulated with the observed input.

In these studies the monthly changes in air temperature (in °C) and precipitation (in %) projected by the climate scenarios are added to (for temperature) to or multiplied by (for precipitation) the observed values of temperature and precipitation, respectively, from the control period. Results from either GCMs or RCMs can be used to provide the monthly change factors for temperature an precipitation. The control period was 1971–2000 in papers (II– IV).

In papers (I, II and IV) air temperature change was calculated with a modification of the standard delta change method, proposed by Andréasson et al. (2004) (Eq. 1). According to RCM results, cold days in Finland especially in winter will warm more than the average monthly temperature (Räisänen et al. 2004; IPCC 2007a) and therefore the distribution, not only average values, of temperature will also change. The delta change approach therefore included a temperature-dependent component to relate the temperature change to the original control period temperature with seasonal linear transfer functions (Andréasson et al. 2004). In papers (II and IV) the temperature changes in the 30 year period were scaled to match the average monthly temperature change to the monthly change in the climate scenario (Eq. 1).

$$T_{mod} = T_{obs} + \Delta T = T_{obs} + s_m (a_s T_{obs} + b_s) \tag{1}$$

where T_{mod} is the modified daily air temperature, T_{obs} is the observed daily air temperature in the control period, ΔT is the temperature change, s_m is the monthly scaling factor scaling the monthly changes to the monthly changes of the climate scenario, and a_s and b_s are the coefficients of the seasonal linear transfer functions estimated from the daily air temperatures of the RCMs. The coefficients for seasonal transfer functions were estimated for five regions (north, north-central, west, central, and east) in Finland and for each RCM scenario. In paper (III) the delta change approach with only monthly changes in temperature was used, because the daily RCM data used to estimate the coefficients of Equation (1) were not yet available at the time of the study. The study region in paper (III) is also less affected by the daily variability of temperature than other catchments in Finland due to the long lake routes.

When compared with the standard delta change approach, the main influence of the temperature-dependent temperature change is in snow accumulation when temperature is close to zero. The method (Eq. 1) has very little influence on mean annual discharge values, but affects seasonal values and produces lower winter discharge and higher spring snowmelt discharge than the seasonal values obtained with the standard delta change approach. In southern Finland, the largest influence of the temperature-dependent delta change approach is during the early part of the 21st century, since by the end of the century the permanent snow cover has become rare. In northern Finland the influence is larger during the end of the century. In more temperate climates with no permanent snow cover the effect of the temperature-dependent temperature change would presumably be small.

3.2.2 Direct bias corrected RCM data

In the second method, used in paper (V), the daily air temperature and precipitation simulated by RCMs was used as input to the hydrological model after a bias correction (Fig. 11b). The bias correction method was the quantile-quantile mapping (Wood et al. 2004; Boé et al. 2007; Déqué 2007; Seguí et al. 2010) and the control period was 1961–2000.

A bias correction aims at removing the systematic bias in RCM data in the control period compared to the observed values of the same period. Bias correction is necessary since RCM biases not only affect the absolute values, but can also influence the relative changes (Leander et al. 2008). Since the tails of the distribution often play the most important role in hydrological applications, the methods having variable bias correction in different parts of the distribution are usually most suitable (Déqué 2007). The method chosen in paper (V) was the quantile-quantile mapping that was recently used in several studies (Wood et al. 2004; Boé et al. 2007; Déqué 2007; Seguí et al. 2010). In this method the simulated distributions (in practice the cumulative density functions, CDFs) of air temperature and precipitation during the control period are corrected to match their observed distributions. The differences between the simulated and observed CDFs are calculated for 99 percentiles and a linear interpolation is performed between the percentiles. The value of the closest quantile was used outside the 99 percent tail of the distribution. Through the adjustments made in the precipitation distribution, the method corrects the wet-day number of the RCM simulated precipitation to correspond to the observed wet-day number.

The bias corrections were estimated for each RCM grid point (0.25 degree grid) and for each month as a three month moving average. The same corrections estimated for 1961–2000 were applied to the entire period 1951–2099 with the assumption of a constant correction function (Seguí et al. 2010).

3.3 Modelling extreme floods

In paper (I) changes in design floods of high hazard dams in Finland were evaluated. According to the Finnish dam safety law and code of practice (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 1997), the design floods of high hazard dams should have a return period of between 5 000 and 10 000 years in the current conditions. To estimate such extreme floods a different methodology based on combining an extreme precipitation event with other critical hydrological conditions was used for these dams.

The method used to calculate the design floods is based on the Swedish design flood calculation method described in the Swedish guidelines for design flood evaluation for large dams (Flödeskommittén 1990) with some modifications. In the method used, the design flood was estimated by combining an extreme precipitation episode with other critical hydrological conditions in a hydrological model in a way that generates an extreme flood (Harlin 1992). A design precipitation period with a length of 14 days and an approximate return period of 1 000 years was moved day by day through the 40-year control period 1961–2000 with the design precipitation replacing the observed precipitation for the 14-day time period (Fig. 12). The timing of the design precipitation period which together with the other critical flood generating factors produced the most severe flood, was identified and this flood was considered to be the design flood of the dam. The most severe flood was the flood that caused the highest outflow demand and water level on the dam.

This procedure for estimating the design flood was first performed in the control period with the observed weather data from 1961–2000 and a design precipitation estimated from observations (Solantie and Uusitalo 2000, section 2.5). Then the same process was carried out for the future time period 2070–2100 (paper I, Fig. 4). The control period air temperature and precipitation series based on observations of 1961–2000 were changed with the delta change approach (Section 3.2.1) including a temperature-dependent temperature change based on results provided by Rummukainen et al. (2000). In addition, the change in design precipitation caused by climate change, which was estimated by FMI (Tuomenvirta et al. 2000, section 2.5.1), was carried out separately. The simulations for 2070–2100 were carried out with five climate scenarios from GCMs and RCMs (Table 1, 23–27) and two changes in design precipitation, which altogether lead to ten scenarios for the change in design floods.

Since the design floods were based on the combination of rare events, it is difficult to evaluate the joint probability and the exact return period of the simulated design floods. The design floods calculated with the adopted method are assumed, on average, to be rare enough to be suitable for the design of high hazard dams, i.e. their return period is at least 5 000 years (see section 4.1.2 for verification of this assumption).



Figure 12. Presentation of the method used to simulate design floods for high hazard dams (paper I).

The method used was chosen because it can simulate floods with high return periods and it is versatile enough to be used in catchments with different physical properties and for both rainfall and snowmelt floods (Harlin 1992). With this method, the shape of the design flood can change when the timing of the flood event changes. The 14-day design precipitation has a shape that can produce short term floods when the largest one day design precipitation is most important factor in the flood generation process. Long lasting floods are generated when the 14-day sequence is combined with observed heavy precipitation just before and /or after the design precipitation period. An additional advantage is that the method does not necessarily require discharge observations from the dam site as long as the hydrological model is set up for the catchments with the dam. The disadvantages include certain subjectivity, especially in the choice of the regulation strategy during the design flood, and uncertainty of the capability of the hydrological model to simulate accurately extreme floods larger than the events in the calibration and validation data (Seibert 2003). However, evaluation of extreme floods always contains uncertainty, regardless of the method used. The main goal of the study was to evaluate the relative changes in design floods caused by climate change, not the absolute values of the design floods.

3.4 Statistical and frequency analysis

Magnitudes of floods with certain return period based on the simulated or observed discharges were estimated with frequency analysis in papers (I, II, and IV). In paper (II) floods with return periods of 2 and 250 years were estimated and in paper (IV) the 100-year floods were estimated. In paper (I) 5 000- and 10 000-year floods were calculated from observations for comparison and validation of the simulated design floods. The annual maximum discharges were first identified and then the frequency distribution was fitted to the unhomogenised annual maximum values of 30 years of simulated discharges (in papers II and IV) or observed discharges (in paper I).

The distribution used in papers (I, II and IV) was the Gumbel (Extreme Value type I) distribution, since it is the most common and officially recommended distribution applied in flood analyses in Finland (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 1997). With a relatively short length of the series analysed (30 years) a two parameter distribution, such as the Gumbel distribution, with a prescribed shape parameter, provides more stable results than three parameter distributions when extrapolating to rare floods (Ward 1978).

In paper (I) three frequency distributions were used in order to estimate the uncertainty involved in the choice of the frequency distribution when estimating floods with extremely long return periods. In addition to the Gumbel distribution Pearson 3 and log-Pearson 3 distributions were also tested. The parameters of the frequency distributions were estimated with the method of moments presented by Kite (1977).

In paper (IV) the hydrological year from September to August was used to identify the annual maximum values in order to avoid picking the same flood event twice during long lasting winter floods, which are expected to become common in the large catchments in the future. When using the hydrological year instead of the calendar year in Finland the same problem does not usually occur, since summer floods occur only in small catchments where floods are short-lasting. In papers (I, II) calendar year was used since winter floods do not occur as far north as the Tana River (II) and are rare during the observation period (I).

Statistical analysis of trends in the transient hydrological scenarios was performed in paper (V). The significances of the trends in mean annual discharges (calendar year), seasonal mean discharges for winter (December, January, February), spring (March, April, May), summer (June, July, August), and autumn (September, October, November), as well as annual maximum and minimum discharge were tested with a non-parametric Mann-Kendall trend test. The risk level used was 5 %. A non-parametric linear Sen's slope estimator (Sen 1968) was used to calculate the trend magnitude. If the data had statistically significant (p<0.05) autocorrelation, serial autocorrelation was removed from the time series with the pre-whitening method of Wang and Swail (2001) and the significance of the trend was tested from the pre-whitened time series.

In paper (IV) the influence of catchment properties and climatological characteristics on the climate change impact on floods was estimated by calculating correlations between the results (the simulated average change in 100-year floods from 20 climate scenarios in the study catchments) and the explanatory variables. The coefficient of multiple correlation R was used as an estimate of the combined influence of multiple variables on the dependent variable. The linear relationship between the results and multiple variables was calculated by optimising Eq. (2) by the least squares approach to yield the highest coefficient of multiple correlation R.

$$[y] = a_1[x_1] + a_2[x_2] + \dots + a_n[x_n] + b$$
(2)

Where [y] is the vector of dependent variables (results for each study catchments), $a_i - a_n$ are the parameters, b is the constant intercept and $[x_i]$ are the vectors of the explanatory variables (properties of the study catchments, Table 4).

4 Results and Discussion

The results and discussion presented in this section are mostly based on material presented in papers (I–V) with the following additions. The results in Tables 2, 3, 5 and 6 as well as in Figures 13, 15 and 18 are from studies described in papers (IV) and (V), but are not presented in the papers in this form. From paper (IV), in which 67 study catchments and 20 climate scenarios were studied, the results from four catchments and climate scenarios in common with paper (V) are shown here in more detail to enable comparisons between the results of the two papers. Sections (4.2.1 and 4.3.2) also include comparisons between the results of papers (I), (IV) and (V) and a discussion on the differences in methods, which are not presented in the papers.

4.1 Model validation (I–V)

The performance of the hydrological model with the observed air temperature and precipitation as input was assessed with the Nash-Sutcliffe efficiency criterion R^2 (Nash and Sutcliffe 1970). It was used to compare the daily simulated discharge or water level values to the corresponding observed values. A value of 1 represents a perfect fit between observed and modelled data, whereas a value of 0 indicates that the model predictions are as accurate as the mean of the observed data.

In paper (II) R^2 for the control period discharge was 0.86 at Polmak in Tana River. In paper (III) R^2 for water levels was 0.93 for Lake Pielinen, 0.86 for Lake Syväri and 0.93 for Lake Saimaa in the calibration period 1981–2006 and 0.88, 0.72 and 0.82, respectively, for the validation period of 1971–1980 and 2007–2008.

In the 67 study catchments in paper (IV), R^2 for discharges was on average 0.87 (range 0.67–0.94) for the control period 1971–2000. For the calibration period 1981–2008 R^2 was on average 0.86 (0.60–0.94) and for the validation period 1971–1980 0.86 (0.66–0.95). For the four catchments in paper (V) R^2 was on average 0.83 (0.61–0.92) for the calibration period

1986–2009 and 0.81 (0.71–0.89) for the validation period 1961–1985. The model performance was similar in the calibration and validation periods.

The differences between the modelled and observed discharges are caused mainly by:

- model structure and parameter errors
- errors in discharge and water level observations caused e.g. by rating curve extrapolation and ice jams
- errors in areal precipitation and to a lesser extent temperature estimates that arise from deficiencies in the observation network
- differences between modelled and observed lake regulation in catchments affected by regulation.

4.1.1 Comparison of present design floods (I)

The simulated control period design floods in paper (I) should have a return period of 5 000 to 10 000 years in order to match the design criteria of high hazard dams in Finland (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 1997). To establish this, the simulated floods of the control period 1961–2000 were compared with 5 000- and 10 000-year flood estimates calculated with three frequency distributions for six dams, where there were long discharge observation series (on average 74 years) and the assumptions of independent and random observations were met. Even with the relatively long time series, the extrapolation of frequency distributions to such extreme return periods as 5 000–10 000 years contains large uncertainties and must be viewed with extreme caution (Ward 1978).

The simulated design floods were of the same magnitude or smaller than the estimated flood magnitudes from Gumbel distribution and of the same magnitude or larger than estimated from Pearson 3 and log-Pearson 3 distributions (paper I, Table 3). There were large differences between the results from the different distributions, mainly because the estimated coefficient of skewness in Pearson 3 and log-Pearson 3 distributions was considerably smaller than the predetermined coefficient of skewness in the Gumbel distribution. When extrapolating to long return periods this led to considerably larger flood estimates with the Gumbel distribution than with the other two distributions. Based on these results, the model simulated floods should have approximately correct return periods for use as design floods for high hazard dams in the estimation of climate change impacts on design floods.

4.1.2 Bias corrected RCM data (V)

In paper (V) the daily air temperature and precipitation values from four RCMs were bias corrected with quantile-quantile mapping method (section 3.2.2) and the resulting time series were compared against observations during 1961–2000 in the four study catchments. The bias correction removed most of the bias in temperature and precipitation data. The average bias in temperature decreased from -2.2-+0.9 °C in the uncorrected values to less than 0.1 °C with the bias correction and the precipitation bias decreased from +14-+30% to approximately -3% compared to observed values (paper V, Table 3).

When the uncorrected air temperature and precipitation values from the RCMs were used as input to the hydrological model, the average discharges of the four study catchments were overestimated by 15-63% with different scenarios in 1961–2000 (paper V, Table 4). This was of similar magnitude to the overestimation discharge by +6-+72 % when using RCM precipitation and temperature as inputs to a hydrological model in the Baltic Sea drainage basin reported by Graham et al. (2007b). With the bias correction the simulated average discharge was 2-3 % smaller than the reference discharge simulated with observed temperature and precipitation input. The reference average discharge in turn was approximately 5 % smaller than the observed average discharge. The differences between simulated and observed mean annual discharge values were not statistically significant when tested with the student's t-test at 5 % confidence level. However, there were significant differences in the simulated and observed seasonal mean discharges on average in 6 % of scenarios and seasons, which is close to the expected non-acceptance rate with 5 % confidence level. The mean annual maximum discharge simulated with the bias corrected RCM data was on average 8 % lower (-27-+14 %) than the corresponding observed values (paper V, Table 4).

These differences in simulated and observed discharges were caused by the structural and parameter uncertainty of the hydrological model, by the remaining biases in the RCM temperature and precipitation series, and by natural variability between different realisations of the control period climate in RCM and in observations. As noted by Wood et al. (2004), the monthly temporal scale and separate correction of temperature and precipitation fails to correct subtle differences between climate model simulations and observed temperature and precipitation.

4.2 Hydrology and climate change (III, IV, V)

Papers (III–V) all project similar changes in hydrology by the end of the century; large changes in seasonal discharge dynamics and on average a moderate increase in mean annual discharge. The projected average change from 20 climate scenarios in mean annual discharge by 2070–99 compared to the control period (paper IV) was a 10 % increase (Table 2). The variability in mean annual discharge between 20 climate scenarios (paper IV) was however large, from a 2 % decrease to a 29 % increase (Table 2). In individual catchments there were even larger differences, from 20 % decrease to 42 % increase in mean annual discharge. Generally the increases in mean annual discharge projected to south-western Finland were slightly smaller than the increases in eastern and northern Finland, which was mainly caused by larger increases in precipitation further north and east in most climate scenarios.

Table 2. Changes (%) in annual and seasonal mean discharge from 1971–2000 to 2070–2099 in Finland and its different hydrological regions (Fig. 6a). The average, maximum (max) and minimum (min) changes from 20 scenarios (based on 67 study catchments in paper (IV), Fig. 7b). Results are from the delta change approach.

	Annual	Winter	Spring	Summer	Autumn
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Finland					
Average	9.9	120	5.4	-31	16
Max	29	170	11	-5.1	49
Min	-1.9	61	-9.8	-47	-3.1
Northern rivers					
Average	10	120	30	-31	30
Max	19	220	43	-16	46
Min	2.3	50	12	-44	13
Coastal rivers					
Average	9.2	130	-30	-25	18
Max	34	170	-15	28	65
Min	-9.0	73	-49	-49	-14
Lake area					
Average	11	100	17	-36	3
Max	33	130	33	-13	39
Min	-3.7	61	2.5	-52	-19

The seasonal changes by 2070–99 were large, with increases in winter discharges and water levels and decreasing and earlier snowmelt discharge peaks (Table 2; Fig. 13). Winter discharges increased considerably (on average 120 %, Table 2) everywhere, whereas changes in spring discharge varied in different parts of the country. In coastal and southern parts of Finland

the spring discharge values decreased (15–49 %), because the decrease in snow accumulation caused the spring snowmelt peaks almost to disappear (Table 2, Fig. 13 g, h). By the end of the century permanent winter with prolonged air temperature below freezing became rare in southern Finland. In the more northern parts of the country and in the lake areas with discharge retention due to lake storage capacity, the period of spring snowmelt currently lasts until the summer months (typically until June, Fig. 13 a, b). Earlier timing of spring snowmelt caused by warmer temperatures lead to an increase in spring (March-May) discharge (on average by 3 to 43 %), while summer discharge decreased by 13 to 52 % (Table 2). In coastal rivers the summer discharge on average decreased (25 %), but the scenarios with largest increases in summer precipitation produced increases in summer discharge. Autumn discharge on average increased due to increases in autumn precipitation, but differences between climate scenarios were considerable. In the lake area the increase in autumn discharge was smaller and with some scenarios the autumn discharge even decreased. This was mostly caused by increases in lake evaporation and by the smaller summer runoff affecting the autumn discharges due to retention in the lake routes.

In the lakes in the Vuoksi watershed studied in paper (III), the changes in mean annual water levels were rather small in most climate scenarios in Lake Pielinen and Lake Saimaa, but the seasonal changes were significant. The average seasonal (winter, spring, summer, autumn) changes in water levels in 2040–2069 and 2070–2099 from 14 climate scenarios were statistically significant (students t-test at 5% significance level), except in Lake Syväri during autumn. The water levels increased during winter and decreased during summer months. Already during 2010–39 the seasonal changes in water levels from the control period were on average statistically significant during most seasons. The variation between the results from 14 climate scenarios was however large (paper III, Table 2).

Statistical analysis of transient hydrological scenarios in 1951–2099 based on direct bias corrected RCM data revealed significant trends especially in seasonal mean discharge, but also large differences between the four catchments and four climate scenarios (paper V, Table 5). There were statistically significant trends in mean annual discharge in 1951–2099 in seven out of 16 cases (four climate scenarios and four catchments). In the northernmost catchment Juutuanjoki, there were increases in mean annual discharge with three out of four scenarios, whereas the other catchments only had increases with one scenario (the wettest scenario RCA3-H) (paper V, Fig. 7). In addition in the southernmost catchment Hypöistenkoski one scenario produced significantly decreasing mean annual discharge. The increasing trend in winter discharge was statistically significant in all the catchments and all the scenarios in 1951–2099 (paper V, Table 5, Fig. 8). Trends in summer discharge were mostly decreasing, with one exception of increasing trend in the southernmost catchment Hypöistenkoski. In Juutuanjoki (northern river) and in Nilakka (large lake) spring discharge showed an increasing trend with all climate scenarios due to shift to earlier snowmelt peak during spring moths, whereas in the south in Hypöistenkoski spring discharge decreased as a result of less snow accumulated during the winter. During autumn the scenarios produced both increased and decreased discharges in all other catchments except in Juutuanjoki, where all scenarios produced increases.

The clearest and most consistent trends and changes in simulated discharges were related to increase of air temperature rather than the changes in precipitation. This is because the projected temperature increases are more consistent among the climate scenarios (Barnett et al. 2005) and are in relative terms more certain than the projected precipitation changes (Räisänen and Ruokolainen 2006). Thus far observed changes in discharge are also the ones related to shift in air temperature (Hisdal et al. 2007; Korhonen and Kuusisto 2010; Wilson et al. 2010). Some consistent trends related to precipitation changes were however found, such as increases in mean annual and autumn discharges in northern Finland, where the projected precipitation changes were larger than further south.

The results in papers (III-V) on changes in hydrology were in agreement with results from previous studies in Finland (Vehviläinen and Huttunen, 1997; Silander et al. 2006) and other Nordic countries (Andréasson et al. 2004; Beldring et al. 2006; Beldring et al. 2008; Graham et al. 2007a; Schneiderman et al. 2009). Mean annual runoff was projected to increase in northern and central Sweden and in most of Norway (Beldring et al. 2006), whereas different scenarios produced both increases and decreases in southern Sweden (Andréasson et al. 2004). Winter discharge was projected to increase in all studies and spring snowmelt discharge peaks occurred earlier (e.g. Andréasson et al. 2004; Beldring et al. 2008). Compared to previous studies in Finland this thesis and papers (III-V) produce more comprehensive results of projected changes in hydrology in Finland both in terms of spatial coverage and representation of climate change uncertainties with the use of several climate scenarios. The trend analysis of the transient hydrological scenarios produced with bias corrected RCM data as input of the hydrological model (paper V) is to the author's knowledge the first of its kind to be published in the Nordic countries to date. One of the few studies that use transient RCM scenarios as input to the hydrological model and analyse the resulting continuous time series was carried out in Canada by Minville et al. (2010). They reported positive trends by 2099 in hydropower production, which is closely correlated to discharge. Another recent study by Kay and Jones (2012) estimated transient changes in flood frequency in the UK based on transient climate projections, and revealed increasing flood risk and non-linear trends with varying statistical significance.

4.2.1 Comparison of transfer methods (IV, V)

The effect of the method used to transfer the climate signal from the climate model to the hydrological model was also studied. The delta change approach (papers II–IV), and the direct bias corrected RCM data (V) were compared at four study catchments (Fig. 8a) with four RCM scenarios used in paper (V) (Fig. 13 and Table 3). The results from the delta change approach were a sub-set from the larger group of catchments and scenarios in paper (IV).

The comparison shows that the projected increases in mean annual discharge were similar, but slightly smaller (on average 2.5 percentage points) in the delta change approach than in the approach using direct RCM data (Table 3). Winter discharge was larger in the delta change approach than with the direct RCM data, except in Hypöistenkoski, while spring discharge was smaller except in Nilakka. Summer discharge was smaller in all catchments in the delta change approach than with the direct RCM data. Autumn discharge showed only small differences, with slightly smaller discharge in the delta change approach, except in Kitusjärvi.

Hydrographs of average daily discharge produced with the two methods are mostly similar (Fig. 13). The largest differences include earlier and smaller spring snowmelt discharge in Juutuanjoki in the delta change approach (Fig. 13a, b) and smaller summer discharge in all the catchments. It should be noted that the control period discharges were also different in the two approaches. In the delta change approach the observed temperature and precipitation are used as input to the hydrological model in the control period and simulated discharge is close to observed values (e.g. the average Nash-Sutcliffe efficiency criterion R^2 for the four catchments in the validation period was 0.81). On the other hand the direct RCM data approach uses the bias corrected RCM temperature and precipitation for the control period and differs more from observations. Year to year comparisons with observations are not possible, since the RCM simulated data is one realisation of the control period climate not related to the observed climate on a daily basis, and only the average statistical properties should be similar between the series (see section 4.1.2 for validation).

The comparison between discharge simulated with the delta change approach and with direct bias corrected RCM data is the first of its kind in Finland, and the first in catchments with a high lake percentage (Nilakka). In other countries several researchers have carried out similar comparisons (Graham et al. 2007a; Lenderink et al. 2007; Beldring et al. 2008; Yang et al. 2010). The authors of these studies found mostly relatively small differences in the future mean annual discharges produced by the different methods, but found differences in seasonal and extreme values. Especially the accumulation and melt of snow is sensitive to the methods used (Beldring et al. 2008), with the delta change approach usually producing larger decreases in snow accumulation than the direct RCM data. See also section 4.4 for more discussion on transfer methods.

Table 3. Changes (%) in annual and seasonal mean discharge from 1971–2000 to 2070–2099 with two methods of transferring the climate signal to the hydrological model. Average of four scenarios (scenarios in paper V) in four catchments (for locations see Fig. 8a).

	Juutuanjoki	Nilakka	Kitusjärvi	Hypöisten-
	(%)	(%)	(%)	koski (%)
Delta change				
Annual	14.9	8.3	8.6	5.8
Spring	70.2	45.2	-4.1	-46.4
Summer	-35.3	-37.8	-51.6	7.4
Autumn	33.8	-14.0	4.4	12.5
Winter	89.4	56.8	119.5	77.0
Direct bias cor- rected RCM data				
Annual	18.2	10.5	10.2	8.3
Spring	79.7	42.3	6.2	-42.9
Summer	-28.6	-27.6	-40.1	10.0
Autumn	35.9	-9.7	3.6	14.2
Winter	70.3	46.8	87.1	84.6



Figure 13. Daily average simulated (sim) discharges in 1971–2000 and 2070–2099 with the delta change approach (left) and direct bias corrected RCM data (right) from four RCM scenarios (paper V) and observed (obs) discharges in 1971–2000. a–b) Juutuanjoki, c–d) Nilakka, e–f) Kitusjärvi and g–h) Hypöistenkoski.

4.2.2 Water balance

Annual changes (in mm) in the water balance components in four study catchments with the direct RCM data for the 21st century (paper V) and with the delta change approach for 2070–2099 are shown in Figure 14. Increases in precipitation occurred in all catchments and scenarios except for one scenario (HIRH-A-A1B) in Hypöistenkoski in southern Finland (Fig. 14m). Potential evapotranspiration (PET, Fig. 14b,f,j,n) and actual evapotranspiration (ET, Fig. 14c,g,k,o) increased with all the scenarios. ET increased less than PET, because decreasing soil moisture during summer (Fig. 15c) limited the increase of ET. Increases in lake evaporation (Fig. 15b) were not limited by lack of water and were larger than increases in ET. Increases in ET cancelled out some of the increases in precipitation and therefore changes in runoff (Fig. 14d,h,l,p) were smaller than the changes in precipitation.

The average increase in runoff by 2070–2099 compared to the control period was larger (50–62 mm/a, 15–18 %) in Juutuanjoki in northern Finland than in the three catchments in southern and central Finland (19–41 mm/a, 6–12 %). The four climate scenarios produced a wide range of results for precipitation and runoff change. Change in runoff by 2070–2099 varied from -21 % to +46 % with the widest range in Hypöistenkoski in southern Finland, where the range of precipitation change was also widest. The changes in runoff during the 21st century were not linear but contained periods of faster and slower changes (Fig. 14d,h,l,p). The projected changes in water balance components were similar in magnitude to those reported by Vehviläinen and Huttunen (1997) and Schneiderman et al. (2009) for case study catchments in Finland.



Figure 14. Change (in mm) from the control period in mean annual water balance components (precipitation (a,e,i,m), potential evapotranspiration (b,f,j,n), evapotranspiration (c,g,k,o) and runoff (d,h,l,p)) as 30 year moving averages in 2001–2099. Results are from Juutuanjoki (a–d), Nilakka (e–h), Kitusjärvi (i–l) and Hypöistenkoski (m–p). The grey area is the range from four climate scenarios and the black line is the mean value. Vertical lines show the corresponding range of change in 2070–2099 with the delta change approach.

Results from the delta change approach for 2070–2099 (vertical lines in Fig. 14) were rather similar to the direct RCM data results (Fig. 14 gray area). The main difference was that direct RCM data produced on average 2–3 percentage points larger increases in mean annual runoff (Fig. 14, Table 3) by 2070–2099 and smaller ranges of precipitation (Fig. 14a,e,i,m) and runoff (Fig. 14d,h,l,p) change than the delta change approach in all catchments except Juutuanjoki. Evapotranspiration was higher in the delta change approach than with the direct RCM data in Nilakka (Fig. 14g), but not in the other catchments (Fig. 14c,k,o).



Figure 15. Change (in mm) from the control period in a) mean annual lake evaporation, b) mean annual maximum snow water equivalent (SWE) and c) mean summer (June–August) soil moisture as 30 year moving averages in 2001–2099 in Nilakka. The grey area is the range from four scenarios and the black line is the mean value.

4.3 Floods and climate change (I, II, IV)

Climate change induced changes in floods are different than changes in mean discharge and therefore future floods must be studied separately (Boorman and Sefton 1997). The 100-year floods in Finland estimated with the delta change approach in 67 catchments (Fig. 7b) (paper IV) decreased on average by 16 % (8–24 % in 20 climate scenarios) in 2070–2099 compared to the control period 1971–2000. The results however varied widely between different catchments and regions (Fig. 16). There was a clear shift in flood seasonality with increasing autumn and winter floods and decreasing spring floods especially in southern and central Finland. When 100-year floods were estimated separately for the extended spring season (March–June) and the rest of the year, the floods decreased in spring on average 15–40 % by 2070–2099, and increased 12–40 % in other seasons. In areas in northern and central Finland, where snowmelt floods are currently the

largest floods, the annual floods decreased or remained unchanged. Decreases in floods, which were largest in central and north-central Finland, were caused by decreasing snow accumulation due to warmer winters. In northern Finland the decreases were smaller and some scenarios projected no change in floods. The colder temperatures in northern Finland meant that more snow and larger snowmelt floods still remained in 2070–2099 and in some scenarios increasing precipitation was able to compensate for the warmer and shorter winter. Similar results were found in paper (II) in the river Tana in northern Lapland.



Figure 16. Average (left), minimum (middle) and maximum (right) change in 100year floods from 20 climate scenarios in 2010–2039 (above) and 2070–2099 (below) from the control period (paper IV).

Increases in the 100-year floods by 2070–2099 took place especially in large central lakes and their outflow rivers in the lake area. Floods in these catchments are long-lasting and can be caused by prolonged heavy rainfall in autumn as well as by spring snowmelt (Fig. 18). The floods in central lakes increased due to increased precipitation, milder winters with more rain, more frequent snowmelt, and low winter evaporation rates. In some small rivers on the southern coast floods also increased with some climate scenarios, because of projected increase of autumn and winter precipitation and floods. In many regions in coastal areas and central Finland there was no consistent climate change signal in flood magnitudes, and both increases and decreases were produced depending on the climate scenario. In 2010– 2039 the results were less clear than in 2070–99; there were less increases in floods, the projected changes in floods were smaller in magnitude than in 2070–2099, and there were more catchments with no significant change (Fig. 16).

The extreme precipitation in the delta change approach changes by the same percentage as average precipitation and therefore the larger increases in extreme precipitation projected in many studies (Frei et al. 2006; Beniston 2007; IPCC 2007a) are not taken into account. However, in most study catchments in paper (IV) the largest floods were caused by snowmelt or the floods were long lasting due to large catchment areas and high lake percentage. Therefore the effect of extreme precipitation was more limited and the applicability of the delta change approach may be adequate in most catchments. However, in the coastal area with small catchments, especially in southern Finland, short term heavy precipitation may cause extreme floods, although these have not been very common in the past (Fig. 6d). In these catchments the future floods could be larger (increase more or decrease less) than in the results presented here (Fig. 16), if changes in extreme precipitation increase more than average precipitation. However, results by Jylhä et al. (2007) indicated that the differences between seasonal average and 5 day maximum values of precipitation from several RCMs in Finland were not very large; the increases in average summer precipitation were 5–22 % while the 5 day annual maximum summer precipitation increased by 8-24 %.

The 20 climate scenarios used to estimate the changes in 100-year floods (paper IV) produced a wide range of results by 2070–2099, with average changes ranging from -8 % to -24 % (paper IV, Fig. 5). The largest differences were between climate scenarios from different GCMs (difference between climate scenarios in average change in floods by 2070–99 for the 67 catchments was 5.1 percentage points), whereas the differences between scenarios from RCMs and corresponding GCMs were less important (3.3 percentage points). The smallest differences were between scenarios with different emission scenarios (1.7 percentage points). This indicates that the GCMs are a greater source of uncertainty than the choice of the emission scenario or RCM. Previous studies by e.g. Steele-Dunne et al. (2008) in Ireland and Prudhomme and Davies (2009) in the UK have also reported GCMs as the largest source of uncertainty in the estimation of hydrological impacts of climate change.

The results of changes in 100-year floods in Finland (paper IV) demonstrate that even within a relatively small country like Finland the impacts of climate change on floods can vary substantially due to regional differences in climatic conditions and catchment characteristics. The correlations between the catchment and climate characteristics and the average changes from 20 scenarios in 100-year floods by 2010-2039 and 2070-2099 were calculated (section 3.4) in order to better understand the factors affecting the results. Important explanatory variables in the changes of floods included many present day characteristics such as timing of the floods, importance of snowmelt floods, latitude, lake percentage, average maximum snow water equivalent (SWE), winter temperature and catchment size (Table 4). These can explain most of the average changes in floods in different catchments, and their explanatory power improves when applied separately to different hydrological regions. When all the different variables (Table 4) were combined, the coefficient of multiple correlation R (section 3.4) was 0.88 in 2070-2099 and 0.77 in 2010-2039 for the entire area of Finland. When the same analysis was applied separately to the three hydrological regions (Fig. 6a) the coefficient of multiple correlation was 0.96 for the lake area, 0.95 for the coastal rivers and 0.95 for the northern rivers for 2070-2099.

Table 4. Correlation between the average changes of 100-year floods from the 20 scenarios and the properties of the study catchments during the control period. Statistically significant correlations (P<0.05, N=67) are marked with an asterisk. (paper IV)

Catchment and climate char-	Correlation r		
acteristics	2010-2039	2070-2099	
	average change	average change	
Percentage of spring floods	-0.52*	-0.70*	
Ratio of spring 100 y floods to	-0.48*	-0.73*	
floods in other seasons			
Latitude	-0.10	-0.35*	
(Latitude) ²	-0.09	-0.34*	
Longitude	-0.15	0.26*	
Winter temperature	0.06	0.32^{*}	
Annual maximum SWE	-0.19	-0.45*	
Size of the catchment (km ²)	0.37^{*}	0.34^{*}	
Lake percentage	0.19	0.41*	

*Statistically significant correlation

The change in seasonality of floods is another variable that can be correlated to catchment meteorological and physical properties. The most important explanatory variables explaining the projected change in seasonality by 2070–99 were latitude, winter temperature and average maximum SWE in the control period. The change in seasonality was smallest in the coldest and snowiest regions in northern Finland. The catchment physical properties such as size and lake percentage had only a small influence on the projected change in seasonality. However, not all of the physical properties such as vegetation cover, soil type and topography were included in the analysis.

Regionalization of the results for changes in floods within Finland by using these variables is possible, although it should only be used as a very preliminary estimate. While the influence of local climate and catchment characteristics on climate change impacts on hydrology have been addressed earlier (e.g. Arnell and Reynard 1996), the quantification has thus far been carried out in only a few studies (e.g. Lawrence and Hisdal 2011).

Paper (IV) is the first study in Finland producing national scale estimates of changes in floods for the entire country. Other Nordic studies have produced rather similar results on changes of floods (Andréasson et al. 2004; Beldring et al. 2008; Lawrence and Hisdal 2011). Increases were projected in regions where floods are predominately caused by rainfall, such as western Norway (Lawrence and Hisdal 2011). Spring snowmelt floods were projected to occur earlier and to decrease (Andréasson et al. 2004; Lawrence and Hisdal 2011), with the exception of a study catchment in the mountains in northern Sweden, where spring floods remained unchanged in magnitude (Andréasson et al. 2004). Increases in floods in the large central lakes in the lake areas were also previously reported by Vehviläinen and Huttunen (1997) and Bergström et al. (2006). Climate change influences on floods often differ depending on the flood producing mechanism (e.g. snowmelt vs. rainfall), since the processes which generate the floods are different for each type (Loukas et al. 2002).

Comparison with recent continental scale studies on flood risk in Europe (Lehner et al. 2006; Dankers and Feyen 2008; 2009) show that the results presented here differ from both of these studies in some parts of Finland. Lehner et al. (2006), who used monthly GCM data redistributed to daily values, found an increase in flood risk in Finland. The results appear to ignore the decreases in snow, which could be caused by the oversimplified snow model together with the disaggregation of GCM simulated monthly mean values to daily data. Dankers and Feyen (2008; 2009) on the other hand used high-resolution RCM daily data without bias correction and therefore the RCM biases influenced their results. They found mostly decreases in floods in Finland, except with some scenarios in northern Finland (Dankers and Feyen 2009). In most parts of Finland the direction of change in floods in paper (IV) was the same as in the results by Dankers and Feyen (2008; 2009). However, the results differed especially in the lake area, where this study found increasing trends in floods of the large lakes and their outflow rivers, whereas Dankers and Feyen (2008; 2009) projected decreases in this area. The model used by Dankers and Feyen did not include lakes because of time restrictions and unavailability of lake data. The model was therefore unable to reproduce the flood regime of the lake area, which is profoundly affected by the storage volume of lakes. By comparison the WSFS model has the advantage of access to national databases and accounts for retention in approximately 2 600 lakes, all lakes larger than 1.0 km², and is therefore more reliable in the lake area.

The results here highlight the importance of comprehensive climatological and hydrological knowledge and the use of several climate scenarios in estimation of climate change impacts on flooding. Generalisations based on only a few case studies or large scale flood assessments using only a few climate scenarios or limited data should be avoided in countries with variable hydrological conditions. The reliability of large scale assessment on smaller scale should be carefully assessed before the generalisations can be utilized for planning purposes. In Finland the results of paper (IV) project decreasing floods in most catchments with most scenarios. Unfortunately in some of the most important flood risk areas with high potential damages, future floods are projected to stay unchanged or to increase. Therefore total flood risk does not necessarily decrease due to climate change.

4.3.1 Design floods for high hazard dams

The changes in design floods by 2070–2100 were estimated using a method based on maximising the flood generating factors with the use of design precipitation (section 2.5) and hydrological modelling in 34 dam sites (Fig. 7a) (paper I). Five climate scenarios (Table 1, 23–27) and two projected changes of the design precipitation (section 2.5.1) were used to produce a range of possible future extreme conditions.

The effect of climate change on design floods depended on the main flood producing mechanism. At the dams in northern Finland, where the design flood was caused by a combination of snowmelt and rainfall both in the control period and in 2070–2100, the floods remained on average at about the same magnitude as at present (Fig. 17). The decrease in snow due to warmer and shorter winters was compensated by the increases in precipitation and design precipitation. In contrast, at the dams in western and southern Finland, where the design floods were mostly caused by heavy summer precipitation events, the design floods increased (Fig. 17). This timing of the design floods in western and southern Finland was partly due to the storage and regulation of the dam reservoirs. At these dam sites the timing of the design floods remained the same in both control and future time periods, but the increase in design precipitation (20–85 % in July– August) caused the design floods of 2070–2100 to increase considerably. At those dams in eastern Finland, where the timing of the design flood changed from spring in the control period to summer or autumn flood in 2070–2100, the direction of change in design flood magnitude varied from decrease to increase. The change depended on the scenario used and on how dominant the spring flood at present was at the site in question.

The range of projected changes was large at most of the dams due to the considerable differences in the scenarios used for 2070–2100 (Fig. 17). In spite of the wide range of changes, there were consistent increases (by 6–74%) at the dams in western and southern Finland, where design floods occurred during summer. The main cause of the changes in the summer and autumn design floods was the increase in design precipitation. In northern and eastern Finland, the range of change varied from decrease to increase. The decreases were caused by smaller accumulation of snow, while the increases can mostly be attributed to the increase in design precipitation. The spring floods were sensitive to air temperature during winter and spring and the climate scenario used had a large effect on the results.



Figure 17. a) The smallest and b) the largest changes (in %) in design floods of high hazard dams from the control period to 2070–2100. The smallest and largest changes are out of the floods in 2070–2100 simulated with ten scenarios. (Paper I)

The results can be used to identify the dams where climate change potentially causes the largest risks to dam safety in the future through changes in design floods and where the clearest adaptation needs exist. At dams where the design floods are likely to increase, the likelihood of dam failure due to inadequate design will also increase. However, at many of the dams the spillway capacities are large enough to handle even the increased design floods. The study (paper I) identified five dams where projected climate change effects are likely to cause the present spillway capacity to be inadequate in the future. All these dams were in southern or western Finland. The results of this study are being used as part of the regular dam safety inspections in Finland.

Studies on climate change impacts on dam design floods (e.g. Cameron et al. 2000; Andréasson et al. 2007; Bergström et al. 2012) have mostly been carried out in case study catchments. A nationwide study as presented in paper (I) has not been previously carried out in the Nordic countries and according to the author's knowledge this study was among the first of its kind in the world. Andréasson et al. (2007) carried out sensitivity analysis of the Swedish dam safety guidelines in changing climate at a few dam sites and concluded that uncertainty between different climate scenarios and dams was great and that the most important factor determining the changes due to climate change was whether the design floods are generated by rain or snowmelt. Comparison of the different dam safety estimation methods in Sweden, Norway and Finland revealed rather similar results with both small increases and decreases in design floods in the four study catchments (Bergström et al. 2012). The different methods, models, and climate scenarios all contributed to the differences between the results from different countries.

The method to estimate changes in design floods could be further improved by changing the shape and the spatial variability of the 14-day design precipitation period along with its magnitude and timing as the climate changes. Currently the same change factors are used for the entire precipitation period and entire country, since the data available at the time of the estimation was deemed insufficient for a more rigorous definition of the changes in the design precipitation period (Tuomenvirta et al. 2000). However, with the improved availability and resolution of RCM data separate changes e.g. for the 1, 5, 14 day precipitation (Andréasson et al. 2007) and for the different parts of the country could be estimated. The timing and also the shape of the design flood can already change from the control period to the future period, when the control period temperature and precipitation are changed according to climate scenarios. However, the use of more detailed definition of changes in design precipitation period would allow for more changes in the temporal properties of the design floods.

4.3.2 Comparison of flood results

Comparison of the results of the two national scale flood studies of papers (I) and (IV) (Fig. 16, Fig. 17) shows that the largest difference in the results
occurs in the west coast. The dam design floods in the west coast in paper (I) increased more by 2070–2099 than the 100-year floods in the same region. This is mostly explained by the differences in study catchments: the high hazard dams in the western coastal region (Ostrobothnia) have artificial reservoirs with relatively large storage capacity during spring and often possibilities to divert part of the discharges past the dam. Therefore the simulated present-day design floods of the dams were summer floods caused by short-time heavy precipitation events, whereas the largest floods in current climate in the other parts of coastal rivers are usually spring snowmelt floods. The responses of these two types of floods to climate change are quite different, since snow accumulation is expected to decrease and extreme precipitation to increase.

Comparison of results of changes in floods by 2070-2099 in the five common catchments in papers (I) and (IV) (Table 5, locations shown in Fig. 7b) shows similar results especially in the outflow rivers of large lakes (Harjavalta, Vuoksi, Kaltimo). In the two large northern rivers (Isohaara and Raasakka, Table 5) there were decreases in the 100-year floods in paper (IV), whereas the design floods varied from moderate increase to moderate decrease in paper (I). The differences between the results were mostly due to the differences in methodologies. In the estimation of the design floods in the northern rivers a large increase in design precipitation and a single year with remaining large snow accumulation were used as a basis of the analysis, whereas the delta change approach relied on 30 years of simulation and frequency analysis from the annual maximums of this period to estimate the 100-year floods. The changes in extreme precipitation are different between the two methods, as are the return periods of the floods. Extreme floods may indeed change differently than more frequent ones. The two studies also employed different climate scenarios.

Study catchments	Change in 100- year floods (%) in 2070–2099		Change in design floods of high hazard dams (%) in 2070–2099	
	Min	Max	Min	Max
Isohaara	-43	-11	-12	+12
Raasakka	-59	-31	-22	+15
Harjavalta	+8	+39	+12	+38
Kaltimo, Pielisjoki	-7	+23	-21	+25
Imatra, Vuoksi	+22	+41	+23	+69

Table 5. Comparison of the changes in 100-year floods and in design floods of high hazard dams in the common catchments in papers (I) and (IV) (locations in Fig. 7b)

Results from the Tana river at Polmak in paper (II) (change in 250-year floods -40-+5 % by 2070-2099, paper II, Table 4) were similar to the results at Onnelansuvanto situated further upstream of the Tana river (change in 100-year flood -37-+1% by 2070-2099) and included in paper (IV). Both showed changes in floods that varied from very small increase (1-5 %) to large decrease (up to 37-40 %). Similarities of the results are not surprising considering the same hydrological model and similar methods and climate scenarios were used in both studies.

In order to estimate how the method used to transfer the climate signal to the hydrological model influences the flood results, 100-year floods based on the delta change approach and the direct bias corrected RCM data were compared (Table 6). In both cases the 100-year floods were calculated with the Gumbel distribution from the annual maximum discharges simulated with the WSFS hydrological model with the four scenarios and four catchments (Fig. 8a) used in paper (V). These results are based on the simulations made for papers (IV) and (V), but are not presented in those papers. The results show that the direct RCM data produced on average smaller decreases in 100-year floods in Juutuanjoki and larger decreases in Hypöistenkoski than the delta change approach (Table 6, Fig. 18). In Nilakka and Kitusjärvi the average changes were very similar in both methods, but the range of changes was wider with the direct RCM data. Even when the average results are not markedly different, some individual scenarios produce very different results with different methods (Table 6).

The wider range in results from direct RCM data can be partly explained by the changes in annual and interannual variability of the direct RCM data. The other explanation is the use of different control period values for each scenario in the direct RCM data compared to the single control period value for all scenarios in the delta change approach. With some scenarios the control period 100-year floods based the direct RCM data differed considerably (-19–+11%) from 100-year floods based on observations. For example in Juutuanjoki the increase in 100-year flood with the HIRH-A-A1B scenario (Table 6) with direct RCM data was partly caused by the low estimate for 100-year flood magnitude in the control period for this scenario. This underestimation of the control period 100-year flood (19 % smaller than the 100-year flood estimated from observations of 1971–2000) may have been caused by natural variability in the 30 year control period, remaining biases in the RCM data and inaccuracies of the hydrological model.

In Juutuanjoki higher snow accumulation and later snowmelt peak was simulated in 2070–2099 with the direct RCM data than with the delta change approach (Fig. 18a,b). Snow accumulation especially during spring, when air temperature fluctuates close to the freezing point, was very sensitive to changes in temperature. In principle the direct RCM data can better take into account the changes in variability of temperature. During colder years a large amount of snow can still accumulate especially with the increases in precipitation, and large snowmelt floods still occasionally occur.

Table 6. Change in 100-year floods (in %) in 2070–2099 compared to 1971–2000 in four catchments with the delta change approach (IV) and the direct bias corrected RCM data (V). Flood magnitudes are calculated with the Gumbel distribution.

Method	a) Juutuan-	b) Nilakka	c) Kitusjärvi	d) Hypöis-
Scenario	joki (%)	(%)	(%)	tenkoski (%)
Delta change				
REMO-E-A1B	-15	-6.8	-41	-14
RCA3-H-A1B	-18	+13	-26	-13
HadRM-H-A1B	-26	-3.4	-24	-19
HIRH-A-A1B	-19	-10	-40	-21
Average	-20	-1.8	-33	-17
Direct bias cor-				
rected RCM data				
REMO-E-A1B	-41	-22	-47	-17
RCA3-H-A1B	-17	+16	-13	-16
HadRM-H-A1B	-0.1	+8.8	-20	-24
HIRH-A-A1B	+13	-10	-43	-39
Average	-11	-1.8	-31	-24

Since the quantile-quantile mapping bias correction method is limited to the 99 percent tail of precipitation, the very extreme precipitation values of the control period may not correspond to the observed values. This may influence the simulated extreme floods especially in Hypöistenkoski, where single extreme precipitation event can cause severe floods. In the other catchments floods are caused by longer periods of heavy precipitation or snowmelt. The inability of the bias corrected time series to correctly represent the extreme precipitation in the control period will also be reflected in the values of extreme precipitation and consequent floods in the future. Other bias correction methods such as the use of gamma distribution (e.g. Piani et al. 2010), which also corrects the tail of the distribution, may be more suitable for studying changes in extreme floods caused by extreme precipitation. However, since the distribution parameters of the gamma distribution are dominated by most frequently occurring values, a single distribution may not be sufficient to accurately describe the properties of extreme values (Yang et al. 2010).

In Hypöistenkoski the largest difference between the methods was produced with one scenario, the HIRH-A-A1B (Table 6). In Hypöistenkoski this scenario produced smaller floods in 2070–2099 with the direct RCM data than with the delta change approach. The larger decreases in 100-year floods appear to be caused by underestimation of extreme precipitation and consequently summer and autumn floods in the HIRH-A-A1B scenario with the direct RCM data. Hypöistenkoski has a small catchment area (smallest in paper (V), 350 km²) with no lakes and therefore extreme precipitation is a more important factor in Hypöistenkoski than in the three other catchments included in the comparison. Hypöistenkoski is clearly more sensitive to remaining errors in the RCM daily precipitation than the other catchments. Since the catchment area is smaller than the grid size of the RCM (25*25km=625 km²) and the bias correction in the quantile-quantile mapping method is limited to the 99 percentile of precipitation, the extreme precipitation may not be well represented in Hypöistenkoski.

Improvements are still needed in the procedure concerning how extreme precipitation is handled in the direct RCM data especially for small catchments, both with regard to the scale of RCMs, the interpolation of precipitation to the WSFS model scale, and the bias correction method.



Figure 18. Daily maximum discharge from four scenarios with the delta change approach (left) and direct bias corrected RCM data (right). a–b) Juutuanjoki, c–d) Nilakka, e–f) Kitusjärvi, g–h) Hypöistenkoski. 62

4.4 Discussion on transfer and bias correction methods (II-V)

Two different methods were used to transfer the climate change to the hydrological model; the delta change approach (I, II, III, IV) and the direct bias corrected RCM data as input to the hydrological model (V). Both methods have their advantages and disadvantages.

The advantages of the delta change approach include its simplicity, robustness and ease of application. The simulated hydrology of the control period does not differ significantly from the observed hydrology of the same period, as long as the hydrological model performs well. Since relative change of the meteorological variables from climate models are used, climate model biases do not directly affect the results. The assumption is that even though the absolute values simulated by climate models may not be reliable at scales needed for hydrological modelling, the changes between future and control conditions are (Prudhomme et al. 2002). The relative changes simulated by GCMs are closer to each other than the absolute values (Jylhä et al. 2004; Christensen and Christensen 2007), although the climate model performance in absolute terms is still important to produce a credible climate change signal. The temperature-dependent temperature change (section 3.2.1) added to the delta change approach to account for the different changes in temperature in different parts of the distribution (Andréasson et al. 2004) resulted in smaller reduction of snow than the standard delta change approach. In light of the daily RCM results this is a more realistic result than the use of the standard delta change approach for temperature, in which all temperature values in the same month increase by the same amount.

Climate change results with the delta change approach depend on the properties of the control periods. The disadvantages of the delta change approach include the facts that all days with precipitation within the same month are changed by the same factor and that the number of wet days does not change. Thus the frequency of precipitation does not change, changes in extreme precipitation values are proportionally the same as all other precipitation values and interannual variability is smoothed (Bergström et al. 2001; Graham et al. 2007a). Many studies indicate that extreme precipitation will change more than average precipitation (Frei et al. 2006; Beniston 2007; IPCC 2007a). When considering changes in average discharge, these limitations may not be very important. However, when floods are considered as in papers (II and IV), they may considerably affect the results (Graham et al. 2007a), since for floods changes in variability are usually more important than changes in mean values (Katz and Brown 1992). As discussed in section 4.3, in most of the catchments in Finland

most floods are caused by either snowmelt or prolonged precipitation, but in small coastal catchments especially in southern Finland floods can be caused also by short-term extreme precipitation. In these catchments the delta change approach may produce unreliable results.

The advantages of direct RCM data are that the approach better preserves the future variability in temperature and precipitation produced by the RCMs, can represent complex changes in climate related to changes in circulation types, enables continuous transient simulations and can continue to develop as RCMs and GCMs develop in the future (Lenderink et al. 2007; Beldring et al. 2008; Graham et al. 2007a; Yang et al. 2010). The disadvantage of using RCM data as input to the hydrological model is the need for bias correction. The RCM simulated precipitation and air temperature contain systematic biases (e.g. Jacob et al. 2007), which if not removed will cause significant deviation from observed hydrology in the control period (Lenderink et al. 2007). The bias correction is based on the assumption that bias correction functions made for the control period still remain valid in the future, but the validity of this assumption cannot be verified (Hay et al. 2002; Boé et al. 2007; van Pelt et al. 2009). Terink et al. (2010) demonstrated that the assumption of constant bias may not hold. Other limitations of bias correction methods are that most methods, such as the quantile-quantile mapping method used in paper (V), do not correct the spatial pattern or the temporal properties i.e. the autocorrelation properties of the variables and correct each variable independently, even though they are correlated (Déqué 2007; Seguí et al. 2010). The remaining biases after the bias correction may also influence the results, especially when simulating floods, which are often sensitive to remaining biases.

The different bias correction methods proposed in previous studies range from simple monthly or seasonal constant correction factors (Graham et al. 2007a; Lenderink et al. 2007) to more complex correction of both mean and variance of temperature and precipitation (Leander and Buishand 2007; Boé et al. 2007) and use of gamma distributions for precipitation (Hay et al. 2002; Piani et al. 2010; Yang et al. 2010). In paper (V) a rather complex bias correction, quantile-quantile mapping (Déqué 2007), was used to remove the biases in the distribution of temperature and precipitation. The biases in different RCMs were different to such an extent that the simple methods tested did not function with all the scenarios and in all catchments. Linear correction of precipitation is reported to cause underestimation in the extreme precipitation quantiles and underestimation of extreme discharges (Leander and Buishand 2007). Salathé (2005) argued that simple local scaling exposes the capacity of the model to simulate the current conditions (Salathé 2005), but the use of climate scenarios from several GCMs in climate change impact studies is also strongly recommended (e.g. Prudhomme et al. 2003; Prudhomme and Davies 2009), although this has not often been accomplished in the previous studies involving bias correction (Leander and Buishand 2007; Yang et al. 2010). Therefore there is a trade-off between the number of scenarios producing acceptable results and the simplicity of the bias correction method. Results of paper (V) demonstrate that using several climate scenarios and study catchments places higher demands on the bias correction methods than when single scenarios and catchments are studied. Different climate scenarios have different types of biases, and in different catchments with a variety of climatic conditions different biases influence the simulated discharge. This may lead to a need for complex bias correction methods, which correct the entire distribution of the RCM variables. Another conclusion from results of paper (V) is that bias correction of temperature is as important as correction of precipitation in conditions where temperature frequently fluctuates relatively close to zero.

The method used for bias correction of the direct daily RCM data affects the results of changes in water balance and discharge (Steele-Dunne et al. 2008; van Pelt et al. 2009; Seguí et al. 2010), and these effects can be rather complex (Schmidli et al. 2006). Not only the absolute values, but also relative changes are affected by the bias correction (Leander et al. 2008; van Pelt et al. 2009; Seguí et al. 2010). The more bias correction is used the further away one gets from the 'direct' use of RCM data (Graham et al. 2007a). The impact of the bias correction on uncertainty in the predictions will be the larger the worse the climate model performance in the control period is compared to observations (Yang et al. 2010).

Changes in extreme discharge are much more sensitive to the transfer and bias correction methods than changes in mean discharge (Graham et al. 2007a; Lenderink et al. 2007), although mean values can also be affected (van Pelt et al. 2009; Seguí et al. 2010). In the snowmelt flood-dominated Lule River in Sweden the direct bias corrected RCM data produced an increase in 20-year floods, whereas the delta change approach produced a decrease (Graham et al. 2007a). The bias correction of averages in monthly scale did not however support the reproduction of extreme discharges (Graham et al. 2007a). In Norway the delta change approach produced larger changes in both positive and negative directions than the more direct use of RCM data and the results were different in different catchments with varying flood producing mechanisms (Beldring et al. 2007a) and Beldring et al. (2007a). Lenderink et al. (2007) reported larger increases in floods

with the delta change approach in the river Rhine, dominated by rainfall floods. The differences between the results can be caused e.g. by different flood producing mechanisms in different catchments, changes in precipitation variability in the direct RCM data and larger increase in mild winter temperatures close to 0 °C in the delta change approach, which leads to less accumulation of snow and smaller spring floods in snow-dominated areas (Andréasson et al. 2004; Beldring et al. 2008).

Sections 4.2.1 and 4.3.2 are a continuation of these earlier studies and present the first comparison between flood results produced by delta change (IV) and direct RCM data (V) in Finland. They represent one of the few studies comparing these methods and using several (four) climate scenarios and study catchments at the same time. The results support the findings of previous studies (Graham et al. 2007a; Beldring et al. 2008) with larger differences in changes in floods than in changes in average discharges projected by the two methods. Snow accumulation was also smaller in the delta change approach than in the direct RCM data, especially in the study catchment in northern Finland. The results show that whereas the two methods can produce similar results in some catchments and with some climate scenarios, in other cases there are marked differences between them.

As can be seen, both methods have their advantages and limitations. The delta change approach is easy to use and enables simulations of large ensembles with both GCMs and RCMs, but the extremes and changes in variability are poorly represented. The direct use of RCM data and bias correction offers more future potential, since it can develop together with RCMs and can handle changes in variability. However, the additional uncertainty from the bias correction, the validity of the assumption about unchanging bias correction function in the future, the remaining biases especially in extreme precipitation and the sensitivity of the simulated discharge to the quality of the RCM simulations remain the disadvantages of this method (Graham et al. 2007a; Lenderink et al. 2007; Yang et al. 2010). The development of the RCMs and the bias correction methods should be continued, while the delta change approach can still be used as a reference and quick overview of changes in averages.

4.5 Lake regulation and climate change adaptation (III)

The impact of climate change on current lake regulation practices and permits as well as adaptation possibilities through changes in lake regulation were studied in paper (III). Three lakes in the Vuoksi watershed in eastern Finland were studied (Fig. 8b). The simulations were performed using two regulation strategies for each lake, and details of these strategies can be found in paper (III). The first strategy (unmodified) corresponds approximately to the current regulation of the lakes. The second strategy (modified) is modified with regard to the simulated changes in inflow caused by climate change. In Lake Pielinen the outflow of the lake was changed from a natural rating curve to a more regulated outflow (paper III, Fig. 2) based on a scheme presented by Verta et al. (2007). In Lake Syväri the modified regulation scheme includes a change from the current upper limit of the water level, which currently stipulates that the lake water level must be lowered in spring. At Lake Saimaa the outflow river of the lake, the Vuoksi River, is a trans-national river flowing to Russia, and the lake outflow is therefore determined according to an agreement between Finland and Russia. Increasing the outflow from Lake Saimaa above the defined maximum discharge would cause flood damages in Russian territory and would have to be agreed on by both parties. Modifications to the regulation of Lake Saimaa were performed only within the current agreement.

The seasonal rhythm of water levels of the study lakes was projected to change considerably from the present by 2040–69 (Fig. 19), with increases in winter and March-April water levels and decreases in summer water levels. In Lake Pielinen and Lake Saimaa autumn and winter floods were projected to increase by 2040-69 (Fig. 19a and 19c). Summer water levels decreased, causing potential problems for recreational use and navigation. In Lake Pielinen the new regulation scheme (Fig. 19a, modified) was able to decrease the highest water levels and increase the lowest levels, thus diminishing the negative impacts of climate change. At Lake Syväri there will probably be a need to change the regulation limits by 2040–2069 in order to reach the water level preferred by recreational and other users in summer (Fig. 19b, modified). The modification to regulation was necessary since the spring flood, which is the reason behind the present-day lowering of the water level, decreased and occurred earlier by 2040-69. In Lake Saimaa the possibilities to decrease the highest water levels were limited and the differences between the modelled regulation strategies were small, as long as there was no change in the current agreement between Finland and Russia (Fig. 19c).



Figure 19. Simulated daily average, maximum and minimum water levels in 1971–2000 and 2040–2069 with two different regulation strategies in a) Lake Pielinen, b) Lake Syväri and c) Lake Saimaa. (Paper III)

The results demonstrate that climate change will lead to a situation in which the current regulation permits and limits in many lakes are unsuited 68

for the new hydrological conditions. Many of the current regulation permits and practices were developed to decrease snowmelt floods during spring and summer, but instead the largest future challenges in eastern Finland will especially in large lakes be autumn and winter floods and occasional summer dryness. Changes in hydrological regime and the consequent mismatch between the hydrological regime and the current operating rules render it necessary to adapt the regulation and management of the lakes to climate change (Lettenmaier et al. 1999; Minville et al. 2009). This was the conclusion of studies carried out in the Great Lakes (Lee et al. 1997), Canada (Minville et al. 2009) and Colorado River (Lettenmaier et al. 1999). These are all regions with snow-influenced hydrology, where substantial changes in seasonal runoff patterns can occur due to climate change (Arnell 1999; Lettenmaier et al. 1999; Payne et al. 2004; Barnett 2005). Paper (III) was the first study in Finland and among the first in the Nordic countries (along with Bergström et al. 2006) to assess the needs and possibilities to adapt to climate change through modifications in lake regulation.

One conclusion of the study was that the new regulation permits and limits should be flexible in order to function properly in a variety of future conditions including not only warmer conditions but also remaining cold winters. The 'no-regret and flexibility' principle suggested by Middelkoop et al. (2001) offers a guideline for adaptation measures with uncertain future conditions. There are, however, limits to effectiveness of adaptation through flexible lake regulation. In some cases the minimum or maximum outflow capacity of the lakes cannot be easily changed due to either structural limitations or problems caused by changes further downstream. In these cases the adaptation against extreme floods and droughts through changes in regulation may be ineffective. The results show that it is important to assess the suitability of the current regulation permits and practices to future conditions in order to avoid situations in which unsuitable regulation will aggravate problems caused by climate change.

4.6 Uncertainties in hydrological modelling of climate change impacts (I–V)

Estimating climate change impacts on hydrology and floods with hydrological modelling includes many uncertainties from every step of the modelling chain (Fig. 11, Menzel et al. 2006; Lenderink et al. 2007). There are uncertainties involved in the future emissions of greenhouse gases (emission scenario), in the ability to estimate the impact of these emissions to the global and regional climate with climate models, and in downscaling the climate model result to smaller scales. The way in which the climate change signal is transferred to the hydrological model impacts the results as does the hydrological model, which includes uncertainty in both the structure of the model and the values of the parameters. In flood estimation the choice of the frequency distribution and its extrapolation into long return periods adds yet another source of uncertainty.

Several studies evaluating the relative proportions of different sources of uncertainty in hydrological modelling of climate change impacts conclude that the largest source of uncertainty is the choice of GCM (Prudhomme et al. 2003; Déqué et al. 2007; Minville et al. 2008; Steele-Dunne et al. 2008; Kay et al. 2009; Prudhomme and Davies 2009; Olsson et al. 2010), although other sources can also be important. In papers (I–V) several climate scenarios including scenarios based on at least three GCMs were used (five climate scenarios in paper (I), eight in paper (II), 14 in paper (III), 20 in paper (IV) and four in paper (V)). The use of several climate scenarios enabled the estimation of some of the most important uncertainties in climate change impact studies and provided a wide range of results in all the papers.

Climate is not completely stationary even without anthropogenic changes. Natural multi-decadal climatic variability strongly influences especially flood estimates. Since the commonly used simulation period of 30 years is rather short for the estimation of rare floods, different 30 year representations produce different results and thus natural variability as such is a source of uncertainty (Arnell 2003; Leander and Buishand 2007; Kay et al. 2009). Quantification of the natural variability enables evaluation of the importance of the climate change induced changes in relation to the bounds of natural variability. Previous studies have used stochastic weather generators (Minville et al. 2008), resampling observations or RCM output (Leander and Buishand 2007; Kay et al. 2009; Prudhomme and Davies 2009) and bootstrapping techniques (Lenderink et al. 2007) to estimate the magnitude of natural variability in extreme flood estimates. Prudhomme and Davies (2009) found that in test catchments in the UK 50 % of changes projected by the 2080s were significantly larger than the estimated natural variability in the control period.

In papers (I–V), the simulations were carried out with only one hydrological model and one calibrated optimal parameter set for each catchment. During the course of the studies, changes took place in the hydrological model versions and the parameter values and these changes may affect the simulated results of climate change impacts. Especially changes in extreme floods may be sensitive to changes in parameter values. Modelling uncertainty arising from different sources was not systematically estimated. In reality the equifinality of the parameters means that several parameter sets with as good or nearly as good performance in the calibration period exist (Beven 2001). Furthermore the conceptual hydrological model was used beyond the conditions to which it was calibrated, which diminishes the model reliability (Seibert 2003). The validity of the hydrological models and parameters in the future climate conditions is unknown (Minville et al. 2008; Beldring et al. 2008). This problem is hard to overcome as long as hydrological models need calibration. Despite the development of physically based models, hydrological models are still likely to require calibration in the foreseeable future due to the lack of data at appropriate scales to establish parameter values without calibration (Beven 1996; Bergström et al. 2001). There are generally no observations in climatic conditions similar to those expected in the future, and therefore calibration against future conditions is not possible (Prudhomme and Davies 2009). However, some evidence is available that non-stationary climate does not necessarily cause parameter instability (Niel et al. 2003) and that the parameter range for some conceptual models is relatively narrow in a variety of different climates (Andréasson et al. 2004).

Previous studies point out that although the hydrological modelling uncertainty can be considerable, it is usually not the largest uncertainty in climate change impact studies (Minville et al. 2008; Steele-Dunne et al. 2008; Prudhomme and Davies 2009; Kay et al. 2009; Lawrence and Haddeland 2011). Kay et al. (2009) reported that uncertainty from hydrological model parameters was in most cases smaller than uncertainties from GCMs, RCMs, emission scenarios and downscaling methods. The uncertainty from hydrological model structure was larger than parameter uncertainty, but still not among the largest uncertainties (Kay et al. 2009). Lawrence and Haddeland (2011) found that parameter uncertainty in the HBV hydrological model contributed significantly to the overall spread of the magnitude of mean annual flood in some regions in Norway, whereas in other regions parameter uncertainty was relatively small. The impact depended on the flood producing mechanism and constraints on the parameter values, with far greater influence of parameters in the rain-dominated than in the snowmelt-dominated areas in Norway (Lawrence and Haddeland 2011). Similarly the WSFS parameters may be an important source of uncertainty, and the estimation of this uncertainty would warrant further studies. The differences between the two hydrological models and between the meteorological and hydrological conditions in Finland and Norway make it difficult to assess whether the conclusion in Norway about the influence of flood producing mechanism to parameter uncertainty is also valid for WSFS applications in Finland.

The structure of the hydrological model may also influence the results. Jiang et al. (2007) compared six simple monthly water balance models and found that even though the model capabilities in reproducing the historical water balance components were similar, their responses to climate change showed greater differences. Especially models without an upper threshold in soil moisture produced greater changes in soil moisture than those with a threshold. Jiang et al. (2007) used simple lumped water balance models with one to five storages and some of the model structures may have been too simple for the purpose of climate change simulation. The impact of model structure is however also noted elsewhere (Boorman and Sefton 1997), although Kay et al. (2009) found relatively small differences between two hydrological models with different structures.

Within the sub-models of the WSFS model, the calculation of evapotranspiration is an important source of uncertainty. The empirical equations used to calculate potential evapotranspiration used air temperature, precipitation and time of year as input (Vehviläinen and Huttunen 1997) and were calibrated based on Pan Class A evaporation measurement. Actual evapotranspiration was calculated from the potential evapotranspiration and soil moisture deficit. This method does not consider changes in other important factors affecting evapotranspiration such as cloudiness, air humidity, wind speed, vegetation cover, length of the growing season or impact of increased CO₂ concentrations on stomatal resistance and transpiration of plants (Wigley and Jones 1985; Betts et al. 2007). However, changes in these factors and their combined effect on evapotranspiration are uncertain (Beldring et al. 2008), since cloudiness, humidity and wind are among the variables least reliably simulated by climate models (IPCC 2007a) and the climate change impact on plants and transpiration is even more uncertain (Boorman and Sefton 1997). Evapotranspiration simulated by RCMs often differs from observed values in the present climate (Graham et al. 2007b; Beldring et al. 2008). Failure to consider the decrease of transpiration due to plant responses to increasing CO₂ concentrations can lead to underestimation of future increases in runoff and overestimation of decreases (Betts et al. 2007). The decrease of soil moisture during summer, which is due to earlier snowmelt and higher evaporation in spring, causes increase in evaporative resistance and thus a negative feedback for evapotranspiration change in snowmelt-dominated regions (Barnett et al. 2005). This, combined with the relatively moderate evapotranspiration rates in Finland, causes the changes in precipitation to be usually more influential for changes in average and high discharge than changes in evapotranspiration. However, if low flows were studied more emphasis

would need to be given to the simulation of evapotranspiration in the hydrological model.

An important WSFS sub-model for the conditions in Finland is the snow model. Complex snow processes are represented in a simplified way in the temperature-index/degree-day based snow model implemented in the WSFS. More physically based snow model could utilize larger set of RCM data as input and could likely offer more reliable estimate of future changes. Haddeland et al. (2011) found large differences between the results of the physically based energy balance snow models used in land surface models and the results of the degree-day snow models although these were both global scale models. Availability of relatively good quality snow course data for the calibration and validation of the WSFS snow model improves its reliability. Vehviläinen (1992) found that the degree-day model produced slightly better results on catchment scale than the physically based snow models in present day conditions in Finland. Bergström et al. (1992) showed that the performance of the degree-day snow model was relatively stable over a range of climates. Further comparison of degree-day and physically based snow models should be carried out to refine the role of the snow processes in the hydrological response of boreal catchments to climate change.

Possible land use and vegetation changes and their impact on hydrology are another issue not addressed in these studies. Finland is predominately forested and peatland areas are common. There were changes in land use during the last centuries as forest areas were changed to agricultural land and peatland areas were drained for forestry. These changes have altered the hydrological conditions during the time when discharge was measured (Seuna 1981; Koivusalo et al. 2008). In larger catchments the role of these changes are usually smaller due to different timing of the land use change in different parts of the catchment, differences in short and long term impacts of land use changes and the complexity of the runoff generation process (Hyvärinen and Vehviläinen 1981; Seuna 1981; Korhonen 2007; Koivusalo et al. 2008). In the future, land use change and change of forest into a different type of forest can occur in response to global warming to the extent that it is reflected in runoff generation processes. These issues were not addressed, since scenarios of land use or vegetation changes until the end of the 21st century are not available for Finland, and since the parameters of the conceptual WSFS model cannot be directly attributed to physical catchment characteristics. Reynard et al. (2001) found that moderate changes in land use produced very little difference in catchment response to climate change compared to unchanged land use. Dramatic changes in land use were needed in order to produce large shifts in discharge duration and flood frequency curves.

The differences and uncertainties associated with methods of transferring the climate signal to the hydrological model were already discussed in section 4.4. The impact of the transfer method can be notable especially when changes in floods are modelled (Graham et al. 2007a; Lenderink et al. 2007; Beldring et al. 2008, van Pelt et al. 2009). When using the direct RCM data as input to the hydrological model, the necessary bias correction adds another source of uncertainty to the modelling process (van Pelt et al. 2009), which was also discussed in section 4.4.

When floods of a certain return period were estimated based on frequency analysis (papers I, II and IV), there was also uncertainty involved in the choice of the frequency distribution. Papers (II and IV) only used one distribution (Gumbel distribution) with a set value of coefficient of skewness, and this distribution was then extrapolated to high return periods from a relatively short record length. Use of the Gumbel distribution can be justified by the status it has in Finland as the most commonly used and officially recommended distribution (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 1997). In paper (I) three different frequency distributions were used for the validation of design floods and they produced very different results due to different coefficients of skewness and extrapolation to long return periods. Lawrence and Hisdal (2011) reported that the uncertainty introduced by flood frequency analysis with the GEV (Generalized Extreme Value) distribution in estimated change in 200-year floods from a 30 year simulation period was even larger than the uncertainty from climate scenarios or hydrological modelling. The uncertainty from the 2-parameter Gumbel distribution was considerably smaller than from the 3-parameter GEV-distribution.

Modelling of regulation was one further source of uncertainty in papers (I, III, IV). In paper (I) the choice of the model operating rule for the regulated lakes during the design floods was somewhat subjective, since no clear rules have been established for regulation during such extreme events. In papers (III, IV) regulation was based on observed practices and permits, but since the same model operation rules were used for the entire 30 year period, not all years were optimally regulated. In reality the regulated outflow can be decided within certain limits. Therefore the regulation is difficult to model, since it includes subjective decisions by the holder of the regulation permit. The regulation was not always optimal, but the results provided an overview of the changes in discharges and the challenges and possibilities of regulation.

Every step in the long modelling chain of estimating climate change impacts on hydrology and floods contains some uncertainties, most of which were not quantified in this study (Menzel et al. 2006; Lenderink et al. 2007). Therefore the cumulative uncertainties in the end of the estimation process become considerable (Menzel et al. 2006). The results should therefore be interpreted with care and without overstating the confidence of possibly weak signals. The more extreme the studied phenomenon is, the larger the uncertainties become, whereas changes in mean values are more stable (Menzel et al. 2006). Further studies concerning the impact of bias correction method and model parameters on uncertainty propagation should be carried out in order to better quantify the range of uncertainties.

Given the unknown future emissions, the impact of natural variability and the chaotic and complex nature of the climate system, there will always remain wide confidence intervals in any future projections. Even though many uncertainties were ignored, the source of the largest uncertainty, which according to several studies is the climate scenarios and more specifically GCMs (Minville et al. 2008; Steele-Dunne et al. 2008; Kay et al. 2009; Prudhomme and Davies 2009), was taken into account in papers (I– V). As shown by the results of these papers, the range of results projected by the several climate scenarios is often wide, but some results such as increases in winter discharge are robust with all scenarios and in all studies. As Boorman and Sefton (1997) wrote in their review and study of rainfallrunoff modelling of climate change impacts, 'the limitations and uncertainties of this type of approach... are not so severe that they invalidate it'.

The results of papers (I–V) can be used to identify the likely 'limits' of potential climate change impacts on hydrology and expected direction of change (Fowler 1999) and to identify the most vulnerable areas. Further studies with more emphasis on quantifying and understanding the uncertainties can then be directed to the areas with the most pressing adaptation needs. At least the seasonal changes are large and robust enough to be taken into account in the planning and design of adaptation measures in relevant cases. The remaining uncertainties should be incorporated in the planning and decision making processes as part of risk assessment and management (Varis et al. 2004).

5 Conclusions

Impacts on hydrology (II-V)

The results presented in this overview and in papers (I–V) show that climate change has strong seasonal impacts on hydrology in Finland, but the differences between results from different climate scenarios and methods remain large. The average changes in mean annual discharge were moderate increases (approximately 10 % by 2070-2099), but differences between climate scenarios were large (annual change with 20 scenarios ranged from -2 to +29 % in 2070-2099). All scenarios and methods pointed towards considerable (61-170 %) increases in winter discharge caused by warmer winters with more rainfall and snowmelt. Decreases in spring discharge were projected to occur in southern and central Finland, whereas in the north and in large lakes the earlier spring caused a shift from summer discharge to spring discharge. The clearest and most consistent trends in discharge were related to increase in air temperature rather than to changes in precipitation. Projected temperature increases are more consistent among the climate scenarios (Barnett et al. 2005) and are more clearly outside natural variability than the projected precipitation changes (Räisänen and Ruokolainen 2006). Thus far the observed trends in discharge have also been related to air temperature change (Hisdal et al. 2007; Korhonen and Kuusisto 2010; Wilson et al. 2010). Also consistent changes in discharge related to precipitation changes were produced especially in northern Finland, where mean annual discharge increased with all climate scenarios due to projected increases in precipitation.

Evaluation of the water balance components of transient scenarios for 1951–2099 shows that increases in precipitation were generally larger than increases in runoff, because of higher evapotranspiration caused by warming and the lengthening of the growing season. Increases in potential evapotranspiration were larger than increases in actual evapotranspiration, because decreasing soil moisture in summer limited the increase in actual evapotranspiration.

Impacts on floods (I, II, IV)

The results of paper (IV) provide, for the first time in Finland, an overview of changes in floods throughout the country during the 21st century. The impacts of climate change on 100-year floods in Finland varied considerably depending on the location, catchment characteristics, season, and climate scenario. In areas currently dominated by snowmelt floods, a decrease in flood discharges and flood hazard was mainly found by 2070-2099 due to decrease in snow accumulation. However, in some catchments in northern Finland changes in flood magnitudes were on average small due to the colder winters with more snow remaining and increase in precipitation. Autumn and winter floods increased and in catchments where these floods currently occur frequently, flood risk may increase. Increases occurred especially in large central lakes and their outflow rivers, where the largest floods are generated slowly by long periods of excess water from rain or snowmelt. The existence of large lakes and lake routes affects the catchment hydrological characteristics and the flood producing mechanisms and thus also affects the catchment response to climate change. In some regions, especially at the coastal areas, the changes in floods showed no clear climate change signal and the results from different scenarios produced increases and decreases in floods.

Current hydrological and climatological variables such as timing of floods, importance of snowmelt floods, latitude, lake percentage, snow water equivalent and catchment size can be used to explain the projected changes in floods. Combining these factors can explain most of the average changes in different study catchments, and their explanatory power improves when applied separately to different hydrological regions. The results demonstrate that changes in floods can vary considerably even within relatively small regions and that uncertainties involved in climate scenarios remain large. This highlights the need for climate change impact studies at appropriate scales, with adequate data and local knowledge and using several climate scenarios.

Changes in design floods of high hazard dams by 2070–2100 (paper I) were in many ways similar to changes in floods with shorter return periods, but on average the design floods increased more or decreased less than the 100-year floods. The main differences between the results arise from the different methodologies, from the larger increase in the extremely rare design precipitation than in average precipitation, and from the differences between the properties of the dam catchments compared with the rest of the catchments. As was the case with 100-year floods, the influence of climate change on the simulated design floods depended on the flood producing mechanisms. Snowmelt floods in northern Finland remained on aver-

age approximately the same size as at present and were sensitive to the choice of climate scenario. On the other hand the design floods increased due to increase in design precipitation in the dams in western Finland, where the design floods were mostly summer or autumn floods caused by heavy precipitation. The timing of the design floods in western Finland is partly explained by the artificial reservoirs, which are situated at or upstream of the dams and are capable of storing part of the otherwise larger spring snowmelt floods. For large central lakes of the large catchments, the design floods became winter floods in 2070–2100 and increased from present. From dam safety perspective the high hazard dams with increasing design floods should be monitored more closely, although most of the dams where increases were projected have adequate spillway capacity to handle the increasing design floods.

Methodologies (III–V)

Two methods to transfer the climate change signal from the climate model to the hydrological model were used and compared: the delta change approach and the direct bias corrected RCM data. The latter method was used for the first time in hydrological analysis in Finland (paper V). Both methods have their advantages and disadvantages: the delta change approach is easy to use, transparent and can be used with both RCM and GCM scenarios, which enables ensembles of larger numbers of climate scenarios to be used. The direct RCM data on the other hand includes better the changes in variability, enables transient scenarios and has future potential to develop together with RCMs and GCM, but also requires more work and currently needs a bias correction step. More realistic projections in variance of meteorological variables can offer improvement in flood analysis, and transient scenarios enable the use of non-stationary flood frequency analysis (Cox et al. 2002; Kay and Jones 2012). Because of the biases in the RCMs (Jacob et al. 2007; Kjellström and Lind 2009), bias correction is necessary to reproduce the key statistical properties of the observed hydrology in the control period. However, the bias correction also adds another source of uncertainty to the process of impact assessment. Results of paper (V) show that more complex bias correction methods for both temperature and precipitation are needed when several climate scenarios and study catchments are used in boreal conditions. The more complex bias correction methods correct the entire distribution of both the RCM simulated precipitation and temperature, and are therefore able to function better with different scenarios and in a variety of conditions, where different biases are influential.

The results of both methods were rather similar with respect to mean values with 2.5 percentage points larger increase in mean annual discharge by 2070–2099 using the direct RCM data than with the delta change approach. The largest differences by the end of the century were during spring in northern Finland, apparently due to sensitivity of the snow accumulation and melt processes. Larger differences were found in projected changes in floods. The floods simulated by using the two methods differed from each other with several scenarios and the range of projected changes was usually wider when using the direct RCM data than with the delta change approach.

In future work, the delta change approach could be used as a benchmark method and for gaining an overview of the average changes with a larger ensemble of scenarios. Direct RCM data has more future potential, but still needs improvements in the accuracy and spatial scale of the RCM simulations as well as the bias correction methods, before it can be used reliably for climate change impact assessments. In the meantime the use of methods side by side could offer the best solution.

Adaptation (III, IV)

Adapting to climate change is necessary in order to decrease the negative impacts and make use of the positive impacts of climate change. Paper (III) presents the first study in Finland on the need to change the management and permits of many of the regulated lakes in Finland. The results show that changes in regulation will become necessary as the hydrological regime used to plan the current regulation permits and practices will change due to climate change. Earlier timing and decrease in magnitude of spring snowmelt floods, longer summers with more evapotranspiration and lake evaporation and increase in autumn and winter rains and floods will in the future cause challenges for the management of Finnish lakes. Whether the regulation permits need to be changed or not depends greatly on how they are defined at present. If the current regulation rules are inflexible especially with regard to the timing of the lowering of water levels in winter and early spring, they will more probably require revision. The new regulation permits should be made flexible in order to be adaptable to both mild winters and cold and snowy conditions. Changing the regulation permits and limits is a cost-effective adaptation measure, since it uses the existing dams and does not require any new large investments.

Uncertainties (I-V)

Uncertainties in estimating climate change impacts on hydrology and especially floods are large and arise from several sources including emission scenarios, climate models, downscaling and transfer methods, hydrological model and frequency analysis. As results from paper (IV) along with previous studies (Kay et al. 2009; Prudhomme and Davies 2009) indicate, the GCMs are one of the largest sources of uncertainty and therefore climate scenarios from several GCMs should always be used. Using only one or two climate scenarios can result in misleading interpretations of the future hydrological changes. Uncertainties related to the method of transfer and the hydrological model should not be forgotten, even though it is not always possible to quantify them.

Final remarks and future directions

Projected climate change impacts on hydrology and floods in Finland are considerable. The changes in mean annual discharge are on average moderate, but the seasonal changes are clearly higher. The flood risk for fluvial floods increases in some regions but decreases in others depending on the flood producing mechanisms. In areas with increasing floods adaptation can help reduce the flood risk. Adaptation could include changes in regulation permits and practices, municipal planning (prohibiting construction on flood risk areas), permanent and temporary embankments and other protection measures. Issues not addressed in this study such as urban flood, frazil ice floods and sea level rise may also cause considerable risks at certain locations in the future.

Water resources in Finland are plentiful, but these water resources are not evenly distributed and some regions are vulnerable to droughts in both current and future conditions. With regard to the risk of flooding, Finland is currently one of the least vulnerable regions in Europe (Schmidt-Thomé et al. 2006), and the annual damages caused by floods are relatively low (Tulvariskityöryhmä 2009). Although the changes in different regions of Finland in fluvial flood risk may be substantial, there is no indication that this general situation would dramatically change due to climate change. The direct climate change impacts on hydrology in Finland during the 21st century appear to be for most parts manageable. There may even be some positive impacts in the form of increased hydro-power production. As a country with high technological capacity and high economical resources, Finland appears to be well equipped to adapt to the direct impacts of climate change on hydrology. It is however possible that adaptation to the indirect impacts of climate change in water resources in Finland will be more demanding. These include changes in water temperature, water quality and ecology that may occur due to increasing air temperature, changes in timing and magnitudes of discharge, changes in nutrient leakage, and/or changes in land use. Multi-disciplinary studies are needed to address these issues.

Additional issues which should be studied further include representation of some of the most important physical processes in the hydrological models, most importantly evapotranspiration and snow processes. More physically based process models could help to diminish the uncertainties involved in estimating the climate change impacts on these processes. A wider use of information from the climate model results, e.g. about the changes in variability and extremes and the changes in other meteorological variables besides air temperature and precipitation, should be part of future hydrological analysis. The future development of the land surface models of the RCMs and their improved hydrological simulations may mean less need for off-line hydrological modelling in the long term. In the meantime the use of direct RCM data as input to hydrological models and the related downscaling and bias correction methods should be studied in more detail. An important research area is the systematic assessment of uncertainties in hydrological climate change studies, including uncertainties in the full modelling chain from climate to hydrological models.

6 References

- Akhtar, M., Ahmad, N., Booij, M.J. 2008. The impact of climate change on water resources of Hindukush-Karakorum-Himalaya region under different glacier coverage scenarios. Journal of Hydrology 355, 148–163.
- Andréasson, J., Bergström, S., Carlsson, B., Graham, L., Lindström, G. 2004. Hydrological change – climate change impact simulations for Sweden. Ambio 33, 228–234.
- Andréasson, J., Gardelin, M., Bergström, S., Hellström, S.-S. 2007. Känslighetsanalys av Flödeskommitténs riktlinjer i ett framtida förändrat klimat, andra upplagan, kompletterad med analyser för Umeälven. Elforsk rapport 07:15. Stockholm. 35 pp.
- Arheimer, B., Göran, L., Olsson, J. 2011. A systematic review of sensitivities in the Swedish flood-forecasting system. Atmospheric research 100(2– 3), 275–284.
- Arnell, N., Reynard, N. 1989. Estimating the impacts of climatic change on river flows: some examples from Britain. Proceedings Conference on Climate and Water. Helsinki, pp. 426–436.
- Arnell, N.W., Reynard, N.S. 1996. The effects of climate change due to global warming on river flows in Great Britain. Journal of Hydrology 183, 397–424.
- Arnell, N.W. 1999. The effect of climate change on hydrological regimes in Europe: a continental perspective. Global and Environmental Change 9, 5–23.
- Arnell, N.W. 2003. Relative effects of multi-decadal climatic variability and changes in mean and variability of climate due to global warming: future streamflows in Britain. Journal of Hydrology 270, 195–213.
- Arora, V.K. 2001. Streamflow simulations for continental-scale river basins in a global atmospheric general circulation model. Advances in Water Resources 24, 775–291.
- Atlas of Finland, Climate. 1987. Folio 131. National Board of Survey and Geographical Society of Finland. Helsinki. 32 pp.
- Barnett, T.P., Adam, J.C., Lettenmaier D.P. 2005. Potential impacts of warming climate on water availability in snow-dominated regions. Nature 438, 303–309.

- Bates, B.C., Kundzewicz Z.W., Wu S., Palutikof, J.P. (Eds.) 2008. Climate Change and Water. Technical Paper of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC Secretariat, Geneva, 210 pp.
- Beldring, S., Engeland, K., Roald, L.A., Sælthun, N.R., and Voksø, A. 2003. Estimation of parameters in a distributed precipitation-runoff model for Norway. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 7, 304–316.
- Beldring, S., Engen-Skaugen, T., Førland, E., Roald, L. 2008. Climate change impacts on hydrological processes in Norway based on two methods for transferring RCM results to meteorological station sites. Tellus 60A, 439–450.
- Beldring, S., Andréasson, J., Bergström, S., Graham, L. P., Jónsdóttir, J. F., Rogozova, S., Rosberg, J., Suomalainen, M., Tonning, T., Vehviläinen, B., Veijalainen, N. 2006. Mapping Water Resources in the Nordic Region Under a Changing Climate. Report no. CE-3. CE Nordic project on Climate and Energy and Norden. Reykjavik, Iceland. 125 pp.
- Beniston, M., Stephenson, D.B., Christensen, O.B., Ferro, C.A.T., Frei, C., Goyette, S., Halsnaes, K., Holt, T., Jylhä, K., Koffi, B., Palutikof, J., Schöll, R., Semmler, T., Woth, K. 2007. Future extreme events in European climate: an exploration of regional climate model projections. Climatic Change 81, 71–95.
- Bergström, S. 1976. Development and application of a conceptual runoff model for Scandinavian catchments. Report RHO No. 7, SMHI. Norrköping. 134 pp.
- Bergström S. Bøggild, C.E., Einarsson,K., Gjessing, Y., Sælthun, N.R., Thomsen T., Vehviläinen, B. and Sand, K. (ed.). 1992. Snow modelling, water resources, climate change. Norwegian Hydrotechnical Laboratory, NHL Rep (STF60 A92023), Trondheim. 15 pp.
- Bergström, S., Carlsson, B., Gardelin, M., Lindström, G., Pettersson, A., Rummukainne, M. 2001. Climate change impacts on runoff in Sweden – assessments by global climate models, dynamical downscaling and hydrological modelling. Climate Research 16, 101–112.
- Bergström, S., Hellström, S.-S., Andréasson, J. 2006. Nivåer och flöden i Vänerns och Mälarens vattensystem – Hydrologiskt underlag till Klimat- och sårbarhetsutredning. SMHI Reports. SMHI, Norrköping. 53 pp.
- Bergström, S., Andréasson J., Veijalainen, N., Vehviläinen, B. Einarsson, B., Jónsson, S. Kurpniece, L. Kriaučiūnienė, J., Meilutytė-Barauskienė, D., Beldring, S. Lawrence, D., Roald, L.A. 2012. Chapter 6. Modelling Climate Change Impacts on the Hydropower System. In: Thorsteinsson, T., Björnsson, H. (eds.) 2012. Climate Change and Energy Systems.

Impacts, Risks and Adaptation in the Nordic and Baltic countries. TemaNord 2011:502. Nordic council of Ministers, Copenhagen.

- Betts, R.A., Boucher, O., Collins, M., Cox, P.M., Falloon, P.D., Gedney, N., Hemming, D.L., Huntingford, C., Jones, C.D., Sexton, D.M., Webb, M.J. 2007. Projected increases in continental runoff due to plant responses to increasing carbon dioxide. Nature 447, 1037–1042.
- Beven, K. 1996. The limits of splitting: Hydrology. The science of the Total Environment 183, 89–97.
- Beven, K. 2001. Rainfall-runoff modelling. The primer. John Wiley and sons Ltd. Chichester, England. 372 pp.
- Blazkova, S., Beven, K. 2004. Flood frequency estimation by continuous simulation of subcatchment rainfalls and discharges with the aim of improving dam safety assessment in a large basin in the Czech Republic. Journal of Hydrology 292, 153–172.
- Blyth, E. 2009. Process that impact runoff generation in Northern Latitudes. WATCH Technical Report No. 16. <u>http://www.euwatch.org/publications/technical-reports/</u> Accessed 25th January 2010.
- Boé, J. Terray, L., Habets, F., Martin, E. 2007 Statistical and dynamical downscaling of the Seine basin climate for hydro-meteorological studies. International Journal of Climatology 27, 1643–1655.
- Boberg, F., Berg, P., Thejll, P., Gutowski, W.J., Christensen, J.H. 2010. Improved confidence in climate change projections of precipitation further evaluated using daily statistics from ENSEMBLES models. Climate Dynamics 35(7–8), 1509–1520.
- Booij, M. 2005. Impact of climate change on river flooding assessed with different spatial model resolutions. Journal of Hydrology 303, 176–198.
- Boone, A., Habets, F., Noilhan, J., Clark, D., Dirmeyer, P., Fox, S., Gusev,
 Y., Haddeland, I., Koster, R., Lohmann, D., Mahanama, S., Mitchell,
 K., Nasonova, O., Niu, G.-Y. Pitman, A., Polcher, J., Shmakin, A.B., Tanaka, K., van den Hurk, B., Vérant, S., Verseghy, D., Viterbro, P., Yang,
 Z.-L. 2004. The Rhône-Aggregation Land Surface Scheme Intercomparison Project: An overview. Journal of Climate 17, 187–208.
- Boorman D.B., Sefton, C.E.M. 1997. Recognising uncertainty in the quantification of the effects of climate change on hydrological response. Climatic change 35, 415–434
- Brohan, P., Kennedy, J.J., Harris, I., Tett, S.F.B., Jones, P.D. 2006. Uncertainty estimates in regional and global observed temperature changes:
 A new data from 1850. Journal of Geophysical Research. 111, D12106, doi: 10.1029/2005JD006548.

- Bultot, F., Gellens, D., Spreafico, M., Schädler, B. 1992. Repercussions of a CO₂ doubling on the water balance – a case study in Switzerland. Journal of Hydrology 137, 199–208.
- Cameron, D., Beven, K., Naden, P. 2000. Flood frequency estimation by continuous simulation under climate change (with uncertainty). Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 4(3), 393–405.
- Christensen, O.B., Christensen, J.H. 2007. A summary of the PRUDENCE model projection of changes in European climate by the end of this century. Climatic Change 81, 7–30.
- Christensen N.S., Lettenmaier D.P. 2007. A multimodel ensemble approach to assessment of climate change impacts on the hydrology and water resources of the Colorado River Basin. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 11, 1417–1434.
- Collins, M., Booth, B.B.B., Harris, G.R., Murphy, J.M., Sexton, D.M.H., Webb, M.J. 2005. Towards Quantifying Uncertainty in Transient Climate Change. Climate Dynamics 27(2–3), 127–147.
- Collins, W.D., Bitz, C.M., Blackmon, M.L., Bonan, G.B., Bretherton C.S. Carton, J.A., Chang, P., Doney, S.C., Hack, J.J., Henderson, T.B., Kiehl, J.T., Large, W.G., McKenna, D.S., Santer, B.D., Smith, R.D. 2006. The Community Climate System Model Version 3 (CCSM3). Journal of Climate 19, 2122–2143.
- Covey, C., AchutaRao, K.M., Cubasch, U., Jones, P., Lambert, S.J., Mann, M.E., Phillips, T.J., Taylor, K.E. 2003. An overview of results from the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project. Global and Planetary Change 37, 103–133.
- Cox, D.R., Isham, V.S., Northrop, P.J. 2002. Floods: some probabilistic and statistical approaches. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A 360, 1389–1408.
- Cunderlik, J.M., Ouarda, T.B.M.J. 2009. Trends in the timing and magnitude of floods in Canada. Journal of Hydrology 375, 471–480.
- Dankers, R., Christensen, O., Feyen, L., Kalas, M., de Roo, A. 2007. Evaluation of very high-resolution climate model data for simulating flood hazards in the Upper Danube Basin. Journal of Hydrology 347, 319– 331.
- Dankers, R., Feyen, L. 2008. Climate change impact on flood hazard in Europe: An assessment based on high-resolution climate simulations, Journal of Geophysical Research 113, D19105, doi:10.1029/ 2007JD009719.
- Dankers, R., Feyen, L. 2009. Flood hazard in Europe in an ensemble of regional climate scenarios, Journal of Geophysical Research 114, D16108, doi:10.1029/2008JD011523.

- Déqué, M., Rowell, D.P., Lüthi, D., Giorgi, F, Christensen, J.H., Rockel, B., Jacob, D., Kjellström, E., de Castro, M., van den Hurk, B. 2007. An intercomparison of regional climate simulations for Europe: assessing uncertainties in model projections. Climatic Change 81, 53–70.
- Diaz-Nieto, J., Wilby, R.L. 2005. Comparison of statistical downscaling and climate change factor methods: impacts on low flows in the river Thames, UK. Climatic Change 69, 245–268.
- Drebs, A., Nordlund, A., Karlsson, P., Helminen, J., Rissanen, P. 2002. Tilastoja Suomen ilmastosta 1971–2000 – Climatological statistics of Finland 1971–2000. Ilmastotilastoja Suomesta 2002:1. Ilmatieteen laitos. Helsinki.
- Durrans, S.R., Kirby, J.T. 2004. Regionalization of extreme precipitation estimates for the Alabama rainfall atlas. Journal of Hydrology 230(1– 2), 55–69.
- European Environment Agency. 2005. Sustainable use and management of natural resources. EEA report No 9/2005. EEA. Copenhagen. 68 pp.
- European Environment Agency. 2007. Climate change and water adaptation issues. EEA Technical report No 2/2007. EEA. Copenhagen. 59 pp.
- European commission (EC). 2007. Directive 2007/60/EC of the European parliament and of the council of 23 October 2007 on the assessment and management of flood risks. Official Journal of the European Union L 288, 27–34.
- Etheridge, D.M. Steele, L.P., Langenfelds, R.L., Francey, R.J., Barnola, J.-M., Morgan, V.I. 1996. Natural and anthropogenic changes in atmospheric CO₂ over the last 1000 years from air in the Antarctic ice and firn. Journal of Geophysical research 101(D2), 4115–4128.
- Fenger, J. (ed.) 2007. Impacts of climate change on renewable energy resources: Their role in the Nordic energy system. Norden 2007:003.Nordic council of Ministers, Copenhagen. 190 pp.
- Finnish Environment Institute. 2011. <u>www.environment.fi/waterforecast/</u> Accessed on September 24th 2011.
- Finnish Meteorological Institute. 2011a. Havaitut ilmastonmuutokset Suomessa. <u>http://ilmatieteenlaitos.fi/havaitut-ilmastonmuutokset-</u> <u>suomessa</u>. Accessed 1st of August 2011.
- Finnish Meteorological Institute. 2011b. Suomen ilmaston tulevat muutokset mallitulosten perusteella. <u>http://ilmatieteenlaitos.fi/suomen-</u> <u>ilmaston-tulevat-muutokset-mallitulosten-perusteella</u>. Accessed 1st of August 2011.

- Finnish Meteorological Institute. 2011c. Climatological statistics for the normal period 1971–2000. http://en.ilmatieteenlaitos.fi/normalperiod-1971–2000. Accessed 14th of October 2011.
- Flödeskommittén. 1990. Riktlinjer för bestämning av dimensionerande flöden för dammanläggningar. Final report of Flödeskommittén. Statens Vattenfallsverk, Svenska Kraftverksföreningen, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping. 103 pp.
- Fowler. A. 1999. Potential climate change impacts on water resources in the Auckland Region (New Zealand). Climate Research 11, 221–245.
- Fowler, H.J., Blenkinsop, S., Tebaldi, C. 2007. Review: Linking climate change modeling to impact studies: recent advances in downscaling techniques for hydrological modeling. International Journal of Climatology 27, 1547–1578.
- Fowler, H.J., Kilsby, C.G. 2007. Using regional climate model data to simulate historical and future river flows in northwest England, Climatic Change 80, 337–367.
- Frei, C., Schöll, R., Fukutome, S., Schmidli, J., Vidale, P. L. 2006. Future Change of precipitation extremes in Europe: an intercomparison of scenarios from regional climate models. Journal of Geophysical Research 111, 1–22. D06105
- Fronzek, S., Carter T.R. 2007. Assessing uncertainties in climate change impacts on resource potential for Europe based on projections from RCMs and GCMs. Climatic change 81, 357–371.
- Førland, E. J., Allerup, P., Dahlström, B., Elomaa, E., Jónsson, T., Madsen, H., Perälä, J., Rissanen, P., Vedin, H., Vejen, F. 1996. Manual for operational correction of Nordic precipitation data. Met.no Report KLIMA 24/96. Oslo. 65 pp.
- Gleick, P.H. 1986. Methods of evaluating the regional hydrological impacts of global climatic changes. Journal of Hydrology 88, 97–116.
- Graham, L.P., Andréasson, J., Carlsson, B. 2007a. Assessing climate change impacts on hydrology from an ensemble of regional climate models, model scales and linking methods – a case study on the Lule River basin. Climatic Change 81, 293–307.
- Graham, L.P., Hagemann, S., Jaun, S., Beniston, M. 2007b. On interpreting hydrological change from regional climate models. Climatic change 81, 97–122.
- Haddeland, I., Clark, D.B., Franssen, W., Ludwig, F., Voß, F., Arnell, N.W., Bertrand, N., Best, M., Folwell, S., Gerten, D., Gomes, S., Gosling, S.N., Hagemann, S., Hanasaki, N., Harding, R., Heinke, J., Kabat, P., Koirala, S., Oki, T., Polcher, J., Stacke, T., Viterbo, P., Weedon, G.P., Yehm, P. 2011. Multimodel estimate of the global terrestrial water bal-

ance: Setup and first results. Journal of Hydrometeorology 12(5), 869–884.

- Hagemann, S., Göttel, H., Jacob, D., Lorenz, P., Roeckner, E. 2009. Improved regional scale processes reflected in the projected hydrological changes over large European catchments. Climate Dynamics 32, 767–781.
- Hannaford, J., Marsh, T.J. 2008. High-flow and flood trends in a network of undisturbed catchments in the UK. International Journal of Climatology 28: 1325–1338.
- Harlin, J. 1992. Hydrological modelling of extreme floods in Sweden. SMHI Reports Hydrology No. 3. SMHI. Norrköping. 190 pp.
- Hartmann, H.C. 1990. Climate change impacts on Laurentian Great Lakes levels. Climatic Change 17, 49–68.
- Hay, L.E., Wilby, R.L., Leavesley, G.H. 2000. A comparison of delta change and downscaled GCM scenarios for three mountainous basins in the United States. JAWRA Journal of American Water Resources Association 36(2), 387–397.
- Hay, L.E., Clark, M.P., Wilby, R.L., Gutowski, W.J., Leavesley, G.H., Pan, Z., Arritt, R.W., Takle, E.S. 2002. Use of regional Climate Model output for hydrological simulations. Journal of Hydrometeorology 3, 571– 589.
- Hewitt, C.D. 2005 The ENSEMBLES Project: Providing ensemble-based predictions of climate changes and their impacts. EGGS newsletter 13, 22–25. <u>http://www.the-eggs.org/?issueSel=24</u>
- Hingray, B., Mouhous, N., Mezghani, A., Bogner, K., Schaefli, B., Musy, A. 2007. Accounting for global-mean warming and scaling uncertainties in climate change impact studies: application to a regulated lake system. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 11(3), 1207–1226.
- Hisdal, H., Barthelmie, R., Lindström, G., Lkocova, T., Kriauciuniené, J., Reihan, A. 2007. Statistical analysis. In: Fenger, J. (ed.) 2007. Impacts of climate change on renewable energy resources: Their role in the Nordic energy system. Norden 2007:003.Nordic council of Ministers, Copenhagen. pp. 58–73.
- Hodgkins, G.A., Dudley, R.W., Huntington, T.G. 2003. Changes in the timing of high river flows in New England over the 20th century. Journal of Hydrology 278, 244–252.
- Holgate, S.J., Woodworth, P.L. 2004. Evidence for enhanced coastal sea level rise during the 1990s. Geophysical Research Letters 31, L07305, doi:10.1029/2004GL019626.
- Hooke, R., Jeeves, T. 1961. Direct Search Solution of Numerical and Statistical Problems. Journal of the ACM 8(2), 212–229.

- Huntington, T.G. 2006. Evidence for intensification of the global water cycle: Review and synthesis. Journal of Hydrology 310, 83–95.
- Hurkmans, R.T.W.L., de Moel, H., Aerts, J.C.J.H., Troch, P.A. 2008. Water balance versus land surface model in the simulation of Rhine river discharges. Water Resources Research 44, W01418. doi:10.1029/2007WR006168.
- Huttula, T., Peltonen, A., Bilaletdin, Ä., Saura, M. 1992. The effects of climate change on lake ice and water temperature. Aqua Fennica 22, 2.
- Huttula, T., Pulkkanen, M., Arkhipov, B., Leppäranta, M., Solbakov, V., Shirasawa, K., Salonen. K. 2010. Modelling circulation in an icecovered lake. Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences 59(4), 298–309.
- Huttunen, I., Huttunen, M., Tattari, S., Vehviläinen, B. 2008. Large scale phosphorus load modelling in Finland. In: Sveinsson O.G.B, Garðarsson, S.M., Gunnlaugsdóttir, S. (eds.) 2008. Northern Hydrology and its global role. XXV Nordic Hydrological Conference, Reykjavik, Iceland, August 11–13, 2008. NHP report No. 50. Nordic hydrological Programme. pp. 548–556.
- Hyvärinen, V., Vehviläinen, B. 1981. The effects of climatic fluctuations and man on discharge in Finnish river basins. Publications of the Water Research Institute 43. National board of waters, Finland, Helsinki. pp. 15–23.
- Höytämö, J., Leiviskä, P. 2009. Saimaan alueen tulvatorjunnan toimintasuunnitelma 2009. Kaakkois-Suomen ympäristökeskuksen raportteja 2/2009. Kaakkois-Suomen ympäristökeskus. Kouvola, Finland. 62 pp.
- International Arctic Science Committee 2010 Global coupled atmosphereocean general circulation models. [Kattsov, V.M., Källén, E., Cattle, H., Christensen, J., Drange, H., Hanssen-Bauer, I., Jóhannesen, T., Karol, I., Räisänen, J., Svensson, G., Vavulin. S.] In: Cleveland, C.J. (Ed.) Encyclopedia of Earth. Washington, D.C.: Environmental Information Coalition, National Council for Science and the Environment. [First published in the Encyclopedia of Earth February 8, 2010; Last revised Date February 8, 2010; Accessed February 11, 2011 <u>http://www.eoearth.org/article/Global_coupled_atmosphere-</u>

ocean general circulation models

- IPCC. 1990. Climate change. The IPCC Impacts Assessment. Report prepared for IPCC by Working Group II [Tegart, W.J.M., Sheldon G.W., Griffiths, D.C. (eds.)] Canberra, Australia. 271 pp.
- IPCC. 1992. Climate Change 1992: The Supplementary Report to the IPCC Scientific Assessment. Report prepared for Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change by Working Group I combined with Supporting Scientific Material [J.T. Houghton, Callander, B.A, Varney S.K. (eds.)]

Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Great Britain, New York, NY, USA, and Victoria , Australia. 218 pp.

- IPCC. 2000. IPCC Special Report, Emission Scenarios. [Nakicenovic, N., Swart R. (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, UK. 570 pp.
- IPCC. 2001. Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Houghton, J.T., Ding, Y., Griggs, D.J, Nouguer, M., van der Linden, P.J., Dai, X., Maskell, K., Johnson C.A. (eds.)] Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. and New York, NY, USA. 881 pp.
- IPCC. 2007a. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M.Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA.
- IPCC. 2007b. Climate change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Parry, M.L., Canziani, O.F., Palutikof, J.P., van der Linden, P.J., Hanson, C.E. (eds)] Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA.
- Jacob, D., Bärring, L., Christensen, O.B., Christensen H.J., de Castro. M., Déqué, M., Giorgi, F., Hagemann, S., Hirschi, M., Jones, R., Kjellström, E., Lenderink, G., Rockel, B., Sánchez, E., Schär, C., Seneviratne, S.I., Somot, S., van Ulden, A., van den Hurk, B. 2007. A inter-comparison of regional climate models for Europe: model performance in present day climate. Climatic Change 81, 31–52.
- Jiang, T., Chen, Y.D., Xu, C.-Y., Chen, X., Chen, X., Singh, V.P. 2007. Comparison of hydrological impacts of climate change simulations by six hydrological models in the Dongjiang basin, South China. Journal of Hydrology 336, 316–333.
- Jylhä, K., Tuomenvirta, H., Ruosteenoja, K. 2004. Climate change projections for Finland during the 21st century. Boreal Environment Research 9, 127–152.
- Jylhä, K., Ruosteenoja, K., Räisänen, P., Järvenoja, S. 2007. Projected changes in heavy precipitation and snow cover in Finland. Climate change impacts and adaptation in the hydrology of urban areas. Proceedings in the 3rd International Conference on Climate and Water, 3– 6 September 2007, Helsinki. pp. 227–232.
- Jylhä, K., Ruosteenoja, K., Venäläinen, A., Tuomenvirta, H., Ruokolainen, L., Saku, S., Seitola, T. 2009. Arvioita Suomen muuttuvasta ilmastosta

sopeutumistutkimuksia varten. ACCLIM-hankkeen raportti 2009. Ilmatieteen laitos, Reports 2009:4. Helsinki. 102 pp.

- Karvonen, T. 1988. A model for predicting the effect of drainage on soil moisture, soil temperature and crop yield. Doctoral thesis. Helsinki University of Technology. Espoo. 215 pp.
- Katz, R.W., Brown, B.G. 1992. Extreme events in changing climate: variability is more important than averages. Climatic Change 21(3), 289–302.
- Kay, A.L., Davies, H.N., Bell, V.A., Jones, R.G. 2009. Comparison of uncertainty sources for climate change impacts: flood frequency in England. Climatic Change 92, 41–63.
- Kay, A.L., Jones, D.A. 2012. Transient changes in flood frequency and timing in Britain under potential projections of climate change. International Journal of Climatology 32(4), 489–502.
- Kiem, A.S., Ishidaira, H., Hapuarachchi, H.P., Zhou, M.C., Hirabayashi, Y., Takeuchi, K. 2008. Future hydroclimatology of the Mekong River basin simulated using the high resolution Japan Meteorological Agensy (JMA) AGCM. Hydrological Processes 22, 1382–1394.
- Kite, G.W. 1977. Frequency and risk analysis in hydrology. Water resources publications. Fort Collins, Colorado. 224 pp.
- Kjellstöm, E., Lind, P. 2009. Changes in the water budget in the Baltic Sea drainage basin in the future warmer climates as simulated by the regional climate model RCA3. Boreal Environment Research 14, 114– 124.
- Kjellström, E., Ruosteenoja, K. 2007. Present day and future precipitation in the Baltic Sea region as simulated in a suite of regional climate models. Climatic change 81, 281–291.
- Koivusalo, H. 2002. Process-oriented investigation of snow accumulation, snowmelt and runoff generation in forested sites in Finland. Doctoral thesis. Helsinki University of Technology Water Resources Publications. Helsinki University of Technology. Espoo. 88 pp.
- Koivusalo, H., Ahti, E., Laurén, A., Kokkonen, T., Karvonen, T., Nevalainen, R., Finér, L. 2008. Impacts of ditch cleaning on hydrological processes in a drained peatland forest. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 12, 1211–1227.
- Kokkonen, T. 2003. Rainfall-runoff modelling comparison of modelling strategies with a focus on ungauged predictions and model integration.
 Doctoral thesis. Helsinki University of Technology Water Resources Publications. Helsinki University of Technology. Espoo. 68 pp.
- Korhonen, J. 2007. Suomen vesistöjen virtaaman ja vedenkorkeuden vaihtelut. Suomen ympäristö 45/2007. Suomen ympäristökeskus, Helsinki. 120 pp.

- Korhonen, J., Kuusisto, E. 2010. Long term changes in the discharge regime in Finland. Hydrology Research 41(3–4), 253–268.
- Kotlarski, S., Block, A., Böhm, U., Jacob, D., Keuler, K., Knoche, R., Rechic, D., Walter, A. 2005. Regional climate model simulations as input for hydrological applications: evaluation of uncertainties. Advances in Geosciences 5, 119–125.
- Kuchment, L.S., Motovilov, Y.G., Startsava, Z.P. 1989. Sensitivity of evapotranspiration and soil moisture to possible climatic changes. Proceedings Conference on Climate and Water. Helsinki. pp. 236–251.
- Kundzewicz, Z.W., Schellnhuber, H.-J. 2004. Floods in the IPCC TAR perspective. Natural Hazards 31, 111–128.
- Kundzewicz, Z.W., Mata, L.J., Arnell, N.W., Döll. P., Jimenez, B., Miller, K., Oki, T., Sen, Z., Shiklomanov, I. 2008. The implications of projected climate change for freshwater resources and their management. Hydrological Sciences Journal 53(1), 3–10.
- Kuusisto, E. 1977. Konseptuaalisten valuntamallien soveltamisesta Suomessa. Vesitalous 1/1977 16–20.
- Käyhkö, J. 2004. Muuttuuko Pohjolan ilmasto? Publications of Geography Department of the University of Turku 168, Turku. pp. 19–35.
- Laine-Kaulio, H. 2011. Development and analysis of a dual-permeability model for subsurface stormflow and solute transport in a forested hillslope. Aalto University Publication Series, Doctoral Dissertations 71/2011. Aalto University. Helsinki. 192 pp.
- Lane, S., Tayefi, V., Reid, S., Yu, D., Hardy, R. 2007. Interactions between sediment delivery, channel change, climate change and flood risk in a temperate upland environment. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 32, 429–446.
- Langbein, W.B. 1949, Annual runoff in the United States. US Geological Survey Circular 5. Washington, DC. 14 pp.
- Lawrence, D., Haddeland, I. 2011. Uncertainty in hydrological modelling of climate change impacts in four Norwegian catchments. Hydrology Research 42(6), 457–471.
- Lawrence, D., Hisdal, H. 2011. Hydrological projections for floods in Norway under a future climate. Report no. 5-2011. Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate. Oslo. 47 pp.
- Leander, R., Buishand, T.A. 2007. Resampling of regional climate model output for the simulation of extreme river flows. Journal of Hydrology 332, 487–496.
- Leander, R., Buishand, T.A., van den Hurk, B.J.J.M, de Wit. M.J.M., 2008. Estimation of changes in flood quintiles of the river Meuse from re-

sampling of regional climate model output. Journal of Hydrology 351, 331–343.

- Lee, D.H., Croley, T.H. II, Quinn, F.H. 1997. Lake Ontario regulation under transposed climates. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association 22(1), 55–68.
- Lehner, B., Döll, P., Alcamo, J., Henrichs, T., Kaspar, F. 2006. Estimating the impact of global change on flood and drought risk in Europe: A continental, integrated analysis. Climatic Change 75, 273–299.
- Lenderink, G., Buishand, A., van Deursen, W. 2007. Estimates of future discharges of the river Rhine using two scenario methodologies: direct versus delta approach. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 11(3), 1145–1159.
- Lepistö, A., Huttula, T., Bärlund, I., Granlund, K., Härmä, P., Kallio, K.Y., Kiirikki, M., Kirkkala, T.,Koponen, S., Koskiaho, J., Kotamäki, N., Lindfors, A., Malve, O., Pyhälahti, T., Tattari, S., Törmä M. 2008. New measurement technology, modelling, and remote sensing in the Säkylän Pyhäjärvi area – CatchLake Reports of Finnish Environment Institute. Finnish Environment Institute, Helsinki. 76 pp.
- Lettenmaier, D.P., Wood, A.W., Palmer, R.N., Wood, E.F., Stakhiv, E.Z. 1999. Water resources implications of global warming: A U.S. regional perspective. Climatic Change 43, 537–579.
- Lind, P., Kjellström, E. 2009. Water budget in the Baltic Sea drainage basin: Evaluation of simulated fluxes in a regional climate model. Boreal Environment Research 14, 56–67.
- Lindström, G., Bergström, S. 2004. Runoff trends in Sweden 1807–2002. Hydrological Sciences Journal 49(1), 69–83.
- Linsley, R.K., Crawford, N.H. 1960. Computation of a synthetic streamflow record on a digital computer. Publication 51, International Association of Scientific Hydrology, pp. 526–538.
- Loukas, A., Vasiliades, L., Dalezios, N.R. 2002. Potential climate change impacts on flood producing mechanism in southern Columbia, Canada using the CGCMA1 simulation results. Journal of Hydrology 259, 163– 188.
- Maijala, T. 2010. Patoturvallisuusohjeet. Luonnos 24.11.2010. Hämeen elinkeino-, liikenne- ja ympäristökeskuksen julkaisuja 4/2010 <u>http://www.ymparisto.fi/download.asp?contentid=123380&lan=fi</u> Accessed 25th of February 2011.
- Mansikkaniemi, H. 1970. Deposits of sorted material in the Inarijoki-Tana River valley in Lapland. Turun yliopiston maantieteen laitoksen julkaisuja 49. Turku. 63 pp.

- Marttila, V., Granholm, H., Laanikari, J., Yrjölä. T., Aalto, A., Heikinheimo,
 P. Honkatuki, J., Järvinen, H., Liski, J., Merivirta, R., Paunio, M. (eds.)
 2005. Finland's National Strategy for Adaptation to Climate Change.
 Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry of Finland. Vammala. 280 pp.
- McBean, E., Motiee, H. 2008. Assessment of impacts of climate change on water resources: a long term analysis of the Great Lakes of North America. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 12, 239–255.
- McCabe, G.J., Clark, M.P. 2005. Trends and variability in snowmelt runoff in the Western United States. Journal of Hydrometeorology 6, 476– 482.
- Mearns, L.O., Giorgi, F., Whetton, P., Pabon, D., Hulme, M., Lal, M. 2003. Guidelines for use of climate scenarios developed from regional climate model experiments. IPCC, TGCIA, web document <u>http://www.ipccdata.org/guidelines/dgm_no1_v1_10-2003.pdf</u> Accessed 25th of February 2011.
- Menzel, L., Thieken, A.H., Schwandt, D., Bürger, G. 2006. Impact of climate change on the Regional hydrology – Scenario-based modelling studies in the German Rhine catchment. Natural Hazards 38, 45–61.
- Middelkoop, H., Daamen, K., Gellens, D., Grabs, W., Kwadijk, J.C.J., Lang, H., Parmet, B.W.A., Schädler, B., Schulla, J.,Wilke, K. 2001. Impact of climate change on hydrological regimes and water resources management in the Rhine basin. Climatic Change 49, 105–128.
- Milly, P.C.D., Wetherand, R.T., Dunne, K.A., Delworth, T.L. 2002. Increasing risk of great floods in changing climate. Nature 415, 514–517.
- Milly, P.C.D., Dunnne, K.A., Vecchia, A.V. 2005. Global pattern of trends in streamflow and water availability in a changing climate. Nature 438, 347–350.
- Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. 1997. Patoturvallisuusohjeet. Maa- ja metsätalousministeriön julkaisuja 7/1997. Helsinki. 90 pp.
- Minville, M., Brissette, F., Leconte, R. 2008. Uncertainty of the impact of climate change on the hydrology of a Nordic watershed. Journal of Hydrology 358, 70–83.
- Minville, M., Brissette, F., Krau, S., Leconte, R. 2009. Adaptation to climate change in the management of Canadian water resources system exploited for hydropower. Water Resources Management 23, 2965– 2986.
- Minville, M., Krau, S., Brissette, F., Leconte, R. 2010. Behaviour and performance of a water resources system in Québec (Canada) under adapted operating policies in a climate change context. Water Resources Management 24 (7), 1333–1352
- Mitchell, J.F.B., Johns, T.G., Gregory, J.M., Tett, S.F.B. 2011. Climate response to increasing levels of greenhouse gases and sulphate aerosols.
 In: Archer, D., Pierrehumbert, R. (eds.) 2011. The warming papers. The scientific foundation for the climate change forecast. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK. pp. 192–197.
- Murray-Hudson, M., Wolski, P., Ringrose, S. 2006. Scenario of the impact of local and upstream changes in climate and water use on hydroecology in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. Journal of Hydrology 331, 73–84.
- Mustonen, S., (ed.) 1986. Sovellettu hydrologia. [Applied hydrology] Vesiyhdistys r.y., Mänttä. 503 pp.
- Nash, J.E., Sutcliffe, J.V. 1970. River forecasting through conceptual models 1: A discussion of principles. Journal of Hydrology 10, 282–290.
- Němec, J., Schaake, J. 1982. Sensitivity of water resource systems to climate variation. Hydrological Sciences Journal 27, 327–343.
- Niel, H., Paturel, J. E., Servat, E. 2003. Study of parameter stability of a lumped hydrologic model in a context of climatic variability, Journal of Hydrology 278, 213–230.
- Nijssen, B., Bowling, L.C., Lettenmaier, D.P., Clark, D.P., El Maayar, M., Essery, R., Goers, S., Gusev, Y.M., Habets, F., van den Hurk, B., Jin, J., Kahan, D., Lohmann, D., Ma, X., Mahanama, S., Mocko, D., Nasonova, O., Niu, G.-Y., Samuelsson, P., Shmakin, A.B., Takata, K., Verseghy, D., Viterbro, P., Xia, Y., Xue, Y., Yang, Z.-L. 2003. Simulation of high-latitude hydrological processes in the Torne-Kalix basin: PILPS Phase 2(e) 2: Comparison of model results with observations. Global and Planetary Change 38, 31–53.
- NOAA. 2011. Trends in Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide. <u>http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/</u>. Accessed 1st August 2011.
- Nohara, D., Kitoh, A., Hosaka, M., Oki, T. 2006. Impact of climate change on river discharge projected by multimodel ensemble. Journal of Hydrometeorology 7, 1076–1089.
- Ollila, M., Virta, H., Hyvärinen, V. 2000. Suurtulvaselvitys. Arvio mahdollisen suurtulvan aiheuttamista vahingoista Suomessa. Suomen ympäristö 441. Finnish Environment Institute. Helsinki. 138 pp.
- Olsson, J., Yang, W., Graham, L.P., Rosberg, J., Andréasson J. 2010. Using an ensemble of climate projections for simulating recent and nearfuture hydrological change to Lake Vänern in Sweden. Tellus 63A, 126–137.
- Palmer, T.N., Räisänen, J. 2002. Quantifying the risk of extreme seasonal precipitation events in changing climate. Nature 415, 512–514.

- Payne, J.T., Wood, A.W., Hamlet, A.F., Palmer, R.N., Lettenmaier, D.P.
 2004. Mitigating the effects of climate change on the water resources of the Colorado River Basin. Climatic Change 62, 233–256
- Peel, M.C., Finlayson, B.L., McMahon, T.A. 2007. Updated world map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 11, 1633–1644.
- Pekárová, P., Miklánek, P., Pekár, J. 2003. Spatial and temporal runoff oscillation analysis of the main rivers of the world during the 18th–20th centuries. Journal of Hydrology 274(1–4), 62–79.
- Perrels, A., Veijalainen, N., Jylhä, K., Aaltonen, J., Molarius, R., Porthin, M., Silander, J., Rosqvist, T., Tuovinen, T., Carter, T., Fronzek, S. 2010. The implications of climate change for extreme weather events and their socio-economic consequences in Finland. Research Reports 158, Government Institute for Economic Research. Helsinki. 133 pp.
- Piani, C., Haerter, J.O., Coppola, E. 2010. Statistical bias correction for daily precipitation in regional climate models over Europe. Theoretical and Applied Climatology 99, 187–192
- Prudhomme, C., Reynard, N., Crooks, S. 2002. Downscaling of global climate models for flood frequency analysis: where are we now? Hydrological processes 16, 1137–1150.
- Prudhomme, C., Jabob, D., Svensson, C. 2003. Uncertainty and climate change impacts on the flood regime of small UK catchments. Journal of Hydrology 277, 1–23.
- Prudhomme, C., Davies, H. 2009. Assessing uncertainties in climate change impact analyses on the river flow regimes in the UK. Part 2: future climate. Climatic Change 93, 197–222.
- Pulido-Velazquez, D., Garrote, L., Andreu, J., Martin-Carraso, F.-J., Iglesias, A. 2011. A methodology to diagnose the effect of climate change and to identify adaptive strategies to reduce the impacts in conjunctive-use systems at basin scale. Journal of Hydrology 405, 110–122.
- Rankinen, K., Valpasvuo-Jaatinen, P., Karhunen, A., Kenttämies, K., Nenonen, S., Bärlund, I. 2009. Simulated nitrogen leaching patterns and adaptation to climate change in two Finnish river basins with contrasting land use and climatic conditions. Hydrology Research 40(2–3), 177–186
- Reynard, N.S., Prudhomme, C., Crooks, S.M. 2001. The flood characteristics of large U.K: rivers: potential effects of changing climate and land use. Climatic Change 48, 342–359.
- Ronkanen, A.-K., Kløve, B. 2009. Long-term phosphorus and nitrogen removal processes and preferential flow paths in Northern constructed peatlands. Ecological Engineering 35(5), 843–855.

- Rummukainen, M., Bergström, S., Källen, E., Moen, L. Rodhe, J., Tjernström, M. 2000. SWECLIM – The first three years. Report Meteorology and Climatology 94. SMHI. Norrköping.. 87 pp.
- Ruosteenoja K., Tuomenvirta, H., Jylhä, K. 2007. GCM-based regional temperature and precipitation change estimates for Europe under four SRES scenarios applying a super-ensemble pattern scaling method. Climatic change 81, 193–208.
- Räisänen, J., Hansson, U., Ullerstig, A., Döscher, R., Graham, L. P., Jones, C., Meier, H. E. M., Samuelsson, P., Willén, U. 2004. European climate in the late twenty-first century: regional simulation with two driving global models and two forcing scenarios. Climate Dynamics 22, 13–31.
- Räisänen, J., Ruokolainen, L. 2006. Probabilistic forecasts of near-term climate change based on a resampling ensemble technique. Tellus A 58(4), 461–472.
- Røhr, P.C., Husebye, S. 2005. Flood forecasting technology in Norway, innovation and advances. In: Innovation, Advances and Implementation of Flood Forecasting Technology, conference papers, Tromsø, Norway, 17–19 October 2005.

http://www.actif-ec.net/conference2005/proceedings/index.html

- Salathé, E.P. jr, 2005. Downscaling simulations of future global climate with application to hydrological modeling. International Journal of Climatology 25, 419–436.
- Sælthun, N.R., Aittoniemi, P., Bergström, S., Einarsson, K., Jóhannesson T., Ohlsson, P.-E., Thomsen, T., Vehviläinen, B., Aamond K.O. 1998. Climate change impacts on runoff and hydropower in the Nordic countries. Final report from the project "Climate change and Energy Production". TemaNord 1998:552, Nordic council of ministers. Copenhagen. 170 pp.
- Schmidt-Thomé, P., Greiving, S., Kallio, H., Fleischhauer, M. and Jarva, J. 2006. Economic risk maps of floods and earthquakes for European regions. Quaternary International 150, 103–112.
- Schmidli, J., Frei, C., Vidale, P.L. 2006. Downscaling grom GCM precipitation: a benchmark for dynamical and statistical downscaling methods. International Journal of Climatology 26, 679–689.
- Schneiderman, E., Järvinen, M. Jennings, E., May L., Moore, K., Naden, P.S., Pierson, D. 2009 Modelling the effects of climate change on catchment hydrology with the GWLF model. In: George, D.G. (Ed.). The Impact of Climate Change on European Lakes. Springer Verlag. pp. 33–50.
- Schnur, R. 2002. The investment forecast. Nature 415, 483-484.

- Seguí, Q.P., Ribes, A., Martin, E., Habets, F., Boé, J. 2010 Comparison of three downscaling methods in simulating the impact of climate change on the hydrology of Mediterranean basins. Journal of Hydrology. 383(1-2), 111-124.
- Seibert, J. 2003. Reliability of model predictions outside calibration conditions. Nordic Hydrology 34, 477–492.
- Sen, P. K. 1968. Estimates of the regression coefficient based on Kendall's tau. Journal of American Statistical Association 63, 1379–1389.
- Seuna, P. 1981. Long term influence of forestry drainage on the hydrology of an open bog in Finland. Publications of the Water Research Institute 43. National board of waters, Finland, Helsinki. pp. 3–14.
- Sherman, L.K. 1932. Streamflow from rainfall by the unit-hydrograph method. Engineering News Record 108, 501–505.
- Silander, J., Vehviläinen, B., Niemi, J., Arosilta, A., Dubrovin, T., Jormola, J., Keskisarja, V., Keto, A., Lepistö, A., Mäkinen, R., Ollila, M., Pajula, H., Pitkänen, H., Sammalkorpi, I., Suomalainen, M., Veijalainen, N. 2006. Climate change adaptation for hydrology and water resources. FINADAPT Working Paper 6, Finnish Environment Institute Mimeographs 336, Helsinki, Finland. 54 pp.
- Simonovic, S., Li,. L. 2004. Sensitivity of the Red River basin flood protection system to climate variability and change. Water Resources Management 18, 89–110.
- Solantie, R., Uusitalo, K. 2000. Patoturvallisuuden mitoitussadannat. Suomen suurimpien 1, 5 ja 14 vrk:n piste- ja aluesadantojen analysointi vuodet 1959–1998 kattavasta aineistosta. Ilmatieteen laitos, Raportti No. 2000:3, Helsinki. 77 pp.
- Steele-Dunne, S., Lynch, P., McGrath, R., Semmler, T., Wang, S., Hanfin, J., Nolan, P. 2008. The impacts of climate change on hydrology in Ireland. Journal of Hydrology 356, 28–45.
- Stephens, G.L. 2005. Cloud feedbacks in the climate system: A critical review. Journal of Climate 18, 237–273.
- Stott, P.A., Jones, G.A., Lowe, J.A., Thorne, P., Durman, C., Johns, T.C., Thelen, J.-C. 2006. Transient climate simulations with HadGEM1 climate model: Causes of past warming and future climate change. Journal of Climate 19, 2763–2782.
- Swedenergy, Svenska Kraftnät, Swemin. 2007. Swedish guidelines for design flood determination for dams. New edition 2007. Swedenergy, Svenska Kraftnät, Swemin. 34 pp.
- Terink, W., Hurkmans, R.T.W.L., Torfs, P.J.J.F., Uijlenhoet, R. 2010. Evaluation of bias correction method applied to downscaled precipita-

tion and temperature reanalysis data for the Rhine basin. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 14, 687–703.

- Tett, S.F.B, Jones, G.S., Stott, P.A., Hill, D.C., Mitchell, J.F.B., Allen, M.R., Ingram, W.J., Johns, T.C., Johnson, C.E., Jones, A., Roberts, D.K., Sexton, D.M.H., Woodage, M.J. 2002. Estimation of natural and anthropogenic contributions to twentieth century temperature change. Journal of Geophysical Research 107(D16), 4306, doi:10.1029/2000JD000028.
- Thodsen, H. 2007. The influence of climate change on stream flow in Danish rivers. Journal of Hydrology 333, 226–238.
- Tilastokeskus. 2002. Suomen tilastollinen vuosikirja 2002, Statistical Yearbook of Finland 2002. Tilastokeskus. Helsinki. 703 pp.Timonen, R., Ruuska, R., Suihkonen, K., Taipale, P., Ollila, M., Kouvalainen, S., Savea-Nukala, T., Maunula, M., Vähäsöyrinki, E., Hanski, M. 2003. Suurtulvatyöryhmän loppuraportti. Maa- ja metsätalousministeriö. Helsinki. 126 pp.
- Tu., J. 2009. Combined impact of climate and land use changes on streamflow and water quality in eastern Massachusetts, USA. Journal of Hydrology 379, 268–283.

Tulvariskityöryhmä. 2009. Tulvariskityöryhmän raportti. Työryhmämuistio, Maa- ja metsätalousministeriö 2009:5. Helsinki.

http://www.mmm.fi/attachments/mmm/julkaisut/tyoryhmamuistiot/ 2009/5FAuDBwRt/trm5 2009 Tulvariskityoryhman raportti 26 3 2009 lopullinen 3.pdf Accessed 28th of February 2011.

- Tuomenvirta, H., Uusitalo, K., Vehviläinen, B., Carter, T. 2000 Ilmastonmuutos, mitoitussadanta ja patoturvallisuus: arvio sadannan ja sen ääriarvojen sekä lämpötilan muutoksista Suomessa vuoteen 2100. Ilmatieteen laitos. Raportti No. 2000:4. Helsinki. 65 pp.
- Tuomenvirta, H. 2004. Reliable estimation of climatic variations in Finland. Academic Dissertation, University of Helsinki, Faculty of Science, Department of Physical Sciences, Division of Atmospheric Sciences, and Finnish Meteorological Institute, Meteorological Research, Helsinki. Finnish Meteorological Institute Contributions, No. 43.80+78 pp.
- Uhlenbrook, S., Seibert, J., Leibundgut, C., Rodhe, A. 1999. Prediction of uncertainty of conceptual rainfall-runoff models caused by problems in identifying model parameters and structure. Hydrological Sciences Journal 44(5), 779–797.
- van der Linden P., Mitchell, J.F.B. (eds.) 2009. ENSEMBLES: Climate Change and its Impacts: Summary of research and results from the

ENSEMBLES project. Met Office Hadley Centre, FitzRoy Road, Exeter EX1 3PB, UK. 160 pp.

- van Pelt, S.C., Kabat, P., Maat, H.W., van den Hurk, B.J.J.M., Weertd, A.H. 2009. Discharge simulations performed with hydrological model using bias corrected regional climate model input. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 12, 2387–2397.
- Vakkilainen, P., Karvonen, T. 1980. SSARR, sadanta- ja valuntamalli vesistöjen optimaalisen suunnittelun ja käytön pohjaksi. Vesitalous 2/1980, 36–44.
- Varis, O., Kajander, T., Lemmelä, R. 2004. Climate and water: from climate models to water resources management and vice versa. Climatic Change 66, 321–344.
- Vehviläinen, B. 1982. Valuntamallin sovellus ennuste käyttöön Kala- Ähtävän- ja Lapuanjoella. Vesihallituksen monistesarja 1982:144. Helsinki. 38 pp.
- Vehviläinen, B. 1992. Snow cover models in operational watershed forecasting. Publications of water and environment research institute 11. National Board of Waters and the Environment. Helsinki.
- Vehviläinen, B., Huttunen, M. 1997. Climate change and Water Resources in Finland. Boreal Environment Research 2, 3–18.
- Vehviläinen, B., Huttunen, M., Huttunen, I. 2005. Hydrological forecasting and real time monitoring in Finland: The watershed simulation and forecasting system (WSFS). In: Innovation, Advances and Implementation of Flood Forecasting Technology, conference papers, Tromsø, Norway, 17–19 October 2005.
- Vehviläinen, B., Lohvansuu, J. 1991. The effects of climate on discharges and snow cover in Finland. Hydrological Sciences Journal 36(2), 109– 121.
- Verta, O.-M., Nykänen, J., Höytämö, J., Marttunen, M. 2007. Pielisen juoksutusten kehittämismahdollisuudet. Yhteenveto vuonna 2006 tehdyistä selvityksistä. Finnish Environment Institute

<u>http://www.ymparisto.fi/download.asp?contentid=64581</u> Accessed 21 February 2011.

- Virta, J. 1978. Rainfall-runoff model for catchment areas with abundance of lakes. Report series in Geophysics No. 7. University of Helsinki. Department of Geophysics.
- Virtanen, M. 1977. Vesistön virtausten ja sekoittumisen kuvaaminen kaksidimensioisella matemaattisella mallilla. Licentiate thesis, Helsinki University of Technology, department of technical physics, Helsinki, 140 pp.

- Virtanen, M., Koponen J., Nenonen, O. 1998. Modelling the systems of three reservoirs, rivers, lakes, coastal area and the sea in northern Finland. International Review of Hydrobiology 83, pp. 705–712.
- Virtanen, M. 2009. Mathematical modelling of flow and transport as link to impacts in multidiscipline environments. Academic dissertation. University of Oulu. Department of Process and environmental engineering. Oulu. 142 pp.
- Wang, X.L., Swail, V.R. 2001. Changes of extreme wave heights in northern hemisphere oceans and related atmospheric circulation regimes. Journal of Climate 14(10), 2204–2221.
- Ward, R. 1978. Floods, A geographical perspective. The Macmillan Press ltd. London and Basingstoke. 244 pp.
- Wigley, T.M.L., Jones P.D. 1985. Influences of precipitation changes and direct CO₂ effects on streamflow. Nature 314, 149–152.
- Wilby, R.L., Whitehead, P.G., Wade, A.J., Butterfiels, D., Davies, R.J., Watts, G. 2006. Integrated modelling of climate change impacts on water resources and quality in a lowland catchment: River Kennet, UK. Journal of Hydrology 330, 204–220.
- Wilson, D., Hisdal, H., Lawrence, D. 2010. Has streamflow changed in the Nordic countries? – Recent trends and comparisons to hydrological projections. Journal of Hydrology 394, 334–346.
- Wood, A.W., Lettenmaier, D.P. Palmer, R.M. 1997. Assessing climate change implications for water resources planning. Climatic change 37, 203–228.
- Wood, A.W., Leung, L.R., Shidhar V., Lettenmaier D.P. 2004. Hydrological implications of dynamical and statistical approaches to downscale climate model outputs. Climatic Change 62, 189–216.
- Xu, C.-Y., Widén, E., Halldin, S. 2005. Modelling hydrological consequences of climate change – Progress and challenges. Advances in Atmospheric Sciences 22(6), 789–797.
- Yang, W., Andréasson, J., Graham, L.P., Olsson, J., Rosberg, J., Wetterhall, F. 2010. Distribution-based scaling to improve usability of regional climate model projections for hydrological climate change impacts studies. Hydrology Research 41(3–4), 211–229.
- Zhang, X., Zwiers, F.W., Hegerl, G.C., Lambert, F.H., Gillett, N.P., Solomon, S., Stott, P.A., Nozawa, T. 2007. Detection of human influence on twentieth-century precipitation trends. Nature 448, 461–465.

Climate scenarios project increases in air temperature and precipitation in Finland during the 21st century and the projected changes will alter the hydrological conditions. In Finland the current hydrological regime is characterised by temperature-sensitive snow-dominated seasonality. Therefore climate change can have substantial impact on seasonal runoff patterns in Finland. In this thesis, these processes were studied with the use of climate scenarios and hydrological modelling. The results provide estimates of projected changes in discharge and floods in different parts of the country and in different types of catchments. The results can be used in future planning and evaluation of adaptation needs.





ISBN 978-952-60-4613-6 ISBN 978-952-60-4614-3 (pdf) ISSN-L 1799-4934 ISSN 1799-4934 ISSN 1799-4942 (pdf)

Aalto University School of Engineering Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering www.aalto.fi BUSINESS + ECONOMY

ART + DESIGN + ARCHITECTURE

SCIENCE + TECHNOLOGY

CROSSOVER

DOCTORAL DISSERTATIONS